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Puget Energy 
2002 Annual Report

we want to 
bore you 
to cheers. 
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Puget Energy
Summary of results

Dollars in thousands, except per share data
Year ended December 31 2002 2001 % Change

Operating revenues $2,392,322 $2,886,560 (17.1)%
Income for common stock $ 110,052 $ 98,426 11.8 %
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) $ 1.24 $ 1.14 8.8 %
Return on average common equity 7.6% 7.1% 7.0 %
Common stock dividend per share $ 1.21 $ 1.84 (34.2)%
Common shares outstanding (weighted average) 88,372 86,445 2.2 %
Common shareholders of record 45,200 48,700 (7.2)%
Total assets at year end $5,657,491 $5,546,977 2.0 %

Puget Sound Energy
Summary of results

Dollars in thousands
Year ended December 31 2002 2001 % Change

Operating revenues $2,072,793 $2,712,774 (23.6)%
Income for common stock $ 101,117 $ 95,968 5.4 %
Return on average common equity 7.5% 7.1% 5.5 %
Total assets at year end $5,338,748 $5,317,750 0.4 %
Electric customers at year end 957,982 940,593 1.8 %
Gas customers at year end 621,967 605,981 2.6 %
Senior debt ratings (S&P/Moody’s) BBB/Baa2 BBB-/Baa1
Commercial paper ratings (S&P/Moody’s) A3/P2 A3/P2
Number of employees 2,113 2,480 (14.8)%

InfrastruX Group
Summary of results

Dollars in thousands
Year ended December 31 2002 2001 % Change

Operating revenues $ 319,529 $ 173,786 83.9 %
Income for common stock $ 10,322 $ 2,518 309.9 %
Return on average common equity 10.2% 2.8% 264.3 %
Total assets at year end $ 319,248 $ 229,125 39.3 %
Number of employees 2,547 1,492 70.7 %

Forward-looking Statements This annual report contains forward-looking statements to help readers
understand the plans and expectations of management. Actual results and actions, however, may differ
materially from those described in such statements owing to various risks and uncertainties as described
in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (page 41).
Consequently, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements may use words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “plans,” ”predicts,” “projects,” “will likely result,” “will continue” or similar expres-
sions but include any statement that is not historical in nature. Such statements in this report speak only
as of the date of publication. Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy disclaim any obligation to update
these statements publicly should changes arise in the Companies’ expectations or plans or in the risks
and uncertainties they face.
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Puget Energy is the holding company of Puget Sound Energy, which distributes natural gas

and electricity to customers in Washington state. Puget Energy also includes a smaller

subsidiary, InfrastruX Group, a nonregulated business that provides utility construction

and maintenance services.

Puget Sound Energy is a regulated utility serving more than 950,000 electric cus-

tomers and 620,000 natural gas customers, primarily in western Washington. We provide

300,000 customers with both forms of energy. Puget Sound Energy’s 6,000-square-mile

service area includes more than half of Washington state’s population.

Puget Energy is the energy company you can count on.

In the last two years, an industry with a long history of

stable but boring returns was turned upside down—and

dropped on its head. Puget Energy maintained its focus,

resisting the aggressive impulses that caused many

energy companies to stumble or fall.

In 2002, we successfully repositioned Puget by

improving our financial standing and revitalizing our

relationships with stakeholders. Puget Energy now

offers investors a significant and sustainable dividend

and total return prospects equal to or better than the

majority of our peers.

We’ve gone back to the future 
in our efforts to return the word 

“boring”

to the energy industry and

smiles

to the faces of investors.





financial
roller coasters 
are not much fun.

Slow and steady gives you 
a more comfortable ride.

Rocketing up and down may be exhila-

rating at the amusement park, but not 

in the marketplace. Seeing the value of

your investment change constantly is gut-

wrenching. Stability, such as there is in

today’s market, comes from companies

that can produce more reliable returns.

Puget Energy’s regulated gas and elec-

tricity distribution business generates

earnings that are more transparent and

more reliable than most. In today’s topsy-

turvy market, our $1-per-share dividend 

is sustainable, helping to produce more

reliable total returns for shareholders. 

In 2002, Puget positioned the

company for sustainable growth. How?

We issued $115 million in equity to

improve our balance sheet. We positioned

our dividend payout to ensure its long-

term sustainability. We collaborated with

regulators, customers and communities to

reach a positive rate case settlement. At

the same time, we never veered from the

nuts and bolts of our business — providing

safe, reliable natural gas and electric service

to our customers. In 2003 we are striving to

improve the company’s credit position and

make our customer service even better.

And we are weighing options for meeting

customers’ increasing energy demands,

including increased investment in energy

efficiency and the possibility of building or

acquiring new power plants.
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medicine 
isn’t supposed 

to taste good.

It’s supposed to 
make you better.

Our 2002 dividend cut was a bitter pill to swallow—and absolutely necessary. Long-term

shareholders depend on our dividend. We took this strong medicine in the first quarter

to reset our dividend and improve total return prospects for shareholders. Today, those

who meet Puget see a financially fit company that can reliably pay a stable dividend, ride

out changing market conditions, and still earn enough to invest for growth.

The picture was quite different in 2001. We were in the fragile position of paying

out 95 percent of expected earnings in dividends. That left little capital to meet any

earnings shortfall or to invest to grow future earnings. Our share price suffered as

investors worried. To strengthen our balance sheet and restore confidence in our shares

and future dividend payments, your Board of Directors adopted a dividend policy with 

a target payout ratio set at 60 percent of normalized utility earnings. This enables us to

reliably pay our dividend despite changing market conditions, including the effects of

weather and our costs of power. (Here in the Pacific Northwest, less snowpack means

lower stream flows and more expensive sources of power.)

The revised dividend of $1 per share of common stock still represents a solid

yield (4.9 percent as of March 10, 2003). Financially healthier, we can now invest 

to meet the growth in demand we are still experiencing in this difficult economy. As a

result, we believe our shareholders will be better served in the long term as share price

appreciation is added to our dividend yield.







hot dogs 
are for picnics.

Working together is what
gets things done.

The big talker who doesn’t listen may hog

all the attention, but it’s the people who talk

with each other who get the job done. The

way to make things happen and resolve

complex issues is to build relationships that

value communication and collaboration.

That’s what Puget Energy is doing with our

customers, our business partners, our com-

munities and the agencies that regulate our

businesses. Collaboration fosters long-term

stability and results.

In 2002, we revitalized relationships

with all our stakeholders. The improved

communication produced thoughtful dis-

cussions and a timely resolution of Puget

Sound Energy’s rate case settlement. The

settlement includes energy-cost adjustment

mechanisms to share increases in the cost

of the power or gas we purchase. For con-

sumers and business customers, our rates

remain low, particularly compared to our

peers. Wall Street recognized our improved

regulatory relationships and the speed with

which all involved achieved a win-win 

settlement. With this settlement, Puget has

successfully navigated the energy crisis of

2000–2001 with far less damage than most

in our industry.

Business partners benefit from

this collaborative approach as we work

with them to mitigate the turmoil created

by volatile energy markets.
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fewer surprises
can be more 

rewarding.

Depend on us to deliver reliable,
efficient natural gas and electricity.

Life would be dull without surprises. Flowers. Car keys in a gift box. A bonus in your 

paycheck. But when you flip a light switch, adjust a thermostat or boot up your 

computer, boring is beautiful. 

Day in and day out, Puget Energy doesn’t surprise millions of natural gas and

electricity customers in the state of Washington. Puget Energy doesn’t surprise anyone

at Sea-Tac Airport or at Sumner High School. Starbucks wakes up with us, and Microsoft

and Amazon.com never shut down.

We have one of the largest automated network meter-reading systems in 

the country. Our call center handled 3 million contacts in 2002, earning “more than 

satisfied” ratings from 92 percent of the customers polled. Companywide, our customer

satisfaction rating was 83 percent, far better than the industry average of 69 percent.

We achieved these superior ratings while maintaining one of the most efficient,

lowest-cost utility operations in the country. Among the nation’s 39 combination gas

and electric utilities, Puget Sound Energy has one of the lowest operating costs per

customer. At the same time, we have some of the lowest customer rates. In 2002, our

overall electric rate increase of 4.6 percent was one of the smallest among Pacific

Northwest utilities.
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The continued success of our stable, regulated utility business stems from our ability to pro-
vide reliable electric and natural gas service at a low cost and with excellent customer service. 

The demand for electricity in the Pacific Northwest is expected to outstrip supply
in the next decade. Puget Sound Energy seeks to meet this growing demand through 
a diverse mix of hydroelectric generation, thermal generation, purchased power, and
increased commitments to renewable energy and energy efficiency. This diverse energy
supply will provide flexibility in times of poor hydro conditions and will allow us to manage
the risk of volatile energy prices.

Improvements in customer service and reliability remain at the heart of PSE’s success.
Perhaps the best example of our strong operational performance in 2002 occurred when our
customers needed it most. After fierce winds knocked out power in the most populous areas
of our service territory, our employees and our contracted maintenance and construction
service provider restored power to more than 200,000 customers within 40 hours.

PSE: Electricity

Electric Energy Consumed
(no concentration of industrial customers)

37% Commercial

46% Residential

17% Industrial & Transportation

Electricity delivered by Puget Sound Energy 
is reliable and competitively priced, whether 
it’s used to make toast or a jetliner. PSE aims 
to increase the reliability of energy supplies by
adding resources and using natural gas to gener-
ate electricity. At our Fredonia generating plant,
which is fueled by natural gas, employee Earl
Shepard helps maintain and operate four com-
bustion turbines.



The growing number of customers using natural gas to heat their homes and operate their
businesses testifies to the continued popularity of this low-cost, clean-burning fuel. 

PSE takes an aggressive approach in responding to customers’ needs, while
enhancing positive and constructive relationships with local governments, regulators
and interest groups. 

In 2002, we emphasized efforts to help customers make their businesses
successful. 

When Kimberly-Clark upgraded the production facilities at its Everett tissue-making
plant, PSE increased gas-system capacity and pressure to meet the expanded needs of the
manufacturing process.

PSE: Natural Gas

Natural Gas Energy Consumed
(highly diversified customer base)

27% Commercial

48% Residential

25% Industrial & Transportation
Natural gas provides a reliable, efficient, envi-
ronmentally friendly energy source. When 
Kimberly-Clark upgraded the production facilities
at its Everett tissue-making plant, where Kirk
Johnson supports the operation, PSE increased
gas-system capacity and pressure to meet the
expanded needs of the plant’s technologically
advanced equipment.

The Port of Seattle contributes to cleaner
air by using natural gas to operate Sea-Tac Airport
vehicles. Below right, Port of Seattle employee
Dan Pierce refuels a street sweeper.

Origins of Natural Gas Supplies
Purchased by PSE in 2002

21% Alberta

40% British Columbia

39% Western United States

11
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PSE: Electricity and Natural Gas Service Areas

8

7

6

5

2

1

43

The core of Puget Energy is Puget Sound
Energy, the largest combination natural gas
and electric utility in the Pacific Northwest.
Puget Sound Energy serves a growing
region, which includes Washington state’s
largest city, its capital, more than half its
population and the majority of its com-
merce, representing a mix of heavy industry
and high-tech companies. 

Puget Sound Energy serves nearly 1.3 million
customers in 11 Washington state counties. 
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Customer Growth

1. Bellingham

2. Everett

3. Seattle

4. Bellevue
(Corporate Headquarters)

5. Federal Way

6. Tacoma

7. Olympia (State Capital)

8. Jackson Prairie
(Underground Gas Storage)

Electric Service
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Combined Electric and 
Natural Gas Service

Chart and map legend
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InfrastruX Group

Puget Energy’s nonregulated business, InfrastruX Group, is a leading national infrastructure
construction company providing new construction, maintenance and repair services to elec-
tric and natural gas utilities. Since its formation in 2000, InfrastruX has drawn on our company’s
strong knowledge base of the industry to become consistently profitable. 

Utilities with aging or insufficient electric and natural gas infrastructure demand
the specialized construction capabilities of InfrastruX’s high-quality companies. Through
these acquisitions, InfrastruX offers the competitive advantages of consolidation and
economies of scale. 

The companies acquired, and in some cases
consolidated, under the InfrastruX Group banner
operate in some 30 states, with strong market
presence in the central and eastern parts of the
United States.

1. Chapman Construction Company, LP
McKinney, TX

2. Flowers Construction Company, LP
Hillsboro, TX

3. Gill Electric Service, Inc.
Henrietta, TX

4. InterCon Construction Inc.
Madison, WI

5. Lineal Industries Inc. 
McKees Rocks, PA

6. Skibeck Pipeline Company, Inc.
Randolph, NY

7. Texas Electric Utility Company
Sherman, TX

8. Trafford Corporation
Trafford, PA

9. UtilX Corporation
Kent, WA 

10. Wire DynamiX
Kent, WA 
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sometimes 
the future looks 
like the past.

The right answers 
aren’t always brand new.

Our customer demand for energy continues

to outpace the national average. Despite 

a soft economy, our diverse business-

customer base and continued residential

demand lead us to project gas customer

growth of 3 percent to 4 percent and 

electricity customer growth of 2 percent to 

3 percent for the next several years.

Energy supplies are not keeping

up with demand. The recent setback of

deregulation and the drastic collapse of the

merchant-energy market have mothballed

most new power-generation projects.

Much of the electricity in the Pacific 

Northwest is generated by hydropower, so 

the region is short of energy in years of

below-normal precipitation. Less snowpack

means lower stream flows and more

expensive power. 

To meet customer needs, we use 

a least-cost planning approach. With some

long-term power-purchase contracts due 

to expire in the next few years, we have

studied the merits of expanding our power-

generation abilities. If bargain-priced power

plants become available, we may be able to

secure low-cost, reliable energy supplies. 

Puget is also going back to the

future with energy efficiency. Conserving

energy is always good for the environment,

and helps provide for our growing energy

needs. Puget is investing $28 million

through 2003 in its energy efficiency 

program; half of that investment is with

major customers.

15
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to our shareholders

In 2002, my first year with Puget Energy, we had to make some painful and difficult 
decisions. After careful deliberation, your Board of Directors took decisive actions to
address our financial challenges and position your company on a path toward stable and
sustainable financial growth. These decisions were necessary due to the ongoing evolution
of U.S. and international energy markets.

As the dust from the Western energy crisis finally began to settle last year, Enron
disrupted the energy markets with scandal and bankruptcy. Not long after, the entire 
merchant-energy market collapsed. The high-flying energy-trading companies that soared
during the 1990s push for deregulation saw their stocks nose-dive and their credit dry up.
Wall Street reacted by taking down the stocks of all energy companies. Credit agencies
reduced ratings across the entire industry.

Within this troubling climate, we made the difficult decision to reduce your stock
dividend. Believe me, the Board anguished over this move, knowing it would affect many
individual shareholders. Although painful in the short term, reducing the dividend has 
provided the means to rebuild equity and grow earnings. In the years ahead, I am confident
the reset dividend will be seen as producing better total returns to shareholders (dividend
income plus share price appreciation).

As tough as it was, lowering the dividend was the first step in a strategically
planned march to build a solid financial foundation for Puget Energy. By selling 5.75 million
shares of common stock in November, we raised $115 million to improve our balance
sheet. We also gained regulatory approval of our first general rate case in seven years.

The rate case agreement stabilizes the revenues of utility subsidiary Puget Sound
Energy (PSE), establishing a power supply cost-recovery mechanism to help protect the
utility from extreme power-cost volatility in the future. The rate case also equipped us to
enhance customer services, such as doubling PSE’s energy-conservation program and
creating a new bill-assistance fund for low-income customers. Moreover, in contrast to
other Northwest utilities, we accomplished all this with relatively small increases in our
customers’ natural gas and electric rates.

I believe our strategic actions produced 2002’s improved earnings: $1.24 per share
compared to $1.14 in 2001. With its growing customer base, PSE contributed 92 percent of
Puget Energy’s total earnings. InfrastruX Group, our construction services subsidiary, also
met its earnings target of 10 cents per share, accounting for the remaining 8 percent.

Stephen P. Reynolds

President and Chief Executive Officer



We ended the year on a much higher note than in 2001, thanks in no small part
to the benefits of last summer’s rate case settlement. Fourth-quarter earnings were
55 cents per share in 2002, compared to 7 cents in 2001. I believe the settlement, together
with our employees’ strategic efforts to create an efficient, customer-focused company,
will serve you well in the years ahead. 

The West’s energy crisis has largely halted the push for energy deregulation at the
national level. Here in Washington state, there’s really no political or regulatory support for
deregulation. That is why Puget’s strategy now focuses on the fundamentals of maintain-
ing financial stability and growing our regulated gas and electric utility business. 

Consistent with Washington state energy policy, we intend to fulfill our financial
commitment to you and other shareholders by securing adequate energy supplies for our
utility customers and distributing that energy, at reasonable costs, through a dependable
delivery infrastructure.

We’re confident that kind of nuts-and-bolts business plan will produce gains for
you, our shareholders, as well as benefits for our customers.

In the least-cost energy plan we submitted this spring to regulators, we outlined 
several options for seizing opportunities to develop new, economic energy supplies. The
options included purchasing power plants from merchant-energy developers, building
new thermal-power generating facilities ourselves, and buying energy supplies under
long-term contracts. What’s more, we will aggressively promote energy efficiency and
renewable-energy resources to help satisfy the energy needs of a customer base that is
growing by almost 3 percent annually on the natural gas side and by nearly 2 percent on
the electricity side.

In our nonregulated enterprise, InfrastruX Group, we sharpened our focus on
growing the existing stable of businesses. Since its formation in 2000, InfrastruX has grown
operations by acquiring 10 first-rate construction companies that primarily build and main-
tain the infrastructure for gas and electric utilities.

InfrastruX brings together 2,500 employees in some 30 states. We expect InfrastruX,
by focusing on sustainable internal growth, to contribute 2 percent to 3 percent annual growth
to Puget Energy’s earnings. 

Last year brought many energy companies to their knees, and knocked more than
a few flat on their backs. I’m proud that your company not only remained on its feet in the
face of unprecedented adversity, but actually grew stronger. Our total shareholder return
last year— almost 7 percent—was significantly better than both the utility industry’s aver-
age and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index.

There’s a great sense of excitement among Puget Energy employees as we move
ahead. I hope you share in that excitement. My thanks go out to all my coworkers for their
dedication, integrity and collaborative efforts to serve all our stakeholders. In the same spirit,
I thank you, our shareholders, for your continued support and confidence as we grow our
traditional energy company into a stable enterprise. We want to bore you to cheers.

Sincerely,

Stephen P. Reynolds

President and Chief Executive Officer
March 10, 2003
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Puget Energy is strongly positioned for steady growth. While the stock price held mostly a level
position in 2002, it has significantly outperformed the leading stock indices, including the Dow
Jones Utility Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500, shown on this page. 

Stock price outperforms Standard & Poor’s 500 Index
Indexed at 1.00 on December 31, 2001.



Puget Energy’s dividend payout in 2001 exceeded
earnings. The reset dividend of $1 per share, now
sustainable through earnings, is positioned to
provide investors with a strong return.

Earnings and Dividends

Earnings 
per share

$1.14

2001

Dividend
per share

$1.84

Earnings 
per share
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what’s beautiful
about boring?

Results!
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United States

Securities and Exchange Commission

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

/ X / Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002
OR

/    / Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from _______ to _______

Commission Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter, state of I.R.S. Employer

File Number incorporation, address of principal executive offices, telephone number Identification Number

1-16305 Puget Energy, Inc. 91-1969407
A Washington Corporation
411 – 108th Avenue N.E.
Bellevue, Washington 98004-5515
(425) 454-6363

1-4393 Puget Sound Energy, Inc. 91-0374630
A Washington Corporation
411 – 108th Avenue N.E.
Bellevue, Washington 98004-5515
(425) 454-6363
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of Each Exchange
Title of Each Class On Which Listed

Puget Energy, Inc.
Common Stock, $0.01 par value N. Y. S. E.

Preferred Share Purchase Rights N. Y. S. E.

Puget Sound Energy, Inc.
7.45% Series II, Preferred Stock N. Y. S. E.
(Cumulative, $25 Par Value)

8.4% Capital Securities N. Y. S. E.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of Each Class

Puget Sound Energy, Inc.
Preferred Stock (Cumulative, $100 Par Value) 

8.231% Capital Securities

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes / X / No /  /

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will
not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. /  /

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).

Yes / X / No /  /

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of Puget Energy, Inc. at June 28, 2002 (the last business
day of Puget Energy’s most recent completed second fiscal quarter), was approximately $1,807,769,393. The number of shares of Puget
Energy, Inc.’s common stock outstanding at February 28, 2003, was 93,827,455.

All of the outstanding shares of voting stock of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. are held by Puget Energy, Inc.

Documents Incorporated by Reference
Portions of the Puget Energy proxy statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Commission pur-

suant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2002 are incorporated by reference in Part III hereof.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K is a combined report being filed separately by two different registrants: Puget Energy, Inc.

(Puget Energy) and Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (PSE). PSE makes no representation as to the information contained in this report relating to
Puget Energy and the subsidiaries of Puget Energy other than PSE and its subsidiaries. 
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Forward-Looking Statements

Puget Energy, Inc. (Puget Energy) and Puget Sound
Energy, Inc. (PSE) are including the following cautionary statement
in this Form 10-K to make applicable and to take advantage of the
safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 for any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of
Puget Energy or PSE. This report includes forward-looking state-
ments, which are statements of expectations, beliefs, plans, objec-
tives, assumptions of future events or performance. Words or
phrases such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “projects,” “will likely result,” “will
continue” or similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertain-
ties which could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materi-
ally from those expressed. Puget Energy’s and PSE’s expectations,
beliefs and projections are expressed in good faith and are believed
by Puget Energy and PSE, as applicable, to have a reasonable basis,
including without limitation, management’s examination of histor-
ical operating trends, data contained in records and other data
available from third parties, but there can be no assurance that
Puget Energy’s and PSE’s expectations, beliefs or projections will
be achieved or accomplished.

In addition to other factors and matters discussed else-
where in this report, some important factors that could cause actual
results or outcomes for Puget Energy and PSE to differ materially
from those discussed in forward-looking statements include:

Risks relating to the regulated utility business (PSE)
• governmental policies and regulatory actions, including those

of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and the
Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (Wash-
ington Commission), with respect to allowed rates of return,
financings, industry and rate structures, acquisition and dis-
posal of assets and facilities, operation and construction of
hydro, distribution and transmission facilities, recovery of
other capital investments, recovery of power and gas costs
and present or prospective wholesale and retail competition;

• the bankruptcy filing by Enron Corporation, financial difficul-
ties by other energy companies and related events, which may
affect the regulatory and legislative process in unpredictable
ways and also adversely affect the availability of and access to
capital and credit markets;

• default by counterparties in the wholesale natural gas and
electricity markets that owe PSE money or energy;

• continued deterioration of liquidity in the forward markets in
which PSE transacts hedges to manage its energy portfolio
risks which can limit PSE’s ability to enter into forward con-
tracts and, therefore, its ability to manage its portfolio risks;

• weather, which can have a potentially serious impact on PSE’s
revenues and its ability to procure adequate supplies of gas,
fuel or purchased power to serve its customers and on the
cost of procuring such supplies;

• hydroelectric conditions, which can have a potentially seri-
ous impact on electric capacity and PSE’s ability to generate
electricity;

• the stability and liquidity of wholesale energy markets gener-
ally, including the effect of price controls by FERC on the avail-
ability and price of wholesale energy purchases and sales in
the western United States;

• the effect of wholesale and possible future retail competition
(including, but not limited to, electric retail wheeling and trans-
mission system access);

• the amount of collection, if any, of PSE’s receivable from the Cal-
ifornia Independent System Operator (CAISO) and the amount
of refunds found to be due from PSE to the CAISO or others;

• industrial, commercial and residential growth and demo-
graphic patterns in the service territories of PSE;

• general economic conditions in the Pacific Northwest;
• plant outages which can have an impact on PSE’s expenses and

its ability to procure adequate supplies to replace the lost energy;
Risks relating to the non-regulated, utility service business (InfrastruX
Group, Inc.)

• the failure of InfrastruX to service its obligations under its credit
agreement, in which case Puget Energy, as guarantor, may be
required to satisfy these obligations, which could have a nega-
tive impact on Puget Energy’s liquidity and access to capital;

• the inability to generate internal growth at InfrastruX, which
could be affected by, among other factors, InfrastruX’s ability
to expand the range of services offered to customers, attract
new customers, increase the number of projects performed for
existing customers, hire and retain employees and open addi-
tional facilities;

• the ability of InfrastruX to integrate acquired companies with
existing operations without substantial costs, delays or other
operational or financial problems, which involves a number of
special risks; 

• the effect of competition in the industry in which InfrastruX
competes, including from competitors that may have greater
resources than InfrastruX, which may enable them to develop
expertise, experience and resources to provide services that
are superior in both price and quality;

• the extent to which existing electric power and gas compa-
nies or prospective customers will continue to outsource serv-
ices in the future, which may be impacted by, among other
things, regional and general economic conditions in the markets
InfrastruX serves;

• delinquencies associated with the financial conditions of 
InfrastruX’s customers;

• the impact of any goodwill impairments on the results of opera-
tions of InfrastruX arising from its acquisitions, which could have
a negative effect on the results of operations of Puget Energy;

• the impact of adverse weather conditions that negatively affect
operating results;
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Part I

Risks relating to both the regulated and non-regulated businesses
• the impact of acts of terrorism or similar significant events,

such as the attack on September 11, 2001;
• the ability of Puget Energy, PSE, and InfrastruX to access the

capital markets to support requirements for working capital,
construction costs and the repayment of maturing debt;

• capital market conditions, including changes in the availability
of capital or interest rate fluctuations;

• changes in Puget Energy’s or PSE’s credit ratings, which may
have an adverse impact on the availability and cost of capital
for Puget Energy, PSE and InfrastruX;

• legal and regulatory proceedings; 
• changes in, and compliance with, environmental and endan-

gered species laws, regulations, decisions, and policies;
• employee workforce factors, including strikes, work stop-

pages, availability of qualified employees, or the loss of a key
executive; and 

• the ability to obtain adequate insurance coverage and the cost
of such insurance.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the
date on which such statement is made, and, except as required by
law, Puget Energy and PSE undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after
the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occur-
rence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to
time and it is not possible for management to predict all such fac-
tors, nor can it assess the impact of any such factor on the busi-
ness or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors,
may cause results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statement.

Item 1. 
Business

General
Puget Energy, Inc. (Puget Energy) is an energy services

holding company incorporated in the State of Washington in 1999.
All of its operations are conducted through its subsidiaries, Puget
Sound Energy, Inc. (PSE), a utility company and InfrastruX Group,
Inc. (InfrastruX), a construction services company. Puget Energy
has no significant assets other than the stock of its subsidiaries.
Subject to limited exceptions, Puget Energy is exempt from regula-
tion as a public utility holding company pursuant to Section 3(a)(1)
of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. Puget Energy
and PSE are collectively referred to herein as “the Company.” The
following table provides the percentages of Puget Energy’s con-
solidated operating revenues and net income generated and assets
held by the reportable segments:

Percent of revenue
Segment 2002 2001 2000

Puget Sound Energy 86.2% 92.9% 98.2%
InfrastruX 13.4% 6.0% 1.4%
Other subsidiaries 0.4% 1.1% 0.4%

Percent of net income
Segment 2002 2001 2000

Puget Sound Energy 88.3% 75.0% 105.6 %
InfrastruX 8.0% 2.4% (0.3)%
Other subsidiaries 3.7% 22.6% (5.3)%

Percent of assets
Segment 2002 2001 2000

Puget Sound Energy 92.1% 93.4% 96.1%
InfrastruX 5.6% 4.2% 1.9%
Other subsidiaries 2.3% 2.4% 2.0%

Additional financial data regarding these segments is
included in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included with this report.

Puget Energy Strategy 
Puget Energy is the parent company of the largest elec-

tric and natural gas utility headquartered in Washington State, pri-
marily engaged in the business of electricity transmission,
distribution and generation and natural gas transmission and dis-
tribution. Puget Energy’s business strategy is to generate stable
earnings and cash flow by focusing primarily on the regulated util-
ity business conducted through PSE. The key elements of this
strategy include:
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Focus on regulated utility business PSE intends to continue to
focus on its core electric and natural gas transmission and distri-
bution utility business. 

Add electric generation and delivery infrastructure to meet cus-
tomer needs As regional demand for energy continues to grow,
PSE’s committed power supply resources will not be adequate to
meet anticipated demand, especially as existing long-term power
purchase contracts begin to expire. The collapse of the merchant
energy industry has resulted in the cancellation or delay of power
plant construction projects that were expected to meet the region’s
supply needs at competitive prices. Accordingly, assuring stable,
cost-based energy supply is one of PSE’s highest priorities. In addi-
tion, PSE will continue to focus on operational excellence and 
efficiency in the utility business through investment in, and devel-
opment of, systems, technology and personnel. 

Rebuild financial strength to fund energy infrastructure, manage
energy portfolio PSE intends to focus on the regulated business to
provide credit quality, liquidity, and safe and predictable earnings to
attract investors in Puget Energy.

Provide return to Puget Energy investors through earnings
growth and dividends Generate return and attract equity capital
through growth in PSE and InfrastruX earnings and dividends.

Achieve PSE earnings growth PSE earnings will grow
through rebuilding common equity and increasing the ratebase by
adding generating and delivery resources where needed with
timely cost recovery.

Focus on InfrastruX growth Focus on internal earnings
growth opportunities within the InfrastruX subsidiaries. 

Puget Sound Energy, Inc.
PSE is a public utility incorporated in the State of Wash-

ington. PSE furnishes electric and gas service in a territory covering
approximately 6,000 square miles, principally in the Puget Sound
region of Washington State. 

At December 31, 2002, PSE had approximately 958,000
electric customers, consisting of 845,200 residential, 106,900 com-
mercial, 3,900 industrial and 2,000 other customers; and approxi-
mately 622,000 gas customers, consisting of 572,300 residential,
46,800 commercial, 2,800 industrial and 100 transportation cus-
tomers. At December 31, 2002 approximately 305,300 customers
purchased both forms of energy from PSE. For the year 2002, PSE
added approximately 17,400 electric customers and approximately
16,000 gas customers, representing annualized growth rates of
1.8% and 2.6%, respectively. During 2002 PSE’s billed retail and
transportation revenues from electric utility operations, excluding
conservation trust collections, were derived 48% from residential
customers, 42% from commercial customers, 7% from industrial
customers and 3% from transportation and other customers. PSE’s
retail revenues from gas utility operations were derived 62% from
residential customers, 31% from commercial customers, 5% from
industrial customers and 2% from transportation customers. Dur-
ing this period, the largest customer accounted for approximately
1% of PSE’s operating revenues.

PSE is affected by various seasonal weather patterns
throughout the year and, therefore, utility revenues and associated
expenses are not generated evenly during the year. Variations in
energy usage by consumers occur from season to season and from
month to month within a season, primarily as a result of weather
conditions. PSE normally experiences its highest retail energy sales
in the first and fourth quarters of the year. Sales of electricity to
wholesale customers also vary by quarter and year depending prin-
cipally upon streamflow conditions for the generation of surplus
hydroelectric power after serving customer requirements and the
market demand by wholesale customers. PSE has a Purchased Gas
Adjustment mechanism (PGA) in retail gas rates to recover varia-
tions in gas supply and transportation costs. PSE also has a Power
Cost Adjustment mechanism (PCA) in electric rates to recover 
variations in electricity costs on a shared basis between customers
and PSE.

During the period from January 1, 1998 through Decem-
ber 31, 2002, PSE’s gross electric utility plant additions were 
$894 million and retirements were $184 million. In the five-year
period ended December 31, 2002, PSE’s gross gas utility plant
additions were $565 million and retirements were $72 million. In
the same five-year period, PSE’s gross common utility plant addi-
tions were $328 million and retirements were $32 million. Gross
electric utility plant at December 31, 2002 was approximately 
$4.2 billion, which consisted of 59% distribution, 26% generation,
7% transmission and 8% general plant and other. Gross gas utility
plant as of December 31, 2002 was approximately $1.6 billion,
which consisted of 86% distribution, 6% transmission and 8% gen-
eral plant and other. Gross common utility general plant as of
December 31, 2002 was approximately $379 million.

InfrastruX Group, Inc.
InfrastruX was incorporated in the State of Washington 

in 2000 to pursue non-regulated construction services business. 
InfrastruX is a national leader in providing infrastructure construction
services to the electric and gas utility industries. InfrastruX has
acquired eleven companies primarily in Texas and the north-central
and eastern United States that are engaged in some or all of the fol-
lowing services and activities in their respective regions or nationally:
• Electric: Overhead and underground power line and cable 

construction, installation, and maintenance, including high-
voltage transmission and distribution lines, copper and
fiberoptic cables; duct installation; revitalization and damage
prevention for underground power lines and cables using the
patented Cablecure® treatment; substation construction; and
other specialty services for new and existing infrastructures.

• Gas: Large diameter pipeline installation and maintenance;
service lines and meters; conventional river crossings and
bridge maintenance; cathodic protection; power station fabri-
cation and installation; vacuum excavation; hydrostatic testing;
internal pipeline inspection; product pipelines; and other spe-
cialty services for distribution and transmission pipeline serv-
ices including small, mid-size, and large bore directional
drilling for virtually all pipeline diameters and soil conditions.
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The InfrastruX construction services business is affected
by seasonal weather conditions and, therefore, revenues and asso-
ciated expenses are not generated evenly during the year. InfrastruX
will usually experience its highest revenues in the second and third
quarters of the year.

InfrastruX Operating Strategy
In InfrastruX’s initial three years, InfrastruX focused  on

acquiring and expanding business services in the natural gas 
and electric utility infrastructure market that have an established
regional presence and are positioned to expand their market 
position. Implementation of InfrastruX’s strategy involved identify-
ing acquisition targets with established operational experience and
customer relationships and a strong management team. InfrastruX’s
current operating strategy depends primarily upon generating
internal growth through the addition of new customers and expan-
sion of services offered to existing customers rather than external
growth through acquisitions. 

InfrastruX Competition
The construction services industry is both highly compet-

itive and highly fragmented as a result of low barriers to entry, the
historical geographic segmentation of utility customers, and the
natural limitations of service delivery. Competitors of InfrastruX
include large established and emerging national companies and
many smaller, regional companies. Puget Energy believes that
InfrastruX’s competitive strengths, including a diverse customer
base, long-standing relationships with several key customers and
operational expertise in construction services will benefit InfrastruX,
but there can be no assurance that a competitor will not be able to
develop expertise, experience and resources to provide services
that are superior in quality or price to InfrastruX’s services.

Market Outlook
In the near term, InfrastruX’s market opportunities will be

limited by the general economic downturn that will result in
reduced spending on infrastructure construction, including large
pipeline and utility projects, by many of InfrastruX’s customers. As a
result, competition on project bids will increase, which may reduce
profit margins and adversely impact revenue and operational
growth. Puget Energy believes that in the long-term the opportuni-
ties for InfrastruX are excellent given an aging transmission and dis-
tribution infrastructure, forecast for growth in energy demand and
the need for greater network infrastructure construction services. 

Employees 
As of December 31, 2002, Puget Energy and its sub-

sidiaries had approximately 4,660 full-time employees:

Puget Sound Energy 2,113
InfrastruX 2,547
Total Puget Energy 4,660

Approximately 1,100 PSE employees are represented by
the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Union (IBEW)
and the United Association of Plumbers and Pipefitters (UA). PSE
has renegotiated contract extensions with the IBEW and UA
through 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Approximately 200 InfrastruX employees are represented
by the IBEW, UA, United Steelworkers of America and Laborers
International Union of North America. Some unions have annual
contract renewals while others are multiple-year. 

Corporate Locations
Puget Energy’s and PSE’s principal executive offices are

located at 411 108th Avenue N.E., Bellevue, Washington 98004,
and its telephone number is (425) 454-6363. The Company’s prin-
cipal executive offices will be relocating in July 2003 to 10885 N.E.
4th Street, Bellevue, Washington 98004. 

Available Information 
The Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on

Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on
Puget Energy’s website at www.pse.com.

Utility Industry Overview
On December 20, 1999, FERC issued Order 2000 to

advance the formation of Regional Transmission Organizations
(RTOs). This regulation required each public utility that owns, oper-
ates or controls facilities for the transmission of electric energy in
interstate commerce to file with FERC by October 15, 2000 plans
for forming and participating in an RTO. FERC’s goal is to promote
efficiency in wholesale electricity markets and to reduce prices
electricity consumers pay to the lowest price possible for reliable
service. On October 16, 2000, PSE and five other utilities filed with
FERC their proposal for an independent transmission company,
which would serve six states. The independent transmission com-
pany would be a member of the planned regional transmission
organization. Any final proposal that emerges is subject to approval
by FERC and relevant state public utility commissions. FERC has
also issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on Remedying Undue
Discrimination through Open Access Transmission Service and
Standard Electricity Market Design (SMD NOPR). The SMD NOPR
would have major implications for the delivery of electric energy
throughout the United States if enacted in its proposed form. Major
elements of FERC’s proposal include: (a) the use of Network Access
Service to replace the existing network and point-to-point services.
All customers, including load-serving entities on behalf of bundled
retail load, would be required to take network service under a new
pro forma tariff; (b) vertically integrated utilities would be required
to retain Independent Transmission Providers to administer the new
tariff and functionally operate transmission systems; (c) the forma-
tion of Regional State Advisory Committees and other regional enti-
ties to coordinate the planning, certification and siting of new
transmission facilities in cooperation with states. 
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Since 1986 PSE has been offering gas transportation as a
separate service to industrial and commercial customers who
choose to purchase their gas supply directly from producers and
gas marketers. The continued evolution of the natural gas industry,
resulting primarily from FERC Orders 436, 500 and 636, has served
to increase the ability of large gas end-users to independently
obtain gas supply and transportation services. Although PSE has
not lost any substantial industrial or commercial load as a result of
such activities, in certain years up to 160 customers annually 
have taken advantage of unbundled transportation service; in 2002,
134 commercial and industrial customers, on average, chose to use
such service. The shifting of customers from sales to transportation
does not materially impact utility margin, as PSE earns similar mar-
gins on transportation service as it does on large volume, inter-
ruptible gas sales.

The electric utility business in Washington State is fully
regulated. There are no proposals or prospects for retail deregula-
tion in Washington State anticipated in the foreseeable future. 

Regulation and Rates
PSE is subject to the regulatory authority of (1) the Wash-

ington Commission as to retail utility rates, accounting, the
issuance of securities and certain other matters and (2) FERC with
respect to the transmission of electric energy, the resale of electric
energy at wholesale, accounting and certain other matters. (See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Rate Matters”.)

Electric Rates and Regulation
On March 28, 2002, the Washington Commission

approved a settlement agreement which resolved the Company’s
request for an interim rate increase and significant financial issues
in the Company’s electric and gas general rate cases. As a result,
an interim electric rate surcharge of $25 million was in effect for the
period April 1, 2002 through June 30, 2002. The three important
financial issues that were resolved for the general rate case
included the equity capital ratio, the return on equity and adoption
of an electric power cost adjustment mechanism. 

On June 20, 2002, the Washington Commission issued
final regulatory approval of the comprehensive electric-rate settle-
ment submitted by PSE, key constituents and customer groups,
Washington Commission staff and the Washington State Attorney
General’s Public Counsel Section. The authorization granted PSE a
4.6% electric general rate increase that will generate approximately
an additional $59 million in revenue annually that began July 1,
2002. In addition, the settlement provided for an 8.76% overall
return on capital based on a projected capital structure with an
equity component of 40% and an authorized 11% return on com-
mon equity. The settlement resolved all electric and gas cost allo-
cation issues and established an 8.76% overall return on capital. 

The settlement also includes a PCA mechanism that trig-
gers if PSE’s costs to provide customers’ electricity falls outside
certain bands from a normalized level of power costs established in
the electric general rate case. The cumulative maximum pre-tax
earnings exposure due to power cost variations over the four year
period ending June 30, 2006 is limited to $40 million plus 1% of the
excess. All significant variable power supply cost drivers are
included in the PCA mechanism (hydroelectric generation variabil-
ity, market price variability for purchased power and surplus power
sales, natural gas and coal fuel price variability, generation unit
forced outage risk and wheeling cost variability). On an annual July
through June basis, the mechanism apportions increases or
decreases in power costs, on a graduated scale, between PSE and
its customers in the following manner:

Annual power cost variability Customers’ share Company’s share 1

+/- $20 million 0% 100%
+/- $20–$40 million 50% 50%
+/- $40–$120 million 90% 10%
+/- $120+ million 95% 5%

1 Over the four year period July 1, 2002 through June 30, 2006, the
Company’s share of pre-tax power cost variations is capped at a cumulative 
$40 million plus 1% of the excess.

Interest will be accrued on any overcollection or under-
collection of the customers’ share of the excess power cost that is
deferred. The Company can request a PCA rate surcharge if for any
12 month period the actual or projected deferred power costs
exceed $30 million. PSE’s share of the power costs through
December 31, 2002 was $5.2 million. Because of adverse hydro
conditions in 2003, PSE anticipates reaching the $40 million cumu-
lative cap under the PCA mechanism by the fourth quarter of 2003.
Under the PCA mechanism, further increases in variable power
costs through June 30, 2006 would be apportioned 99% to cus-
tomers and 1% to PSE.

The settlement also gives PSE the financial flexibility to
rebuild its common equity ratio to at least 39% over a three and a
half year period, with milestones of 34%, 36% and 39% at the end
of 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. If PSE should fail to meet this
schedule, it would be subject to a 2% rate reduction penalty.

On June 13, 2001, the Washington Commission approved
an amended Residential Purchase and Sale Agreement (Agree-
ment) between PSE and the BPA, under which PSE’s residential
and small farm customers would continue to receive benefits of
federal power. Completion of this agreement enabled PSE to con-
tinue to provide, and in fact increase, effective January 1, 2002, the
Residential and Farm Energy Exchange Credit to residential and
small farm customers. The Agreement provides that, for its residen-
tial and small farm customers, PSE will receive (a) cash payment
benefits during the period July 1, 2001 through September 30, 2006
and (b) benefits in the form of power or cash payments during the
period October 1, 2006 through September 30, 2011. On June 17, 
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2002, PSE entered into an agreement with the BPA which amended
the payment provisions of the Agreement to provide for conditional
deferral of payment by BPA of certain amounts to be paid under the
original agreement. 

To implement this agreement for rate purposes, the
Washington Commission approved tariff revisions that were
intended (a) to transfer the Residential and Farm Energy Exchange
credit in effect since October 1, 1995 in the amount of $0.01085 per
kWh, to general rates effective July 1, 2001 and (b) to provide 
a supplemental Residential and Farm Exchange credit for eligible
residential and small farm customers. On June 26, 2002, the Wash-
ington Commission then transferred the portion of the credit that
had been in general rates back into Schedule 194. 

The Residential and Farm Exchange Benefit Supplemental
Rider schedule was retitled Residential and Farm Energy Exchange
Benefit, the portion of the credit that had been in general rates was
transferred back into Schedule 194, and the credit was set at
$0.01456 per kWh for the period July 1, 2002 through September 30,
2002, $0.01817 per kWh for the period October 1, 2002 through
May 31, 2006 and $0.02302 per kWh for the period June 1, 2006
through September 30, 2006. The approval of these revised tariffs
by the Washington Commission was effective July 1, 2002. 

In January 2003, PSE filed tariff sheets with the Wash-
ington Commission to reflect a modification to the agreement
between PSE and the BPA that would reduce the Residential and
Farm Energy Exchange Benefit credit. Under the modified agree-
ment, BPA will defer paying a portion of the benefits it would have
otherwise paid. The amount of benefits deferred will be $3.5 mil-
lion each month for the eight-month period beginning February
2003, for a total deferral of $27.7 million. Contemporaneously with
entering into this agreement with PSE, BPA is entering into other
agreements similar to the agreement with PSE through which
other investor-owned utilities and BPA are agreeing to BPA’s defer-
ral of payments in their fiscal year 2003. The total cumulative
amount to be deferred under the agreement with PSE and other
such agreements equals $55 million, an amount that will help BPA
address its current financial difficulties. Absent certain adjust-
ments BPA will begin paying back the amount deferred with inter-
est over the sixty-month period beginning November 2006. The
Washington Commission approved the tariff changes and the
Rider credit was changed to $0.01740 for the period February 15,
2003 through September 30, 2006. The deferral of the BPA bene-
fits will not have any impact on PSE earnings, as it is a direct pass-
through to PSE customers.

BPA’s rate case may affect the level of residential
exchange benefits for PSE’s customers. For 2002, the benefits of
the Residential and Farm Energy Exchange credited to customers
were $152.8 million with a related offset to power costs. PSE
received payments from BPA in the amount of $171.2 million dur-
ing 2002. The difference between the customers’ credit and the
amount received from BPA is deferred and credited to customers in
later periods. The difference is recorded on PSE’s balance sheet as
restricted cash. The modified Agreement, if it goes into effect,

would provide for payments from BPA in the amount of $630.6 mil-
lion for the period January 2003 through September 2006 and for 
pass-through to eligible residential and farm customers of the same
amount. The level of the BPA credit does not affect PSE’s earnings,
since the credit is a direct pass-through to residential customers.
The credit does affect the net rates paid by those customers.

There are several actions in the Ninth Circuit Court of
Appeals against BPA, in which the petitioners assert that BPA acted
contrary to law or without authority in deciding to enter into, or in
entering into or performing, a number of contracts, including the
contract between BPA and the Company described above. BPA
rates used in such contract between BPA and the Company for
determining the amounts of money to be paid to the Company dur-
ing the period October 1, 2001 through September 30, 2006 have
been confirmed, approved and allowed to go into effect by FERC
on an interim basis, subject to refund with interest. It is not clear
what impact, if any, review of such rates and the above-described
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals actions may have on the Company. 

Gas Rates and Regulation
On August 28, 2002, the Washington Commission

approved a 5.8% gas rate increase in general rates to cover higher
costs of providing natural gas service to customers. This increase
will provide approximately $35.6 million annually in revenues and
was offset by an annual $45 million or 7.3% PGA rate reduction, also
approved on August 28, 2002. Both rate actions became effective
September 1, 2002. The PGA mechanism passes through to cus-
tomers increases or decreases in the gas supply portion of the nat-
ural gas service rates based upon changes in the price of natural gas
purchased from producers and wholesale marketers or changes in
gas pipeline transportation costs. PSE’s gas margin and net income
are not affected by the change in PGA rates.

On May 24, 2002, the Washington Commission allowed a
PGA rate reduction that was filed on May 6, 2002, effective June 1,
2002, lowering overall natural gas rates by 21.2%. This ended a
temporary surcharge that went into effect September 1, 2001.

On September 30, 2002, PSE filed a proposal with the
Washington Commission to reduce natural gas supply rates under
the PGA for a third time in 2002. The Washington Commission
approved the proposal on October 30, 2002 and PSE lowered gas
rates overall through the PGA by approximately 12.5% effective
November 1, 2002.

As a result of sharp increases in gas costs during 2000 and
2001, PSE filed two PGA and deferral amortization filings with the
Washington Commission which were approved. The PGA filings
allowed PSE to recover increased gas costs. As a result, gas rates to
all sales customers increased by an average of 30.2% on August 1,
2000, and 26.4% on January 12, 2001. Subsequent declines in gas
costs led to PSE obtaining approval of another PGA and deferral
amortization filing in 2001 resulting in an average 8.9% reduction in
gas rates on September 1, 2001. 
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Electric Operating Statistics

Twelve months ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Generation and Purchased Power-kWh (thousands):
Company controlled resources 6,996,276 9,684,087 9,502,386
Contracted resources 12,085,729 11,901,762 14,735,707 
Non-firm energy purchased 7,584,398 6,987,319 14,290,196 

Total generation and purchased power 26,666,403 28,573,168 38,528,289
Less losses and company use (1,341,126) (1,152,840) (1,582,446)

Total energy sold, kWh 25,325,277 27,420,328 36,945,843
Electric energy sales, kWh (thousands):

Residential 9,845,527 9,555,264 9,810,393
Commercial 8,012,538 7,953,165 7,677,032
Industrial 1,416,107 2,540,722 4,026,344
Other customers 90,840 154,749 219,435

Total energy billed to customers 19,365,012 20,203,900 21,733,204
Unbilled energy sales—net increase (decrease) (102,811) (278,392) 118,908

Total energy sales to customers 19,262,201 19,925,508 21,852,112
Sales to other utilities and marketers 6,063,076 7,494,820 15,093,731

Total energy sales, kWh 25,325,277 27,420,328 36,945,843
Less: optimization purchases for sales to other utilities and marketers (2,596,505) (2,512,478) (745,113)
Transportation, including unbilled 2,307,081 363,826 —

Net electric energy sales and transported, kWh 25,035,853 25,271,676 36,200,730
Electric operating revenues by classes (thousands): 

Residential $ 616,522 $ 583,714 $ 587,780
Commercial 536,021 509,134 476,052
Industrial 90,121 281,161 292,975
Other customers 26,500 25,351 98,888
Operating revenues billed to customers 1 1,269,164 1,399,360 1,455,695
Unbilled revenues—net increase (decrease) (7,118) (70,615) 66,700

Total operating revenues from customers 1,262,046 1,328,745 1,522,395
Transportation, including unbilled 15,551 2,537 6
Sales to other utilities and marketers 152,736 1,021,376 1,249,294
Less: optimization purchases for sales to other utilities and marketers (64,448) (487,431) (139,376)

Total electric operating revenues $1,365,885 $1,865,227 $2,632,319
Number of customers served (average):

Residential 839,878 826,187 811,443
Commercial 104,273 100,015 98,758
Industrial 3,953 4,012 4,111
Other 1,932 1,758 1,548
Transportation 16 5 —

Total customers (average) 950,052 931,977 915,860
Average retail revenues per kWh sold:

Residential $0.0632 $0.0628 $0.0617
Commercial 0.0675 0.0655 0.0638
Industrial 0.0649 0.1120 0.0739

Average retail revenue per kWh sold 0.0651 0.0701 0.0647
Average revenue billed to residential customers $741 $726 $745
Average kWh used by residential customers 11,723 11,565 12,090
Heating degree days 4,946 4,993 4,970
Percent of normal of 30-year average 100.8% 101.7% 100.9%
Load factor 61.6% 59.8% 62.2%

1 Operating revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were reduced by $12.7 million, $31.0  million and $35.4 million, respectively, as a result of PSE’s sale of
$237.7 million of its investment in customer-owned conservation measures. (See “Operating Revenues—Electric” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)
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Electric Supply
At December 31, 2002, PSE’s peak electric power resources were approximately 4,577,135 KW. PSE’s historical peak load of

approximately 4,847,000 KW occurred on December 21, 1998. In order to meet an extreme winter peak load, PSE supplements its electric
power resources with call options and other instruments that may include, but are not limited to, weather related hedges and exchange
agreements. During 2002, PSE’s total electric energy production was supplied 26.2% by its own resources, 22.5% through long-term 
contracts with several of the Washington Public Utility Districts (PUDs) that own hydroelectric projects on the Columbia River, and 22.9%
from other firm purchases. Non-firm purchases, net of resales, accounted for 7.4% of energy purchases in 2002.

The following table shows PSE’s electric energy supply resources at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and energy production during
the year:

Peak power resources at December 31, Energy production 

2002 2001 2002 2001 
KW % KW % kWh % kWh %

Purchased resources:
Columbia River PUD contracts 1,391,000 30.4% 1,431,900 28.8% 5,988,118 22.5% 4,230,574 14.8%
Other hydro 1 175,660 3.8% 535,660 10.8% 717,215 2.7% 964,628 3.4%
Other producers 1 1,209,675 26.4% 1,211,675 24.4% 5,380,396 20.2% 6,706,560 23.4%
Non-firm energy purchases 2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 7,584,398 28.4% 6,987,319 24.5%

Total purchased 2,776,335 60.6% 3,179,235 64.0% 19,670,127 73.8% 18,889,081 66.1%
Company-controlled resources:

Hydro 300,000 6.6% 300,000 6.0% 1,351,540 5.1% 1,101,373 3.9%
Coal 700,000 15.3% 700,000 14.1% 4,627,901 17.3% 5,038,834 17.6%
Natural gas/oil 800,800 17.5% 790,800 15.9% 1,016,835 3.8% 3,543,880 12.4%

Total Company controlled 1,800,800 39.4% 1,790,800 36.0% 6,996,276 26.2% 9,684,087 33.9%
Total 4,577,135 100.0% 4,970,035 100.0% 26,666,403 100.0% 28,573,168 100.0%

1 Power received from other utilities is classified between hydro and other producers based on the character of the utility system used to supply the
power or, if the power is supplied from a particular resource, the character of that resource.

2 Non-firm purchases net of resales of 6,063,076 kWh and 7,494,820 kWh for 2002 and 2001 respectively, account for 7.4% and (2.4%) of energy purchases.

PSE submitted a preliminary least-cost plan to balance future energy resources with energy needs to the Washington Commis-
sion on December 31, 2002. PSE plans to meet its resource needs either through asset acquisition, building its own generation, or enter-
ing into additional power purchase agreements, and pursuing energy conservation. PSE will submit its final least-cost plan to the
Washington Commission in the spring of 2003.

Company-Controlled Electric Generation Resources
In total PSE has the following plants with an aggregate net generating capability of 1,800,800 KW:

Plant name Plant type Total KW capacity Year installed

Colstrip 1&2 (50% interest) Coal 330,000 1975 & 1976
Colstrip 3&4 (25% interest) Coal 370,000 1984 & 1986
Upper Baker River Hydro 91,000 1959
Lower Baker River Hydro 79,000 Reconstructed 1960 

Upgraded 2001
White River Hydro 70,000 1911
Snoqualmie Falls Hydro 44,000 1898 to 1911 and 1957
Electron Hydro 26,000 1904 to 1929
Fredonia 1 & 2 Dual fuel combustion turbines 210,000 1984
Fredrickson Units 2 & 3 Dual fuel combustion turbines 150,000 1981
Whitehorn Units 2 & 3 Dual fuel combustion turbines 150,000 1981
Fredonia 3 & 4 Dual fuel combustion turbines 108,000 2001
Encogen Natural gas cogeneration 170,000 1993
Crystal Mountain Internal combustion 2,800 1969



32

All of these generating facilities, except the Colstrip, Mon-
tana plants, are located in PSE’s service territories.

On December 19, 1997, PSE was issued a 50-year license
by FERC for its existing and operating White River project which
includes authorization to install an additional 14,000 KW generat-
ing unit. PSE has filed for a rehearing with FERC on conditions of
the license related to measures designed to enhance salmon runs
on the White River, because those conditions may make the plant
uneconomic to operate. On June 30, 1999 FERC issued a stay in
the license proceeding. This additional time allows PSE, federal land
agencies, state agencies, local governments and public interest
groups to resolve common issues and explore alternatives relating
to the plant’s continued operation and economics. The licensing
proceeding is ongoing. In April 2001, PSE gave FERC notice of its
intent to renew the license for its existing and operating 170,000
KW Baker Project. The 50-year license expires on April 30, 2006
with application due in April 2004. In 2002, PSE continued working
with FERC, federal, state and local governments, Native American
tribes, public interest groups and citizens to define new license
terms and conditions through a collaborative process. The initial
license for the existing and operating Snoqualmie Falls project
expired in December 1993, and PSE continues to operate this proj-
ect under a temporary license. PSE is continuing the FERC applica-
tion process to relicense this project 

Columbia River Electric Energy Supply Contracts
During 2002, approximately 22.5% of PSE’s energy out-

put was obtained at an average cost of approximately 13.96 mills
per kWh through long-term contracts with several of the Washing-
ton PUDs that own and operate hydroelectric projects on the
Columbia River.

PSE’s purchases of power from the Columbia River proj-
ects are on a “cost of service” basis under which PSE pays a propor-
tionate share of the annual debt service and operating and
maintenance costs of each project in proportion to the contractual
shares that PSE has rights to from such project. Such payments are
not contingent upon the projects being operable, which means PSE
is required to make the payments even if power is not being deliv-
ered. These projects are financed through substantially level debt
service payments, and their annual costs may vary over the term of
the contracts as additional financing is required to meet the costs of
major maintenance, repairs or replacements or license requirements.

PSE has contracted to purchase from Chelan County PUD
(Chelan) a 50% share of the output of the original units of the Rock
Island Project, which percentage will remain unchanged for the
duration of the contract that expires in 2012. PSE has also con-
tracted to purchase the output of the additional Rock Island units
for the duration of the contract. As of December 31, 2002 PSE’s 

aggregate annual capacity from all units of the Rock Island Project
was 455,340 KW. PSE’s share of output of the additional Rock
Island units may be reduced by up to 10% per year which began
July 1, 2000, subject to a maximum aggregate reduction of 50%,
upon the exercise of rights of withdrawal by Chelan for use in its 
local service area. The schedule of withdrawals by Chelan for the
additional Rock Island units is as follows:

Withdrawal PSE capacity
Date of withdrawal percentage after withdrawal

July 1, 2002 10% 85%
July 1, 2003 10% 75%
February 1, 2005 10% 65%
July 1, 2005 10% 55%
November 1, 2006 5% 50%

PSE has contracted to purchase from Chelan 38.9%
(505,000 KW of peak capacity as of December 31, 2002) of the
annual output of the Rocky Reach Project, which percentage
remains unchanged for the remainder of the contract which expires
in 2011. PSE has contracted to purchase from Douglas County PUD
31.3% (261,000 KW as of December 31, 2002) of the annual output
of the Wells Project, the percentage of which remains unchanged
for the remainder of the contract which expires in 2018. PSE has
contracted to purchase from Grant County PUD 8.0% (72,000 KW
as of December 31, 2002) of the annual output of the Priest Rapids
Development and 10.8% (98,000 KW of peak capacity as of
December 31, 2002) of the annual output of the Wanapum Devel-
opment, which percentages remain unchanged for the remainder
of the contracts which expire in 2005 and 2009, respectively. 

On December 28, 2001, PSE signed a contract offer for
new contracts for the Priest Rapids and Wanapum Developments.
On April 12, 2002, PSE signed amendments to those agreements
which are technical clarifications of certain sections of the agree-
ments. Under the terms of these contracts, PSE will continue to
obtain capacity and energy for the term of any new FERC license to
be obtained by Grant County PUD. The new contracts begin in
November 2005 for the Priest Rapids Development and in November
2009 for the Wanapum Development. Unlike the current contracts,
in the new contracts PSE’s share of power from developments
declines over time as Grant County PUD’s load increases. 

On March 8, 2002, the Yakama Nation filed a complaint
with FERC which alleged that Grant County’s new contracts unrea-
sonably restrain trade and violate various sections of the Federal
Power Act and Public Law 83-544. On November 21, 2002, FERC dis-
missed the complaint while agreeing that certain aspects of the com-
plaint had merit. As a result, they have ordered Grant County PUD to
remove specific sections of the contract which constrain the parties
to the Grant County PUD contracts from competing with Grant
County PUD for a new license. A rehearing has been requested. 
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Electric Energy Supply Contracts and Agreements
with Other Utilities
PSE has entered into long-term firm purchased power

contracts with other utilities in the West region. PSE is generally not
obligated to make payments under these contracts unless power 
is delivered. 

Under a 1985 settlement agreement relating to Washing-
ton Public Power Supply System Nuclear Project No. 3, in which
PSE had a 5% interest, PSE is entitled to receive from BPA begin-
ning January 1, 1987, electric power during the months of Novem-
ber through April. Under the contract, PSE is guaranteed to receive
not less than 191,667 MWh in each contract year until PSE has
received total deliveries of 5,833,333 MWh. PSE expects the con-
tract to be in effect until at least June 2008. Also pursuant to the
1985 settlement agreement, BPA has an option to request that PSE
deliver up to 64 MW of exchange energy to BPA in all months
except May, July and August for contract year 2002/2003. 

On December 31, 2002, a 15 year power contract
between Avista Corporation and PSE expired under the terms of the
agreement. The contract provided for the delivery of 100 MW of
capacity and 657,000 MWh of energy from the Avista system annu-
ally (75 annual average MW). 

On October 27, 1988, PSE executed a 15-year contract
for the purchase of firm power and energy from PacifiCorp. Under
the terms of the agreement, PSE receives 120 average MW of
energy and 200 MW of peak capacity. This contract expires on
October 31, 2003.

On October 1, 1989, PSE signed a contract with The Mon-
tana Power Company, which subsequently sold its assets to North-
western Energy in 2002 under which Northwestern Energy
provides PSE, from its share of Colstrip Unit 4, 71 average MW of
energy (97 MW of peak capacity) over a 21-year period. This con-
tract expires in December 2010. 

PSE executed an exchange agreement with Pacific Gas &
Electric Company (PG&E) which became effective on January 1,
1992. Under the agreement, 300 MW of capacity together with
413,000 MWh of energy are exchanged seasonally every year on a
unit-for-unit basis. No payments are made under this agreement.
PG&E is a summer peaking utility and will provide power during the
months of November through February. PSE is a winter peaking util-
ity and will provide power during the months of June through Sep-
tember. Each party may terminate the contract for various reasons.

In October 1997 a 10-year power exchange agreement
between PSE and Powerex (a subsidiary of a British Columbia util-
ity) became effective. Under this agreement Powerex pays PSE for
the right to deliver power up to 1,200,000 MWh annually to PSE 
at the Canadian border in exchange for PSE delivering power to
Powerex at various locations in the United States. 

Electric Energy Supply Contracts and Agreements
with Non-Utility Generators
As required by the federal Public Utility Regulatory Poli-

cies Act (PURPA), PSE entered into long-term firm purchased
power contracts with non-utility generators. The most significant of
these are the contracts described below which PSE entered into in
1989, 1990 and 1991 with operators of natural gas-fired cogenera-
tion projects. PSE purchases the net electrical output of these three
projects at fixed and annually escalating prices which were
intended to approximate PSE’s avoided cost of new generation pro-
jected at the time these agreements were made. 

On February 24, 1989, PSE executed a 20-year contract to
purchase 108 average MW of energy and 123 MW of capacity,
beginning in April 1993, from Sumas Cogeneration Company, L.P.,
which owns and operates a natural gas-fired cogeneration project
located in Sumas, Washington.

On June 29, 1989, PSE executed a 20-year contract to
purchase 70 average MW of energy and 80 MW of capacity, begin-
ning October 11, 1991, from the March Point Cogeneration Com-
pany (March Point), which owns and operates a natural gas-fired
cogeneration facility known as March Point Phase I, located at the
Equilon refinery in Anacortes, Washington. On December 27, 1990,
PSE executed a second contract (having a term coextensive with
the first contract) to purchase an additional 53 average MW of
energy and 60 MW of capacity, beginning in January 1993, from
another natural gas-fired cogeneration facility owned and operated
by March Point, which facility is known as March Point Phase II and
is located at the Equilon refinery in Anacortes, Washington. 

On March 20, 1991, PSE executed a 20-year contract to
purchase 216 average MW of energy and 245 MW of capacity,
beginning in April 1994, from Tenaska Washington Partners, L.P.,
which owns and operates a natural gas-fired cogeneration project
located near Ferndale, Washington. In December 1997 and Janu-
ary 1998, PSE and Tenaska Washington Partners entered into
revised agreements in which PSE became the principal natural gas
supplier to the project and power purchase prices under the
Tenaska contract were revised to reflect market-based prices for the
natural gas supply. PSE obtained an order from the Washington
Commission creating a regulatory asset related to the $215 million
restructuring payment. Under terms of the order, PSE was allowed
to accrue as an additional regulatory asset one-half the carrying
costs of the deferred balance over the first five years, which ended
December 2002. The balance of the regulatory asset at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 was $231.0 million which will be recovered in electric
rates over the next nine years. In addition, PSE is responsible for
any potential tax indemnification to the seller imposed by the Inter-
nal Revenue Service up to a maximum of $30 million. 

In December 1999, PSE bought out the remaining 
8.5 years of one of the natural gas supply contracts serving Enco-
gen from Cabot Oil & Gas Corporation (Cabot) which provided
approximately 60% of the plant’s natural gas requirements. PSE
became the replacement gas supplier to the project for 60% of the
supply under the terms of the Cabot Agreement.
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Gas Operating Statistics

Twelve months ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Gas operating revenues by classes (thousands):
Residential $ 428,569 $ 486,761 $ 372,900
Commercial firm 167,434 196,904 144,046
Industrial firm 28,312 37,411 27,832
Interruptible 48,889 71,997 44,485

Total retail gas sales 673,204 793,073 589,263
Transportation services 12,851 11,780 12,137
Other 11,100 10,218 10,911

Total gas operating revenues $ 697,155 $ 815,071 $ 612,311
Number of customers served (average):

Residential 565,003 548,497 532,333
Commercial firm 45,916 45,998 44,817
Industrial firm 2,727 2,789 2,863
Interruptible 650 833 835
Transportation 122 112 98

Total customers 614,418 598,229 580,946
Gas volumes, therms (thousands):

Residential 500,672 494,648 517,561
Commercial firm 218,716 214,713 221,170
Industrial firm 39,142 42,287 48,348
Interruptible 81,045 98,733 103,446

Total retail gas volumes, therms 839,575 850,381 890,525
Transportation volumes 207,852 188,196 204,035

Total volumes 1,047,427 1,038,577 1,094,560
Working-gas volumes in storage at year end, therms (thousands):

Jackson Prairie 64,583 59,537 67,827
Clay Basin 51,225 73,800 28,275

Average therms used by customer:
Residential 886 902 972
Commercial firm 4,763 4,668 4,935
Industrial firm 14,354 15,162 16,887
Interruptible 124,685 118,527 123,888
Transportation 1,703,705 1,680,321 2,081,989

Average revenue per customer:
Residential $ 759 $ 887 $ 701
Commercial firm 3,647 4,281 3,214
Industrial firm 10,382 13,414 9,721
Interruptible 75,214 86,431 53,275
Transportation 105,336 105,179 123,846

Average revenue per therm sold:
Residential $ 0.855 $ 0.984 $ 0.720
Commercial firm 0.766 0.917 0.651
Industrial firm 0.723 0.885 0.576
Interruptible 0.603 0.729 0.430

Average retail revenue per therm sold 0.802 0.933 0.662
Transportation 0.062 0.063 0.059
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Gas Supply
PSE currently purchases a blended portfolio of long-term

firm, short-term firm and non-firm gas supplies from a diverse
group of major and independent producers and gas marketers in
the United States and Canada. PSE also enters into short-term
physical and financial derivative instruments to hedge the cost of
gas to service its customers. All of PSE’s gas supply is ultimately
transported through facilities of Williams/Northwest Pipeline Cor-
poration (NPC), the sole interstate pipeline delivering directly into
the Western Washington area.

Peak firm gas supply 2002 2001
at December 31 Dth per day % Dth per day %

Purchased gas supply:
British Columbia 145,500 18.2% 181,800 22.5%
Alberta 64,900 8.1% 65,800 8.1%
United States 113,800 14.2% 51,400 6.4%

Total purchased 
gas supply 324,200 40.5% 299,000 37.0%

Purchased storage capacity:
Clay Basin 63,000 7.9% 96,600 11.9%
Jackson Prairie 47,600 5.9% 47,500 5.9%
LNG 70,800 8.8% 70,700 8.7%

Total purchased 
storage capacity 181,400 22.6% 214,800 26.5%

Owned storage capacity:
Jackson Prairie 265,000 33.1% 265,000 32.8%
Propane-air injection 30,000 3.8% 30,000 3.7%

Total owned 
storage capacity 295,000 36.9% 295,000 36.5%

Total peak firm 
gas supply 800,600 100.0% 808,800 100.0%

All peak firm gas supplies and storage are connected to PSE’s mar-
ket with firm transportation capacity.

For baseload and peak-shaving purposes, PSE supple-
ments its firm gas supply portfolio by purchasing natural gas at
generally lower prices in months of low market demand for gas,
injecting it into underground storage facilities and withdrawing it
during the winter heating season. Storage facilities at Jackson
Prairie in Western Washington and at Clay Basin in Utah are used
for this purpose. Peaking needs are also met by using PSE owned
gas held in NPC’s liquefied natural gas (LNG) facility at Plymouth,
Washington, and by producing propane-air gas at a plant owned by
PSE and located on its distribution system.

In 1998, PSE took assignment from a third party of a
peaking gas supply service contract whereby PSE can divert up to
48,000 Dekatherms per day (one Dekatherm, or Dth, is equal to one
million British thermal units or MMBtu) of gas it supplies to Tenaska
away from the Tenaska Cogeneration Facility and toward its core
gas load by causing Tenaska to operate its facility on distillate fuel
and paying any additional costs of such operation.

PSE expects to meet its firm peak-day requirements for
residential, commercial and industrial markets through its firm gas
purchase contracts, firm transportation capacity, firm storage capac-
ity and other firm peaking resources. PSE believes it will be able to
acquire incremental firm gas supply to meet anticipated growth in
the requirements of its firm customers for the foreseeable future. 

Gas Supply Portfolio
For the 2002–2003 winter heating season, PSE contracted

for approximately 18.2% of its expected peak-day gas supply
requirements from sources originating in British Columbia under a
combination of long-term and winter-peaking purchase agree-
ments. Long-term gas supplies from Alberta represent approxi-
mately 8.1% of the peak-day requirements. Long-term and winter
peaking arrangements with U.S. suppliers and gas stored at Clay
Basin make up approximately 22.1% of the peak-day portfolio. The
balance of the peak-day requirements is expected to be met with
gas stored at Jackson Prairie, LNG held at NPC’s Plymouth facility
and propane-air resources, which represent approximately 39.0%,
8.8% and 3.8%, respectively, of expected peak-day requirements. 

During 2002, approximately 40% of gas supplies pur-
chased by PSE originated in British Columbia while 21% originated
in Alberta and 39% originated in the United States. 

The current firm, long-term gas supply portfolio consists
of arrangements with 17 producers and gas marketers, with no sin-
gle supplier representing more than 11% of expected peak-day
requirements. Contracts have remaining terms ranging from less
than 1 year to 9 years, with an average term of less than one year.
With the exception of fixed price hedges for the period November
2002 through October 2003 making up a portion of the minimum
planned customer requirements, gas supply contracts contain mar-
ket-sensitive pricing provisions based on several published indices.

PSE’s firm gas supply portfolio is structured to capitalize
on regional price differentials when they arise. Gas and services are
marketed outside PSE’s service territory (off-system sales) when-
ever on-system customer demand requirements permit. The geo-
graphic mix of suppliers and daily, monthly and annual take
requirements permit a high degree of flexibility in managing gas
supplies during off-peak periods to minimize costs.

Gas Transportation Capacity
PSE currently holds firm transportation capacity on

pipelines owned by NPC and PG&E Gas Transmission-Northwest
(PGT). Accordingly, PSE pays fixed monthly demand charges for the
right, but not the obligation, to transport specified quantities of gas
from receipt points to delivery points on such pipelines each day for
the term or terms of the applicable agreements. 
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PSE holds firm year-round capacity on NPC’s pipeline
totaling 447,493 Dth per day, acquired under several agreements at
various times. PSE has exchanged certain segments of its firm
capacity with third parties to effectively lower transportation costs.
PSE’s firm transportation capacity contracts with NPC have remain-
ing terms ranging from 2 to 13.8 years. However, PSE has either the
unilateral right to extend the contracts under their current terms or
the right of first refusal to extend such contracts under current
FERC orders. PSE’s firm transportation capacity on PGT’s pipeline,
totaling 90,392 Dth per day, has a remaining term of 21 years.

WNG CAP I, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PSE, holds firm
year-round capacity on NPC’s pipeline totaling 75,494 Dth per day,
acquired under several agreements. WNG CAP I’s firm transporta-
tion capacity contracts with NPC have remaining terms ranging
from 1 year to 13.5 years.

Gas Storage Capacity
PSE holds storage capacity in the Jackson Prairie and

Clay Basin underground gas storage facilities adjacent to NPC’s
pipeline. The Jackson Prairie facility, operated and one-third owned
by PSE, is used primarily for intermediate peaking purposes, able
to deliver a large volume of gas over a relatively short time period.
Combined with capacity contracted from NPC’s one-third stake in
Jackson Prairie, PSE has peak, firm delivery capacity of over
318,000 Dth per day and total firm storage capacity exceeding
7,500,000 Dth at the facility. The location of the Jackson Prairie
facility in PSE’s market area provides significant cost savings by
reducing the amount of annual pipeline capacity required to meet
peak-day gas requirements. The Clay Basin storage facility is sup-
ply area storage and is utilized for withdrawals over the entire win-
ter, capturing savings due to injecting lower cost gas supplies
during the summer. After the release of capacity, PSE has maxi-
mum firm withdrawal capacity of over 64,000 Dth per day from the
facility with total storage capacity of almost 6,700,000 Dth. The
capacity is held under two contracts with remaining terms of 
11 and 17 years. PSE has capacity release contracts with multiple
parties at the Clay Basin storage facility with remaining terms rang-
ing from 3 to 15 months. PSE’s maximum firm withdrawal capacity
and total storage capacity at Clay Basin is over 110,000 Dth per day
and exceeds 13,000,000 Dth, respectively, when PSE has not
released any of the capacity. 

LNG and Propane-Air Resources
LNG and propane-air resources provide gas supply on

short notice for short periods of time. Due to their typically high
cost, these resources are normally utilized as the supply of last
resort in extreme peak-demand periods typically lasting a few hours
or days. PSE has long-term contracts for storage of approximately
240,000 Dth of PSE owned gas as LNG at NPC’s Plymouth facility,
which equates to approximately three and one-half days’ supply 
at maximum daily deliverability of 72,000 Dth. PSE owns storage
capacity for approximately 1.5 million gallons of propane. The
propane-air injection facilities are capable of delivering the equiva-
lent of 30,000 Dth of gas per day for up to four days directly into
PSE’s distribution system.

Capacity Release
FERC provided a capacity release mechanism as the

means for holders of firm pipeline and storage entitlements to tem-
porarily relinquish unutilized capacity to others in order to recoup
all or a portion of the cost of such capacity. Capacity may be
released through several methods including open bidding and by
pre-arrangement. PSE continues to successfully mitigate a portion
of the demand charges related to both storage and NPC pipeline
capacity not utilized during off-peak periods through capacity
release. WNG CAP I, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PSE, was
formed to provide additional flexibility and benefits from capacity
release. Capacity release benefits are passed on to customers
through the PGA. 

Energy Conservation
PSE offers programs designed to help new and existing

customers use energy efficiently. PSE uses a variety of mechanisms
including cost effective financial incentives, information and tech-
nical services to enable customers to make energy-efficient choices
with respect to building design, equipment and building systems,
appliance purchases and operating practices.

Since May 1997, PSE has recovered electric energy con-
servation expenditures through a tariff rider mechanism. The rider
mechanism allows PSE to defer the conservation expenditures and
amortize them to expense as PSE concurrently collects the conser-
vation expenditures in rates over a one-year period. As a result of
the rider, there is no effect on earnings. 

Since 1995, PSE has been authorized by the Washington
Commission to defer gas energy conservation expenditures and
recover them through a tariff tracker mechanism. The tracker mech-
anism allows PSE to defer conservation expenditures and recover
them in rates over the subsequent year. The tracker mechanism
also allows PSE to recover an Allowance for Funds Used to Con-
serve Energy (AFUCE) on any outstanding balance that is not being
recovered in rates.
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Environment
Puget Energy’s operations are subject to environmental

regulation by federal, state and local authorities. Due to the inher-
ent uncertainties surrounding the development of federal and state
environmental and energy laws and regulations, Puget Energy can-
not determine the impact such laws may have on its existing and
future facilities. (See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for further discussion of environmental sites.)

Regulation of Emissions
PSE has an ownership interest in coal-fired, steam-electric

generating plants at Colstrip, Montana, which are subject to regula-
tion of emissions and other regulatory requirements. PSE also owns
combustion turbine units in Western Washington, which are capa-
ble of being fueled by natural gas or diesel fuel. These combustion
turbines are operated to comply with emission limits set forth in
their respective air operating permits. 

There is no assurance that in the future environmental
regulations affecting sulfur dioxide, carbon monoxide, particulate
matter, or nitrogen oxide emissions may not be further restricted,
or that restrictions on greenhouse gas emissions, such as carbon
dioxide, or other combustion byproducts may not be imposed.

Federal Endangered Species Act
Since the 1991 listing of the Snake River Sockeye salmon

as an endangered species, one more species of salmon has been
listed and two more have been proposed which may further influ-
ence operations. Upper Columbia River Steelhead was listed by
National Marine Fisheries Service in August 1997. Anticipating the
Steelhead listing, the Mid-Columbia PUDs initiated consultation
with the federal and state agencies, Native American tribes and 

non-governmental organizations to secure operational protection
through a long-term settlement and habitat conservation plan
which includes fish protection and enhancement measurement for
the next 50 years. The negotiations have concluded among the
Chelan and Douglas County PUDs and various fishery agencies,
and final agreement is subject to a National Environmental Policy
Act review and power purchaser approval. Generally, the agree-
ment obligates the PUDs to achieve certain levels of passage effi-
ciency for downstream migrants at their hydroelectric facilities and
to fund certain habitat conservation measures. Grant County PUD
has yet to reach agreement on these issues.

The proposed listings of Puget Sound Chinook salmon
and spring Chinook salmon for the upper Columbia River were
approved in March 1999. The listing of spring Chinook salmon for
the upper Columbia River should not result in markedly differing
conditions for operations from previous listings in the area. 

The completed listings of Coastal/Puget Sound Distinct
Population Segment of Bull Trout in the fall of 1999 and Puget
Sound Chinook salmon in the winter of 2001 are causing a number
of changes to operations of governmental agencies and private
entities in the region, including PSE. These changes may adversely
affect hydro plant operations and permit issuance for facilities con-
struction, and increase costs for process and facilities. Because
PSE relies substantially less on hydroelectric energy from the Puget
Sound area than from the Mid-Columbia River and because the
impact on PSE operations in the Puget Sound area is not likely to
impair significant generating resources, the impact of listing for
Puget Sound Chinook salmon and Bull Trout, while potentially rep-
resenting cost exposure and operational constraints, should be pro-
portionately less than the effects of the Columbia River listings. PSE
is actively engaging the federal agencies to address Endangered
Species Act issues for PSE’s generating facilities. The consultation
with the federal agencies is ongoing.

Executive Officers of the Registrants
The executive officers of Puget Energy as of February 28, 2003 are listed below. For their business experience during the past five

years, please refer to the table below regarding Puget Sound Energy’s executive officers. Officers of Puget Energy are elected for one-year terms.

Name Age Offices

S. P. Reynolds 55 President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2002. Director since January 2002.

J. D. Durbin 67 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of InfrastruX since 2002; President and Chief Executive Officer of InfrastruX,
2000–2002.  Prior to joining InfrastruX, he was Executive Director of Emerge Corporation, 1999–2000; Principal in
Olympic Capital Partners, 1996–1999.

J. W. Eldredge 52 Corporate Secretary and Chief Accounting Officer since April 1999. 

D. E. Gaines 46 Vice President Finance and Treasurer since March 2002.

S. A. McKeon 57 Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer since January 2003; Senior Vice President Finance and
Legal and Chief Financial Officer, 2002; Vice President and General Counsel, 1999–2002.

J. L. O’Connor 46 Vice President and General Counsel since January 2003.
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The executive officers of Puget Sound Energy as of February 28, 2003 are listed below along with their business experience during
the past five years. Officers of Puget Sound Energy are elected for one-year terms.

Name Age Offices

S. P. Reynolds 55 President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2002; President and Chief Executive Officer of Reynolds
Energy International, 1998–2002; Chief Executive Officer of PG&E Gas Transmission Texas, 1997–1998; President
and Chief Executive Officer of Pacific Gas Transmission Company, 1987–1998. Director since January 2002.

D. P. Brady 39 Vice President Customer Services since February 2003; Director and Assistant to Chief Operating Officer,
2002–2003. Prior to joining PSE, he was Managing Director of Irvine Associates Merchant Banking Group
2001–2002; Executive Vice President—Operations of Orcom Solutions, 2000–2001; Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Orcom Solutions, 1999–2000.

J. W. Eldredge 52 Vice President, Corporate Secretary, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer since May 2001; Corporate Secretary,
Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer, 1993–2001. 

D. E. Gaines 46 Vice President Finance and Treasurer since March 2002; Vice President and Treasurer, 2001–2002; Treasurer,
1994–2001. Mr. Gaines is the brother of W. A. Gaines, Vice President Energy Supply.

W. A. Gaines 47 Vice President Energy Supply since February 1997. Mr. Gaines is the brother of D. E. Gaines, Vice President 
Finance and Treasurer.

D. A. Graham 62 Vice President Human Resources since April 1998; Director Human Resources, 1989–1998.

K. J. Harris 38 Vice President Governmental and Regulatory Relations since February 2003; Vice President Regulatory Affairs,
2002–2003; Director Load Resource Strategies and Associate General Counsel, 2001–2002; Associate General Coun-
sel, 1999–2001. For more than four years prior to that time, she was an attorney with the law firm of Perkins Coie LLP.

J. L. Henry 57 Senior Vice President Energy Efficiency and Customer Services since February 2003; Director of Major Accounts,
2001–2003; Director Construction and Technical Field Services 2000–2001; Director Major Projects, 1997–2000.

T. J. Hogan 51 Senior Vice President Regional Services and Community Affairs since February 2003; Senior Vice President Exter-
nal Affairs, 2002–2003; Vice President External Affairs, 2000–2002; Vice President Systems Operations, 1997–2000.

E. M. Markell 51 Senior Vice President Energy Resources since February 2003; Vice President Corporate Development, 2002–2003.
Prior to joining PSE, he was Chief Financial Officer, Club One, Inc., 2000–2002; Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, United American Energy Corp., 1990–2000.

S. A. McKeon 57 Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer since January 2003; Senior Vice President Finance and
Legal and Chief Financial Officer, 2002; Vice President and General Counsel, 1997–2002.

S. McLain 46 Senior Vice President Operations since Feburary 2003; Vice President Operations—Delivery, 1999–2003; Vice
President Corporate Performance, 1997–1999.

J. L. O’Connor 46 Vice President and General Counsel since January 2003. Prior to joining PSE, she was interim General Counsel,
Starbucks Corporation, 2002; Senior Vice President and Deputy General Counsel, Starbucks Corporation,
2001–2002; Vice President and Assistant General Counsel, Starbucks Corporation, 1998–2001.

J. M. Ryan 41 Vice President Energy Portfolio Management since December 2001. Prior to joining PSE, she was Managing Direc-
tor of North American Marketing of TransAlta USA, 2001; Managing Director Origination of Merchant Energy
Group of the Americas, Inc., 1997–2001.

G. B. Swofford 61 Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since March 2002; Vice President and Chief Operating Officer—
Delivery, 1999–2002; Vice President Customer Operations, 1997–1999.

P. M. Wiegand 50 Vice President Corporate Planning since February 2003; Vice President Corporate Planning and Performance,
2002–2003; Vice President Risk Management and Strategic Planning 2000–2002; Director of Budgets and 
Performance Management, 1999–2000; Director of Information Technology, 1997–1999.
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Item 2. 
Properties

The principal electric generating plants and underground
gas storage facilities owned by PSE are described under Item 1—
Business—Electric Supply and Gas Supply. PSE owns its transmis-
sion and distribution facilities and various other properties.
Substantially all properties of PSE are subject to the liens of PSE’s
Mortgage Indentures.

InfrastruX operates a fleet of vehicles and machines that
it uses in its utility construction business. Its fleet is comprised of
owned and leased trucks and other specialized equipment such as
backhoes, trenchers, boring machines, cranes and other equipment
required to perform its work. InfrastruX owns some of the facilities
out of which it operates and rents the remaining facilities.

Item 3. 
Legal Proceedings

See the section titled “Proceedings Relating to the West-
ern Power Market” under Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations” and the
“Litigation” section of Note 16 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Contingencies arising out of the normal course of the
Company’s business exist at December 31, 2002. The ultimate res-
olution of these issues is not expected to have a material adverse
impact on the financial condition, results of operations or liquidity
of the Company.

Item 4. 
Submission of Matters 
to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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Part II

Item 5. 
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters

Puget Energy’s common stock, the only class of common equity of Puget Energy, is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol PSD. As of December 31, 2002 there were approximately 45,200 holders of record of Puget Energy’s common stock.
The outstanding shares of PSE’s common stock, the only class of common equity of PSE, are held by Puget Energy and are not traded.

The following table shows the market price range of, and dividends paid on, Puget Energy’s common stock during the periods
indicated in 2002 and 2001. Puget Energy and its predecessor companies have paid dividends on common stock each year since 1943
when such stock first became publicly held. 

2002 2001

Price range Price range
Quarter ended High Low Dividends paid High Low Dividends paid

March 31 $23.60 $19.20 $0.46 $27.75 $20.63 $0.46
June 30 21.23 19.27 0.25 26.24 22.54 0.46
September 30 22.50 16.63 0.25 26.95 20.50 0.46
December 31 22.64 18.75 0.25 23.11 18.51 0.46

The amount and payment of future dividends will depend on Puget Energy’s financial condition, results of operations, capital
requirements and other factors deemed relevant by Puget Energy’s Board of Directors. The Board of Directors’ policy is anticipated to pay
out approximately 60% of normalized utility earnings in dividends.

Puget Energy’s primary source of funds for the payment of dividends to its shareholders is dividends received from PSE.
PSE’s payment of common stock dividends to Puget Energy is restricted by provisions of certain covenants applicable to preferred

stock and long-term debt contained in PSE’s Articles of Incorporation and electric and gas mortgage indentures. Under the most restrictive
covenants of PSE, earnings reinvested in the business unrestricted as to payment of cash dividends were approximately $202.7 million at
December 31, 2002. 

Item 6. 
Selected Financial Data

The following tables show selected financial data. Puget Energy became the holding company for PSE on January 1, 2001 pursuant
to a plan of exchange in which each share of PSE common stock was exchanged on a one-for-one basis for Puget Energy common stock.

Puget Energy
Summary of Operations

Dollars in thousands except per share data
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Operating revenue $2,392,322 $2,886,560 $3,302,296 $2,067,944 $1,923,856
Operating income 309,669 297,121 363,872 307,816 295,098
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 117,883 121,588 193,831 185,567 169,612
Income for common stock from continuing operations 110,052 98,426 184,837 174,502 156,609
Basic and diluted earnings per common share 

from continuing operations 1.24 1.14 2.16 2.06 1.85
Dividends per common share 1.21 1.84 1.84 1.84 1.84
Book value per common share 16.27 15.66 16.61 16.24 16.00
Total assets at year-end $5,657,491 $5,546,977 $5,556,669 $5,145,606 $4,709,687
Long-term obligations 2,149,733 2,127,054 2,170,797 1,783,139 1,475,106
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 95,075
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662 58,162 65,662 73,162
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable 

preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely
junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
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Item 7. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto
included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. The discus-
sion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties, such as Puget Energy’s and PSE’s objectives, expec-
tations and intentions. Puget Energy’s and PSE’s actual results
could differ materially from results that may be anticipated by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute
to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed
in the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” included
elsewhere in this report. Words or phrases such as “anticipates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “plans,” “predicts,” “projects,”
“will likely result,” “will continue” and similar expressions are
intended to identify certain of these forward-looking statements.
However, these words are not the exclusive means of identifying
such statements. In addition, any statements that refer to expecta-
tions, projections or other characterizations of future events or cir-
cumstances are forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on these forward–looking statements,
which speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required
by law, neither Puget Energy nor PSE undertakes an obligation to
revise any forward-looking statements in order to reflect events or
circumstances that may subsequently arise. Readers are urged to
carefully review and consider the various disclosures made in this
report and in Puget Energy’s and PSE’s other reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission that attempt to advise inter-
ested parties of the risks and factors that may affect Puget Energy’s
and PSE’s business, prospects and results of operations.

Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations
Puget Energy
Net income in 2002 was $117.9 million on operating rev-

enues of $2.4 billion, compared to $106.8 million on operating rev-
enues of $2.9 billion in 2001 and $193.8 million on operating
revenues of $3.3 billion in 2000. Income for common stock was
$110.1 million in 2002, compared to $98.4 million in 2001 and
$184.8 million in 2000.

Basic and diluted earnings per share in 2002 were $1.24
on 88.4 million weighted average common shares outstanding com-
pared to $1.14 on 86.4 million weighted average common shares
outstanding in 2001 and $2.16 on 85.4 million weighted average
common shares outstanding in 2000. 

Net income in 2002 was positively impacted by an increase
in utility net income of $23.9 million from 2001 due to increased 
electric and gas margins resulting from general tariff rate increases.
In addition, net income was positively impacted by $10.9 million of 
one-time federal tax refunds in 2002. Net income in 2002 was nega-
tively impacted by a decrease in non-utility net income of $19.8 mil-
lion primarily due to a decline in property sales from 2001 at PSE’s
real estate investment and development subsidiary, Puget Western,
Inc., and a $8.0 million gain on PSE’s sale of the assets in its ConneXt
subsidiary in August 2001. This was partially offset by an increase of
$6.9 million in net income at InfrastruX.

Total kilowatt-hour energy sales to retail consumers 
in 2002 were 19.3 billion compared with 19.9 billion in 2001 and
21.9 billion in 2000. Kilowatt-hour sales to wholesale customers
were 3.5 billion in 2002, 5.0 billion in 2001 and 14.2 billion in 2000.
Kilowatt-hours transported to transportation customers under a new
tariff established in 2001 were 2.3 billion in 2002 and 364 million in
2001. Kilowatt-hours transported to transportation customers under
a terminated pilot program were 164 thousand in 2000.

Total gas sales to retail consumers in 2002 were 839.6 mil-
lion therms compared with 850.4 million therms in 2001 and 
890.5 million therms in 2000. Total gas sales to transportation cus-
tomers in 2002 were 207.9 million therms compared with 188.2 mil-
lion therms in 2001 and 204.0 million therms in 2000.

Puget Sound Energy
Summary of Operations

Dollars in thousands
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Operating revenue $2,072,793 $2,712,774 $3,302,296 $2,067,944 $1,923,856
Operating income 294,593 288,480 363,872 307,816 295,098
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 108,948 119,130 193,831 185,567 169,612
Income for common stock from continuing operations 101,117 95,968 184,837 174,502 156,609
Total assets at year-end $5,338,748 $5,317,750 $5,556,669 $5,145,606 $4,709,687
Long-term obligations 2,021,832 2,053,815 2,170,797 1,783,139 1,475,106
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 95,075
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662 58,162 65,662 73,162
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable 

preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely 
junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
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Results of Operation of Puget Energy

Increase (decrease) over preceding year
Years ended December 31
Dollars in millions 2002 2001

Operating revenue changes:
Electric interim rate increase $ 25.0 $ —
Electric general rate increases 32.0 12.5
BPA residential exchange credit (49.7) 11.2
Electric sales to other utilities and marketers (443.2) (587.0)
Electric revenue sold at index rates to retail customers (183.9) (82.4)
Electric conservation trust credit 18.3 4.4
Electric transportation revenue 13.0 2.5
Optimization sales and purchases to other utilities (2.5) 11.0
Electric conservation incentive credit — (19.5)
Electric load and other 91.7 (119.8)

Total electric operating change (499.3) (767.1)
Gas retail revenue change (131.7) 203.8
Gas general rate increase 11.8 —
Gas transportation revenue and other 2.0 (1.1)

Total gas operating change (117.9) 202.7
InfrastruX revenue 145.7 128.8
Other revenue (22.7) 19.8

Total other operating revenue change 123.0 148.6
Total operating revenue change (494.2) (415.8)

Operating expense changes:
Energy costs:

Purchased electricity (273.3) (708.6)
Residential exchange credit (74.1) (34.8)
Purchased gas (132.4) 204.5
Fuel (167.9) 98.4
Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivative instruments (0.4) (11.2)

Utility operations and maintenance:
Production operations and maintenance 2.3 2.8
Personal energy management expenses (5.9) 11.1
Low income program pass through expenses 3.8 —
Other utility operations and maintenance 20.2 11.8

InfrastruX operations and maintenance 122.6 106.6
Other operations and maintenance (6.2) (10.5)
Depreciation and amortization 11.2 21.0
Conservation amortization 11.0 (0.3)
Taxes other than income taxes 2.8 10.2
Income taxes (20.5) (50.0)

Total operating expense change (506.8) (349.0)
Other income change (net of tax) (9.1) 9.5
Interest charges change 6.3 15.0
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated subsidiary change 0.9 —
Cumulative effect of implementation of accounting change (net of tax) (14.7) 14.7
Net income change $ 11.0 $ (87.0)

The following information pertains to the changes outlined in the table above:
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Puget Sound Energy 
2002 Compared to 2001
Operating Revenues—Electric Electric operating revenues

decreased $499.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily
to a decrease of $443.2 million in wholesale electric sales to other
utilities and marketers due to lower surplus volumes and substan-
tially lower prices in the wholesale electricity market. Wholesale
sales volumes decreased by 1.5 billion kWh or 30.4%. Retail sales
revenue decreased 7.7% primarily as a result of industrial and com-
mercial customers on market index rates switching to transporta-
tion rate tariffs beginning in July 2001, as allowed by a Washington
Commission order dated April 5, 2001, authorizing the establish-
ment of a new electric transportation rate tariff. The decrease was
offset by an interim electric rate surcharge in effect during the
period April 1, 2002 through June 30, 2002, which increased elec-
tric revenue by $25 million and a 4.6% electric general rate increase
effective July 1, 2002, which increased electric revenue by approx-
imately $32 million in 2002. Transportation revenues increased
$13.0 million and volume increased 1.9 billion kWh in 2002.

To meet customer demand, PSE dispatches resources in
its power supply portfolio such as fossil-fuel generation, owned and
contracted hydro capacity and energy, and long-term contracted
power. However, depending principally upon availability of hydro-
electric energy, plant availability, fuel prices and/or changing load
as a result of weather, PSE may sell surplus power or purchase
deficit power in the wholesale market. PSE manages its core
energy portfolio through short and intermediate-term off-system
physical purchases and sales, and through other risk management
techniques. PSE’s Risk Management Committee oversees energy
price risk matters. 

PSE operates its combustion turbine plants located in
Western Washington primarily as peaking plants when it is cost-
effective to do so. During 2001, PSE had operated its combustion
turbine plants extensively to meet both on-system and regional load
requirements largely due to adverse hydroelectric conditions in the
Pacific Northwest. For 2002, PSE did not operate the combustion
turbines to the extent it did in 2001 since market prices did not sup-
port the dispatching of these units, and PSE could serve its cus-
tomers with lower cost resources. As a result, sales to other utilities
and marketers declined in 2002 due to low wholesale energy prices
and the reduction in operations of the combustion turbines. 

On June 20, 2002, the Washington Commission approved
and adopted the settlement stipulation in the general rate case, put-
ting new rates into effect on July 1, 2002. PSE established a PCA
mechanism in the rate case settlement. The PCA mechanism will
account for differences in PSE’s modified actual power costs rela-
tive to a power cost baseline. The mechanism would account for a
sharing of costs and benefits that are graduated over four levels of
power cost variances, with an overall cap of $40 million (+/-) over
the four year period July 1, 2002 through June 30, 2006. PSE’s
share of the cost through December 31, 2002 was $5.2 million. The
factors influencing the variability of power costs included in the 

proposal are primarily weather or market related. PSE will be
allowed to file for rate increases to implement limited power supply
cost increases related to new resources.

On June 13, 2001, the Washington Commission approved
an amended Residential Purchase and Sale Agreement between
PSE and the BPA, under which PSE’s residential and small farm cus-
tomers would continue to receive benefits of federal power. Com-
pletion of this agreement enabled PSE to continue to provide, and in
fact increase, effective January 1, 2002, the Residential and Farm
Energy Exchange Credit to residential and small farm customers.
The amended settlement agreement provides that, for its residential
and small farm customers, PSE will receive (a) cash payment bene-
fits during the period July 1, 2001 through September 30, 2006 and
(b) benefits in the form of power or cash payments during the period
October 1, 2006 through September 30, 2011. On June 17, 2002
PSE entered into an agreement with the BPA which amended the
payment provisions of the Amended Settlement Agreement to pro-
vide for conditional deferral of payment by BPA of certain amounts
to be paid under the original agreement. 

To implement this agreement for rate purposes, the
Washington Commission approved tariff revisions that were 
intended (a) to transfer the Residential and Farm Energy Exchange
credit in effect since October 1, 1995 in the amount of $0.01085 
per kWh, to general rates effective July 1, 2001 and (b) to provide 
a supplemental Residential and Farm Exchange credit for eligible
residential and small farm customers. On June 26, 2002, the Wash-
ington Commission then transferred the portion of the credit that
had been in general rates back into Schedule 194. 

The Residential and Farm Exchange Benefit Supplemental
Rider schedule was retitled Residential and Farm Energy Exchange
Benefit, the portion of the credit that had been in general rates was
transferred back into Schedule 194, and the credit was set at
$0.01456 per kWh for the period July 1, 2002 through September 30,
2002, $0.01817 per kWh for the period October 1, 2002 through
May 31, 2006 and $0.02302 per kWh for the period June 1, 2006
through September 30, 2006. The approval of these revised tariffs
by the Washington Commission was effective July 1, 2002. 

In January 2003, PSE filed tariff sheets with the Washing-
ton Commission to reflect a modification to the agreement between
PSE and the BPA that would reduce the Residential and Farm
Energy Exchange Benefit credit. Under the modified agreement,
BPA will defer paying a portion of the benefits it would have other-
wise paid. The amount of benefits deferred will be $3.5 million each
month for the eight-month period beginning February 2003, for a
total deferral of $27.7 million. Contemporaneously with entering into
this agreement with PSE, BPA is entering into other agreements
similar to the agreement with PSE through which other investor-
owned utilities and BPA are agreeing to BPA’s deferral of payments
in their fiscal year 2003. The total cumulative amount to be deferred
under the agreement with PSE and other such agreements equals
$55 million, an amount that will help BPA address its current finan-
cial difficulties. Absent certain adjustments, BPA will begin paying
back the amount deferred with interest over the sixty-month period
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beginning November 2006. The Washington Commission approved
the tariff changes and the Rider credit was changed to $0.01740 
for the period February 15, 2003 through September 30, 2006. 

BPA’s rate case may affect the level of residential
exchange benefits for PSE’s customers. For 2002, the benefits of
the Residential and Farm Energy Exchange credited to customers
were $152.8 million with a related offset to power costs. PSE
received payments from BPA in the amount of $171.2 million dur-
ing 2002. The difference between the customers’ credit and the
amount received from BPA is deferred and will be credited to cus-
tomers in later periods. The difference is recorded on PSE’s balance
sheet as restricted cash. The modified Agreement will provide for
payments from BPA in the amount of $630.6 million for the period
January 2003 through September 2006 and for pass-through to 
eligible residential and farm customers of the same amount.

There are several actions in the Ninth Circuit Court of
Appeals against BPA, in which the petitioners assert that BPA acted
contrary to law or without authority in deciding to enter into, or in
entering into or performing, a number of contracts, including the
contract between BPA and the Company described above. BPA
rates used in such contract between BPA and the Company for
determining the amounts of money to be paid to the Company dur-
ing the period October 1, 2001 through September 30, 2006 have
been confirmed, approved and allowed to go into effect by FERC
on an interim basis, subject to refund with interest. It is not clear
what impact, if any, review of such rates and the above-described
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals actions may have on the Company.

In 2002, PSE collected and remitted to a grantor trust
$12.7 million as a result of PSE’s sale of future electric revenues
associated with its investment in conservation assets in its elec-
tric general rate tariff. The impact of the sale of revenue was off-
set by reductions in conservation amortization and interest
expenses. The principal amounts owed by the trust to its bond-
holders was $18.9 million December 31, 2002.

Operating Revenues—Gas Regulated gas utility revenues in
2002 compared to 2001 decreased by $117.9 million due primarily
to PGA rates decreases, as a result of lower natural gas prices that
are passed through to customers. Gas delivered for transportation
customers increased $1.1 million or 19.7 million therms in 2002.

On August 29, 2001, the Washington Commission
approved a decrease in PSE’s natural gas rates of 8.9% due to
lower natural gas costs purchased for customers under terms of the
PGA mechanism effective September 1, 2001. Also, on May 24,
2002, the Washington Commission allowed a decrease in PGA
rates of 21.2% to become effective on June 1, 2002. This ended a
temporary surcharge that went into effect September 1, 2001. The
PGA mechanism passes through to customers increases or
decreases in the gas supply portion of the natural gas service rates
based upon changes in the price of natural gas purchased from
producers and wholesale marketers or changes in gas pipeline
transportation costs. PSE’s gas margin and net income are not
affected by changes under the PGA.

On August 28, 2002, the Washington Commission
approved a 5.8% gas service rate increase in revenue to cover
higher costs of providing natural gas service to customers. This
service-related increase in revenues of approximately $35.6 million
annually was offset by an annual $45 million or 7.3% PGA rate
reduction, also approved on August 28, 2002. Both rate actions
became effective September 1, 2002.

On September 30, 2002, PSE filed a proposal with the
Washington Commission to reduce natural gas supply rates under
the PGA for a third time in 2002. The Washington Commission
approved the proposal on October 30, 2002 and PSE lowered gas
rates through the PGA by approximately 12.5% effective Novem-
ber 1, 2002.

Other Revenues Other operating revenues decreased
$22.7 million primarily due to a $22.9 million decrease in the gross
margin on property sales from PSE’s real estate investment and
development subsidiary, Puget Western, Inc. 

Operating Expenses Purchased electricity expenses decreased
$273.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due to the dramatic
decline of wholesale electricity prices since June 2001 and an 
83-day unplanned outage of one of PSE’s 104 MW combustion tur-
bine electric generating units located at its Fredonia generating sta-
tion from February 21, 2001 to May 14, 2001, resulting in higher
purchased electricity costs during 2001. In addition, the historic low
hydroelectric power generation conditions experienced in 2001 in a
high priced wholesale market forced PSE to purchase additional
energy during that period to meet retail electric customer loads. 

PSE’s hydroelectric production and related power costs in
2003 are expected to be impacted negatively by drought conditions
in the Pacific Northwest region associated with El Nino weather
conditions. The Northwest Rivers Forecast Center on February 6,
2003 predicted that streamflows in the Columbia River Basin above
Grand Coulee Dam would be only 76 percent of normal. In a normal
water year, PSE obtains about 38 percent of its energy supply from
low-cost hydroelectric facilities, primarily from dams below Grand
Coulee on the Columbia River. If the forecasted streamflow reduc-
tions occur, PSE will need to replace that low-cost hydropower with
more expensive thermally-generated and purchased power. PSE’s
share of the power costs through December 31, 2002 was $5.2 mil-
lion. Because of adverse hydro conditions in 2003, PSE anticipates
reaching the $40 million cumulative cap under the PCA mechanism
by the fourth quarter of 2003. Under the PCA mechanism, further
increases in variable power costs through June 30, 2006 would be
apportioned 99% to customers and 1% to PSE.

Residential exchange credits associated with the Residen-
tial Purchase and Sale Agreement with BPA increased $74.1 million
in 2002 compared to 2001 due to the amended Residential Purchase
and Sale Agreement between PSE and BPA as discussed in Operat-
ing Revenues—Electric reflecting increased benefits passed on to
residential and small farm customers. As of July 2001, all residential
exchange credits are passed through to eligible residential and small
farm customers by a corresponding reduction in revenues. 
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Purchased gas expenses decreased $132.4 million in 2002
compared to 2001 primarily due to the impact of decreased gas
costs, which are passed through to customers through the PGA
mechanism, offset by a 1% increase in sales volumes. The PGA
allows PSE to recover expected gas costs. PSE defers, as a receiv-
able or liability, any gas costs that exceed or fall short of the amount
in PGA rates and accrues interest under the PGA. The PGA balance
was a receivable at December 31, 2001 of $37.2 million while the
balance at December 31, 2002 was a liability of $83.8 million.

Electric generation fuel expense decreased $167.9 million
in 2002 compared to 2001 as a result of decreased generation costs
at PSE-controlled combustion turbine facilities and lower wholesale
energy prices. These facilities operated at much higher levels dur-
ing 2001 compared to 2002 to meet retail electric customer loads
due to adverse hydroelectric conditions in 2001.

Unrealized gains/losses on derivative instruments during
2002 resulted in a decrease in expense of $0.4 million pre-tax 
($0.3 million after-tax). The unrealized gains and losses recorded in
the income statement are the result of the change in the market
value of derivative instruments not meeting cash flow hedge crite-
ria. In addition, SFAS 133 was adopted on January 1, 2001, and as
a result, a one-time $14.7 million after-tax transition loss was
recorded in 2001 from recognizing the cumulative effect of this
change in accounting principle. (For further discussion see Note 17).

Production operations and maintenance costs increased
$2.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily to a $2.0 mil-
lion pre-tax charge related to an industrial accident at Colstrip units
1 and 2, of which PSE is a 50% owner, overall higher operating
costs for the Colstrip generating facilities and the settlement of a
combustion turbine insurance claim.

PSE’s Personal Energy ManagementTM energy-efficiency
program costs decreased $5.9 million in 2002 compared to 2001,
reflecting a decreased emphasis on the program in light of relatively
moderate energy prices and cancellation of the Time of Use pro-
gram in November 2002.

A new Low-income Program approved by the Washington
Commission in the general rate case settlement began in July 2002
which resulted in increased costs of $3.8 million in 2002 compared
to 2001. These costs are fully recovered in retail rates beginning at the
program’s inception on July 1, 2002 for electric and September 1,
2002 for gas. 

Other utility operations and maintenance costs increased
$20.2 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily to higher
expense related to a one-time PSE employee severance cost total-
ing $4.2 million related to strategic outsourcing of operations work
to service providers, and an overall increase in administrative and
meter reading expenses. Also included in the results is pension
income related to PSE’s defined benefit pension plan for SFAS 
No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”. Pension and benefit
costs are allocated between capital and operations and maintenance
expenses based on the distribution of labor costs in accordance with
FERC accounting instructions. As a result, approximately 65.9% 
of the annual qualified pension income of $17.7 million for 2002 was

recorded as a reduction in operation and maintenance expense
compared to 58% of $20.0 million for 2001. Qualified pension
income is expected to decline to $9.6 million in 2003 as a result of
lower actual returns on pension assets during the last three years
and declining expected rates of return on pension fund assets. 

PSE’s other operations and maintenance expenses
decreased $6.2 million in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to
a decrease in operating expenses at ConneXt, the assets of which
were sold in the third quarter of 2001.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $11.2 mil-
lion in 2002 compared to 2001, of which $6.6 million is due pri-
marily to the effects of additional plant placed into service at
PSE during 2002. 

Conservation amortization increased $11.0 million in 2002
compared to 2001 due to increased conservation expenditures.
These costs are recovered in conservation rider and tracker mech-
anisms with no impact to earnings.

Taxes other than income taxes increased $2.8 million, of
which PSE’s decreased $5.0 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due
primarily to a decrease in revenue based Washington State excise
tax and municipal tax. This is offset by a municipal tax expense of
$1.7 million recorded in 2002 related to various claims by cities that
PSE underpaid municipal taxes owed as a result of not collecting
the tax in certain rural areas that were annexed by cities. The offset
also includes a one-time property tax expense of $5.2 million cov-
ering a six year period ending June 30, 2001, related to State of
Oregon property tax bills on PSE’s long-term Third AC Transmission
Intertie contract.

Income taxes decreased $20.5 million in 2002 compared
to 2001, of which PSE’s income taxes decreased by $24.1 million.
The decrease in 2002 includes a total of $10.3 million in one-time
refunds at PSE of which $4.7 million was recorded in the second
quarter of 2002 related to the audit of the Company’s 1998 and
1999 federal income tax returns. Of this amount, $4.1 million
reduced current tax expense and the balance, $0.6 million, was
recorded as a deferred income tax liability. The decrease at PSE also
includes a $3.5 million reduction to expense representing an adjust-
ment to 2001 federal income tax based on the 2001 federal tax
return filed in the third quarter of 2002. The decrease in 2002 also
includes flow-through benefits reducing federal income taxes of
$2.7 million recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 related to a
refund of federal income taxes for 2000.

Other Income Other income, net of federal income tax,
decreased $9.1 million in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily to
a one-time $8.0 million after-tax gain realized by PSE on the sale of
ConneXt’s assets in the third quarter of 2001.

Interest Charges Interest charges, which consist of interest
and amortization on long-term debt and other interest, increased
$6.3 million in 2002 compared to 2001 of which PSE’s increased
$4.4 million as a result primarily of a full year’s interest expense on
the issuance of $200 million 8.40% Trust Preferred Securities in
May 2001. Other interest expense increased due primarily to a PGA
liability (over-recovery of gas costs in rates) in 2002 compared to a
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PGA asset (under-recovery of gas costs in rates) in 2001. Under the
PGA mechanism, interest is accrued on deferred balances.

InfrastruX 
2002 Compared to 2001 
InfrastruX revenue increased $145.7 million in 2002

compared to 2001 due primarily to acquisitions of several com-
panies during 2001 and 2002, which contributed to an increase of
$126.0 million. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, InfrastruX
revenue increased $18.7 million from 2001 and was impacted
positively by ice storm restoration work performed in Oklahoma
by InfrastruX’s Texas companies and continued strong perform-
ance of remediation services in the utility industry. InfrastruX
records revenues as services are performed or on a percent of
completion basis for fixed price projects.

InfrastruX operation and maintenance expenses increased
$122.6 million in 2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to acquisi-
tions during 2001 and 2002, which contributed to an increase of
$103.8 million. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, InfrastruX oper-
ation and maintenance expenses increased $18.9 million from 2001
and were impacted by the increase of corporate infrastructure to
support a growing organization, additional costs of direct wages,
construction costs and higher insurance costs incurred to support
an increased revenue base. 

Depreciation and amortization increased by $4.6 million in
2002 compared to 2001 due to acquisitions during 2001 and 2000,
which contributed $3.5 million. Increases in depreciation of $1.1 mil-
lion from core companies were due primarily to the acquisition of
strategic assets to support areas of the company where significant
growth opportunities exist.

Taxes other than income taxes increased $7.8 million in
2002 compared to 2001 primarily due to a $7.3 million increase in
payroll tax resulting from an increased workforce as acquisitions
have been completed. 

Income taxes increased $3.7 million in 2002 compared to
2001 due primarily to the acquisition of companies acquired during
2001 and 2002. Acquired companies accounted for an increase of
$5.8 million offset by a reduction in the effective tax rate due to cer-
tain non-deductible or partially deductible items.

Interest charges increased $1.9 million in 2002 compared
to 2001 due to an increase in the amount drawn on its revolving
credit facilities primarily used for funding acquisitions.

Other income increased $2.7 million in 2002 compared to
2001 due primarily to implementation of SFAS No. 142 which
ceased amortization of goodwill. Goodwill amortization expense in
2001 was $2.8 million. 

Puget Sound Energy 
2001 Compared to 2000
Operating Revenues—Electric Electric operating revenues

decreased $767.1 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to an
overall average 0.9% general rate increase effective January 1,
2001 offset by sales to other utilities and marketers which
decreased $587.0 million in 2001 due primarily to lower wholesale
power volumes of 9.3 billion kWh and lower surplus capacity.

Electric revenues in 2001 decreased due to lower regu-
lated sales to customers, decreased prices and kilowatt-hours sold
related to electric energy sales to other utilities and marketers and
lower prices on market-index sales. This latter group of customers
can choose another supplier or self-generate their energy needs.
Several index rate customers switched to transportation rate tariffs
beginning in July 2001 as allowed by a Washington Commission
order dated April 5, 2001 authorizing the establishment of a trans-
portation tariff. On June 19, 2001, FERC implemented price con-
trols on wholesale electricity in the western states. Several factors
contributed to the dramatic decline in wholesale electric prices by
the end of the second quarter of 2001 and, therefore, greatly dimin-
ished the value of PSE’s excess electric energy during that period
and into the foreseeable future. PSE and other western utilities filed
an appeal asking FERC to review its June 19, 2001 order and make
modifications to the price controls to stabilize wholesale prices in
California and prevent the energy problems from spreading to other
states. On December 19, 2001, FERC issued an order on clarifica-
tion and rehearing addressing, in part, PSE’s petition for rehearing
on the June 19, 2001 order. PSE and other entities have sought fur-
ther rehearing and clarification of the December 19, 2001 order. 

Electric revenues were reduced by approximately 
$19.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 related to a customer con-
servation incentive credit which was approved by the Washington
Commission on April 25, 2001. The conservation incentive credit
was to reduce customers’ bills by $0.05 per kWh for each kWh
reduction in excess of 10% from the same billing period in the prior
year through December 31, 2001. On November 7, 2001, the
Washington Commission approved PSE’s request to terminate the
conservation incentive credit program effective November 8, 2001.

Revenues from electric customers in 2001 were reduced
by a Residential and Farm Energy Exchange credit tariff in place
since October 1, 1995. Under the rate plan approved by the Wash-
ington Commission in its merger order, PSE reflected in customers’
bills the level of Residential Exchange benefits in place at the time
of the merger with Washington Energy Company in 1997. On Jan-
uary 29, 1997, PSE and BPA signed an agreement under which PSE
received payments from BPA of approximately $235 million over an
approximate five-year period that ended June 2001. These payments
were recorded as a reduction of purchased electricity expenses. As
a result of lower usage by residential and farm customers in 2001,
the residential and farm exchange credit decreased by $11.2 million
as compared to 2000. For calendar 2001, the benefits of the Resi-
dential and Farm Energy Exchange credited to customers was
$103.1 million as compared to an offsetting reduction in Purchased
Electricity Expense of $75.9 million. Eligible residential and small
farm customers received credits to their bills in the same amount. 

In 2001, PSE collected and remitted to two grantor trusts
$31.0 million as a result of PSE’s sale of future electric revenues
associated with its investment in conservation assets in its electric
general rate tariff. The impact of the sale of revenue was offset by
reductions in conservation amortization and interest expenses. The
principal amounts owed by the trusts to its bondholders were
$31.8 million at December 31, 2001.
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On  April 15, 2001, the Washington Commission issued
an order allowing PSE’s large industrial customers whose rates
were linked to a market index to choose their supplier of electricity
or to self-generate. If an industrial customer chooses an alternate
supplier, PSE will provide the transportation of electricity to the cus-
tomer’s premises and charge that customer for the service.

Operating Revenues—Gas Regulated gas utility sales rev-
enue in 2001 compared to 2000 increased by $202.7 million from
the prior year due primarily to higher natural gas prices which are
passed through to customers in the PGA. Total gas volumes, includ-
ing transported gas, decreased 5.1% in 2001 from 2000. Trans-
portation and other revenue decreased $1.1 million or 15.8 million
therms as industrial customers curtailed usage due to higher natu-
ral gas prices and water heater rental revenue declined.

Other Revenues Other revenues increased $19.8 million in
2001 compared to 2000 due primarily to increased gross margins
on property sales at PSE’s real estate investment and development
subsidiary Puget Western, Inc.

Operating Expenses Purchased electricity expenses decreased
$708.6 million in 2001 compared to 2000. The decrease in 2001
was due primarily to lower volumes and significantly lower prices
for non-firm power purchases from other utilities and marketers
due to declining prices in the West Coast power market beginning
in the second half of 2001.

Residential exchange credits associated with the Residen-
tial Purchase and Sale Agreement with BPA increased $34.8 million
in 2001 compared to 2000 due to the terms set out in the 1997 Res-
idential Exchange Termination Agreement and the 2001 Residential
Purchase and Sale Agreement between PSE and BPA discussed in
Operating Revenues—Electric. Beginning July 2001, all residential
exchange credits are passed through to eligible residential and small
farm customers by a corresponding reduction in revenues. 

Purchased gas expenses increased $204.5 million in 2001
compared to 2000 primarily due to the impact of increased gas
costs, which are passed through to customers through the PGA
mechanism, offset by a 5.1% decrease in sales volumes.

Electric generation fuel expense increased $98.4 million in
2001 compared to 2000 as a result of increased generation and
higher fuel costs at combustion turbine facilities. These facilities
operated at much higher levels in 2001 compared to the same
period in 2000 due to adverse hydroelectric conditions.

Unrealized gains/losses on derivative instruments—
During 2001, an increase to operating earnings of approximately
$11.2 million pre-tax ($7.3 million after-tax) was recognized for
unrealized gains associated with electric derivative transactions and
a $14.7 million after-tax transition adjustment loss was recorded
from recognizing the cumulative effect of this change in account-
ing principle. (For further discussion see Note 17.)

Production operations and maintenance costs increased
$2.8 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due primarily to an approx-
imately $2.1 million increase in lease costs associated with PSE’s
Fredonia 3 and 4 electric generation units offset by reduced oper-
ating costs resulting from the sale of the Centralia generating sta-
tion in May 2000 and a net cost of $2.9 million after estimated

insurance recovery to repair the PSE-owned Fredonia combustion
turbine unit #1, which was out of service from February 21, 2001
through May 14, 2001. 

PSE’s Personal Energy ManagementTM energy-efficiency
program costs increased $11.1 million in 2001, reflecting a full year
of implementation compared to 2000. PSE began providing Per-
sonal Energy ManagementTM billing information to electric cus-
tomers in December 2000. 

Other utility operations and maintenance costs increased
$11.8 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due primarily to repair
costs associated with storm and earthquake damage in 2001,
increased meter reading expenses associated with providing Per-
sonal Energy Management,TM and a one-time insurance recovery
received in 2000.

PSE’s other operations and maintenance expenses
decreased $10.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 primarily due to
a decrease in operating expenses at ConneXt, the assets of which
were sold in the third quarter of 2001. 

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased 
$21.0 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to the effects of new
plant placed into service during 2001, including ConsumerLinX, a
customer information and billing system, which was placed into
service in phases through late 2000 and early 2001.

Taxes other than income taxes increased $10.2 million in
2001 of which $5.0 million was attributed to PSE as a result of
increases in municipal taxes and state excise taxes that are rev-
enue based.

Income taxes decreased by $50.0 million in 2001 of which
$52.9 million was attributed to PSE due to lower revenues and
lower wholesale prices in the second half of the year.

Other Income Other income, net of federal income tax,
increased $9.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due primarily to
$11.8 million of reserves established in 2000 for a write-down to
the fair values of certain assets held for sale by Hydro Energy
Development Corp. to their net realizable values not recurring in
2001, $4.8 million of other income realized by Puget Western, Inc.
on investments in 2000 not recurring in 2001, $7.4 million of
increase in other income of ConneXt primarily from sales of assets
in 2001, offset by reductions in other income in 2001 for additional
amortization of goodwill from acquisitions by InfrastruX, officer
incentive compensation accruals, and decreased other interest and
dividend income.

Interest Charges Interest charges, which consist of interest
and amortization on long-term debt and other interest, increased
$15.0 million in 2001, of which $11.3 million at PSE was attributed
to a full year’s interest expense on the issuance of $25 million
7.61% Senior Medium-Term Notes, Series B in September 2000 and
the issuance of $260 million 7.69% Senior Medium-Term Notes,
Series C, in November 2000. In addition, interest was incurred on
the issuance of $200 million 8.4% Trust Preferred Securities in May
2001. Other interest expense decreased $16.9 million compared to
2000 as a result of lower weighted average interest rates and lower
average daily short-term borrowings.
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InfrastruX 
2001 Compared to 2000
InfrastruX revenue increased $128.8 million in 2001 compared to 2000. InfrastruX was formed in June 2000 and completed two

acquisitions late in the third quarter of 2000. An additional six companies were acquired in 2001.
InfrastruX operation and maintenance expenses increased $106.6 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to limited operations in

2000 compared to a full year of operations and significant acquisition activity in 2001. 
Depreciation and amortization increased $6.6 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to the completion of six acquisitions in 2001. 
Income taxes increased $2.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to the profitability of companies acquired during 2000 and 2001. 
Interest charges increased $3.5 million in 2001 compared to 2000 due to an increase in the amount drawn on its revolving credit

facilities primarily used for funding acquisitions.

Capital Resources and Liquidity 
Capital Requirements 
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments 
Puget Energy The following are Puget Energy’s aggregate consolidated (including PSE) contractual and commercial commitments

as of December 31, 2002:

Puget Energy
Contractual obligations Payments due per period
Dollars in millions Total 2003 2004–2005 2006–2007 2008 and thereafter

Long-term debt $2,223.0 $ 73.2 $ 297.4 $ 216.0 $1,636.4
Short-term debt 47.3 47.3 — — —
Trust preferred securities1 300.0 — — — 300.0
Preferred dividends2 1.1 1.1 — — —
Service contract obligations 190.2 19.4 40.7 43.4 86.7
Capital lease obligations 8.3 2.0 3.2 2.2 0.9
Non-cancelable operating leases 66.1 18.2 23.8 14.6 9.5
Fredonia combustion turbines lease3 77.4 5.0 9.7 9.4 53.3
Energy purchase obligations 4,603.8 849.6 951.1 827.9 1,975.2
Financial hedge obligations (21.5) (6.3) (7.6) (6.3) (1.3)

Total contractual cash obligations $7,495.7 $1,009.5 $1,318.3 $1,107.2 $4,060.7

Commercial commitments Amount of commitment expiration per period
Dollars in millions Total 2003 2004–2005 2006–2007 2008 and thereafter

Guarantees4 $127.0 $ — $127.0 — —
Liquidity facilities—available5 369.7 219.7 150.0 — —
Lines of credit—available6 35.8 12.8 23.0 — —
Energy operations letter of credit7 0.5 0.5 — — —

Total commercial commitments $533.0 $233.0 $300.0 — —
1 In 1997 and 2001, PSE formed Puget Sound Energy Capital Trust I and Puget Sound Energy Capital Trust II, respectively, for the sole purpose of issuing

and selling preferred securities (Trust Securities) and lending the proceeds to PSE. The proceeds from the sale of Trust Securities were used by the Trusts to purchase
Junior Subordinated Debentures (Debentures) from PSE. The Debentures are the sole assets of the Trusts and PSE owns all common securities of the Trusts.

2 On October 8, 2002, the Board of Directors of PSE declared a dividend payable on January 1, 2003 for preferred stock outstanding on December 13, 2002.
3 In April 2001, PSE revised its master operating lease to $70 million plus interest with a financial institution. See “Fredonia 3 and 4 Operating Lease”

under “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” below for further discussion.
4 In June 2001, InfrastruX signed a credit agreement with several banks to provide up to $150 million in financing. Under the credit agreement, Puget

Energy is the guarantor of the line of credit. Certain InfrastruX subsidiaries also have certain borrowing capacities for working capital purposes of which Puget
Energy is not the guarantor. 

5 At December 31, 2002, PSE had available a $250 million liquidity facility, which in part provides credit support for outstanding commercial paper 
totaling $30.3 million, thereby effectively reducing the available borrowing capacity under this line of credit to $219.7 million. At year end, the Company also had
a three year $150.0 million receivables securitization facility available. See “Accounts Receivable Securitization Program” under “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements”
below for further discussions.

6 InfrastruX had $179.8 million in lines of credit with various banks, which fund capital requirements of InfrastruX and its subsidiaries. InfrastruX and its
subsidiaries had outstanding loans of $144.0 million, effectively reducing the available borrowing capacity under these lines of credit to $35.8 million.

7 In May 2002, PSE provided an energy trading counterparty a letter of credit in the amount of $0.5 million to satisfy the counterparty’s credit require-
ments following PSE’s senior unsecured debt downgrade in October 2001. The letter of credit expires on May 7, 2003.



49

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
Conservation Trust In 1995 and 1997, PSE sold a stream of

future electric revenues associated with $237.7 million of its invest-
ment in conservation assets in its electric general rate tariff to two
grantor trusts. As a result of this sale, PSE collects these revenues
from its electric customers and remits them to the trusts. On
August 29, 2001, PSE purchased the remaining 1997 trust securi-
ties. During 2002, PSE collected and remitted $12.7 million to the
1995 trust as compared to $31.0 million for both trusts in 2001. The
remaining principal expected to be collected on behalf of the 1995
trust is $18.9 million at December 31, 2002.

Accounts Receivable Securitization Program In order to pro-
vide a source of liquidity for PSE, in December 2002, PSE entered
into a Receivables Sales Agreement with Rainier Receivables, Inc.,
a wholly owned subsidiary of PSE, pursuant to which PSE sold all
of its utility customers accounts receivable and unbilled utility rev-
enues to Rainier Receivables. Concurrently with entering into the
Receivables Sales Agreement, Rainier Receivables entered into a
Receivables Purchase Agreement with PSE and several financial
institutions. The Receivables Purchase Agreement allows Rainier 
Receivables to sell the receivables purchased from PSE to the
financial institutions. The amount of receivables sold by Rainier
Receivables is not permitted to exceed $150 million at any time.

The receivables securitization facility is the functional
equivalent of a secured revolving line of credit. In the event Rainier
Receivables elects to sell receivables under the Receivables Pur-
chase Agreement, Rainier Receivables is required to pay the pur-
chasers of the receivables fees that are analogous to interest on a
revolving line of credit. As receivables are collected by PSE as agent
for the receivables purchasers, the outstanding amount of receiv-
ables purchased by the purchasers declines until Rainier Receiv-
ables elects to sell additional receivables to the purchasers.

The receivables securitization facility has a three year
term, but is terminable by PSE and Rainier Receivables upon notice
to the receivables purchasers. At December 31, 2002 there were
no amounts outstanding under the accounts receivable securitiza-
tion facility.

Puget Sound Energy The following are PSE’s aggregate contractual and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2002:

Puget Sound Energy
Contractual obligations Payments due per period
Dollars in millions Total 2003 2004–2005 2006–2007 2008 and thereafter

Long-term debt $2,093.9 $ 72.0 $ 169.5 $ 216.0 $1,636.4
Short-term debt 30.3 30.3 — — —
Trust preferred securities1 300.0 — — — 300.0
Preferred dividends2 1.1 1.1 — — —
Service contract obligations 190.2 19.4 40.7 43.4 86.7
Non-cancelable operating leases 51.8 12.6 16.9 13.0 9.3
Fredonia combustion turbines lease3 77.4 5.0 9.7 9.4 53.3
Energy purchase obligations 4,603.8 849.6 951.1 827.9 1,975.2
Financial hedge obligations (21.5) (6.3) (7.6) (6.3) (1.3)

Total contractual cash obligations $7,327.0 $983.7 $1,180.3 $1,103.4 $4,059.6

Commercial commitments Amount of commitment expiration per period
Dollars in millions Total 2003 2004–2005 2006–2007 2008 and thereafter

Liquidity facilities—available4 $369.7 $219.7 $150.0 — —
Energy operations letter of credit5 0.5 0.5 — — —

Total commercial commitments $370.2 $220.2 $150.0 — —
1 See note 1 above.
2 See note 2 above.
3 See “Fredonia 3 and 4 Operating Lease” under “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” below for further discussion.
4 See note 5 above with respect to PSE.
5 See note 7 above.
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Fredonia 3 and 4 Operating Lease In April 2001, PSE revised its
master operating lease to $70 million plus interest with a financial
institution. Under this revised agreement PSE leases two combustion
turbines for its Fredonia 3 and 4 electric generation facility. The lease
has a term expiring in 2011, but can be cancelled by PSE after three
years. Payments under the lease vary with changes in the London
inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR). At December 31, 2002, PSE’s out-
standing balance under the lease was $61.7 million. Lease payments
assume a LIBOR of 1.38%. The expected residual value under the
lease is the lesser of $37.4 million or 60% of the cost of the equip-
ment. In the event the equipment is sold to a third party upon termi-
nation of the lease and the aggregate sales proceeds are less than
87% of the unamortized value of the equipment, PSE would be
required to pay the lessor an amount equal to the deficiency.

Utility Construction Program 
Current utility construction expenditures for generation,

transmission and distribution are designed to meet continuing cus-
tomer growth and to improve efficiencies of PSE’s energy delivery
systems. Construction expenditures, excluding equity Allowance
for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC), were $224.2 million
in 2002. PSE expects construction expenditures will be approxi-
mately $271.9 million, $265.3 million and $265.0 million in 2003,
2004 and 2005, respectively. Construction expenditure estimates
are subject to periodic review and adjustment in light of changing
economic, regulatory, environmental and conservation factors.

Other Additions 
Other property, plant and equipment additions were

$11.6 million in 2002. Puget Energy expects InfrastruX’s capital
additions to be $16.6 million, $19.0 million, and $21.0 million
in 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Construction expenditure
estimates are subject to periodic review and adjustment in light
of changing economic, regulatory, environmental and conserva-
tion factors.

Capital Resources 
Cash From Operations Cash generated from operations (net

of dividends and AFUDC) totaled $944.8 million for the three-year
period 2000-2002, and provided 117.7% of the $803.1 million of util-
ity construction expenditures (net of AFUDC) and other capital
expenditure requirements for that period. Internal cash generation
(net of dividends and AFUDC) provided 254.8% of total capital
expenditure requirements in 2002, 57.7% in 2001, and 57.2% in
2000. Puget Energy and PSE expect to continue financing the utility
construction program and other capital expenditure requirements
with internally generated funds and externally financed capital.

Financing Program Financing utility construction require-
ments and operational needs is dependent upon the amount of
internally generated funds and the cost and availability of external
funds through capital markets and from financial institutions.
Access to funds is dependent upon factors such as general eco-
nomic conditions, regulatory authorizations and policies, and Puget
Energy’s and PSE’s credit ratings.

Restrictive Covenants In determining the type and amount
of future financing, PSE may be limited by restrictions contained in
its electric and gas mortgage indentures, articles of incorporation
and certain loan agreements. Under the most restrictive tests, at
December 31, 2002, PSE could issue:
• approximately $466.8 million of additional first mortgage

bonds, at an assumed interest rate of 5.92% on a ten-year first
mortgage bond due to a limitation of the interest coverage
ratio. (PSE has approximately $1.2 billion of electric and gas
bondable property available for use for issuance of up to
$700.8 million of first mortgage bonds, subject to the interest
coverage ratio limitation of 2.0 times net earnings available for
interest. PSE’s interest coverage ratio at December 31, 2002
was 2.4 times net earnings available for interest); 

• approximately $157.1 million of additional preferred stock at
an assumed dividend rate of 7.75%; and

• approximately $243.5 million of unsecured long-term debt.
Credit Ratings Neither Puget Energy nor PSE has any rat-

ing downgrade triggers that would accelerate the maturity dates of
outstanding debt. However, a downgrade in the senior unsecured
credit ratings could adversely affect the companies’ ability to renew
existing, or obtain access to new, credit facilities and could increase
the cost of such facilities. For example, under PSE’s revolving credit
facility, the spreads over the index and commitment fee increase as
PSE’s secured long-term debt ratings decline. A downgrade in
commercial paper ratings could preclude PSE’s ability to issue
commercial paper under its current programs. The marketability of
PSE commercial paper is currently limited by the A-3/P-2 ratings by
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Investors Service. A further down-
grade in commercial paper ratings could preclude entirely PSE’s
ability to issue commercial paper. In addition, downgrades in any or
a combination of PSE’s debt ratings may allow counterparties on a
contract by contract basis in the wholesale electric, wholesale gas
and financial derivative markets to require PSE to post a letter of
credit or other collateral, make cash prepayments, obtain a guar-
antee agreement or provide other mutually agreeable security.

The current ratings of Puget Energy and PSE, as of Feb-
ruary 13, 2003, are:

Ratings
Standard & Poor’s Moody’s 

Puget Energy
Corporate credit/issuer rating BBB- Ba1

Puget Sound Energy
Corporate credit/issuer rating BBB- Baa3
Senior secured debt BBB Baa2
Shelf debt senior secured BBB Baa2
Senior unsecured BB+ Baa3
Preferred stock BB Ba2
Commercial paper A-3 P-2
Subordinate * Ba1
Revolving credit facility * Baa3
Ratings outlook Stable Negative

*No ratings provided.
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Moody’s Investors Service has stated that its negative
outlook is based upon uncertainty about the outcome of investiga-
tions by FERC of western power markets. Moody’s remains con-
cerned about what conclusions will ultimately be drawn by FERC
with respect to year 2000 sales in western power markets and what
other steps they might take as the investigation runs its full course.

Shelf Registrations In February 2002, Puget Energy and
PSE filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and
Exchange Commission for the offering, on a delayed or continuous
basis, of up to $500 million principal amount of:
• common stock of Puget Energy,
• senior notes of PSE, secured by a pledge of PSE’s first mort-

gage bonds,
• unsecured debentures of PSE, and
• trust preferred securities of Puget Sound Energy Capital Trust III. 

On November 5, 2002, Puget Energy sold 5.75 million
shares of common stock in a public offering. The net proceeds of
approximately $114.6 million were invested in PSE to reduce its
debt. PSE is expected to refinance $161.9 million of its Pollution
Control Bonds series in March or April 2003.

Liquid Facilities and Commercial Paper PSE’s short-term bor-
rowings and sales of commercial paper are used to provide work-
ing capital for the utility construction program.

On December 23, 2002, PSE entered into a $250 million
unsecured 364-day credit agreement with various banks and a
$150 million 3-year receivables securitization program. These facil-
ities replaced PSE’s entire $375 million bank line of credit which
was scheduled to terminate on February 13, 2003. At December 31,
2002, PSE had available $400.0 million of liquidity facilities, which
in part provide credit support for outstanding commercial paper of
$30.3 million, effectively reducing the available borrowing capacity
under the liquidity facilities to $369.7 million. 

In June 2001, InfrastruX signed a three-year credit agree-
ment with several banks to provide up to $150 million in financing.
Puget Energy is the guarantor of the line of credit. In addition, Infra-
struX’s subsidiaries have an additional $29.8 million in lines of
credit with various banks. Borrowings available for InfrastruX are
used to fund acquisitions and working capital requirements of Infra-
struX and its subsidiaries. At December 31, 2002, InfrastruX and its
subsidiaries had outstanding loans of $144.0 million, effectively
reducing the available borrowing capacity under these lines of
credit to $35.8 million.

Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan Puget Energy
has a stock purchase and dividend reinvestment plan pursuant to
which shareholders and other interested investors may invest cash
and cash dividends in shares of Puget Energy’s common stock.
Since new shares of common stock may be purchased directly
from Puget Energy, funds received may be used for general corpo-
rate purposes. Puget Energy issued common stock from the Stock
Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan of $16.9 million
(801,205 shares) in 2002 compared to $25.6 million (1,119,568 
shares) in 2001. The decrease in the Stock Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan from 2002 to 2001 was largely attributable to

the reduction of the common stock dividend on May 15, 2002 to a
quarterly dividend of $0.25 per share.

Rate Matters—Electric On March 28, 2002, the Washing-
ton Commission approved and adopted an unopposed settlement
stipulation to resolve the interim phase of the rate case, in order to
allow $25 million in additional revenue to be recovered in rates over
an approximate period of three months, commencing April 1, 2002.
On June 6, 2002, the parties and intervenors to the general rate
case filed a settlement stipulation for electric and common issues,
which called for an electric general rate increase of $59 million
annually. On June 20, 2002, the Washington Commission approved
and adopted the settlement stipulation in the general case, putting
new rates into effect on July 1, 2002. PSE established a PCA mech-
anism in the rate case settlement. The PCA mechanism will account
for differences in PSE’s modified actual power costs relative to a
power cost baseline. The mechanism would account for a sharing
of costs and benefits that are graduated over four levels of power
cost variances, with an overall cap of $40 million (+/-) over the four
year period July 1, 2002 through June 30, 2006. The factors influ-
encing the variability of power costs included in the proposal are
primarily weather or market related. PSE will be allowed to file for
rate increases to implement limited power supply cost increases
related to new resources. PSE’s share of the power costs through
December 31, 2002 was $5.2 million. Because of adverse hydro
conditions in 2003, PSE anticipates reaching the $40 million cumu-
lative cap under the PCA mechanism by the fourth quarter of 2003.
Under the PCA mechanism, further increases in variable power
costs through June 30, 2006 would be apportioned 99% to cus-
tomers and 1% to PSE.

Rate Matters—Gas On August 29, 2001 the Washington
Commission approved a decrease in PSE’s natural gas rates of
8.9% due to lower natural gas costs purchased for customers under
terms of the PGA mechanism effective September 1, 2001. Also, on
May 24, 2002 the Washington Commission allowed a decrease in
PGA rates of 21.2% to become effective on June 1, 2002. This
ended a temporary surcharge that went into effect September 1,
2001. The PGA mechanism passes through to customers increases
or decreases in the gas supply portion of the natural gas service
rates based upon changes in the price of natural gas purchased
from producers and wholesale marketers or changes in gas pipeline
transportation costs. PSE’s gas margin and net income are not
affected by changes under the PGA.

On August 28, 2002, the Washington Commission
approved a 5.8% gas service rate increase in revenue to cover
higher costs of providing natural gas service to customers. This
service-related increase in revenues of approximately $35.6 million
annually was offset by an annual $45 million or 7.3% PGA rate
reduction, also approved on August 28, 2002. On September 30,
2002, PSE filed a proposal with the Washington Commission to 
reduce natural gas supply rates under the PGA for the third time in
2002. The Washington Commission approved the proposal on
October 30, 2002 and PSE lowered gas rates through the PGA by
approximately 12.5% effective November 1, 2002.
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Proceedings Relating to the Western Power Market 
California Independent System Operator (CAISO) Receivable and

California Proceedings PSE operates within the western wholesale
market and made sales into the California energy market during the
fourth quarter of 2000 through the CAISO. In 2001, PG&E and
Southern California Edison defaulted on payment obligations owed
to various energy suppliers, including the CAISO. The CAISO in turn
defaulted on its payment obligations to PSE and various other
energy suppliers. On March 1, 2002, Southern California Edison
paid its past due energy obligations to the CAISO and various other
parties; however, those funds were not used to pay the outstanding
balance of the CAISO obligations to PSE. PSE is continuing to pur-
sue recovery of the CAISO receivable.

On October 1, 2002, the CAISO determined a refund was
due to PSE totaling $2.2 million in connection with a FERC order of
August 27, 2002 that determined parties that paid the CAISO trans-
mission access charges for energy delivered into the CAISO’s con-
trol area in calendar 2000 had been overcharged by the CAISO. PSE
received $1.1 million of this refund on October 8, 2002, which was
credited to the CAISO receivable, reducing the receivable balance
recorded by PSE to $66.9 million. PSE has a bad debt reserve and
a transaction fee reserve totaling $41.5 million in connection with
the CAISO receivable, such that the net receivable at December 31,
2002 was $25.4 million. The balance of the refund has not been
paid by the CAISO.

On July 25, 2001, FERC ordered an evidentiary hearing
(Docket No. EL00-95) to determine the amount of refunds due to
California energy buyers, including the CAISO, for purchases made
in the spot markets operated by the CAISO during the period Octo-
ber 2, 2000 through June 20, 2001. Hearings on the FERC California
refund proceeding commenced in August 2002 in San Francisco,
California, and concluded in Washington, DC in September 2002. 

On December 12, 2002, the Administrative Law Judge
conducting the hearings issued his certification of proposed find-
ings on California refund liability to FERC. The certification includes
an appendix that reflects what the Administrative Law Judge
labeled as “ballpark” estimates of amounts owed and owing. (The
Judge did not make exact findings, because the report contem-
plates further calculations by the CAISO.) The report also enters var-
ious findings within the text of the opinion, but those findings are
not reflected in the appendix. The appendix indicates that the net
cash position as of March 2002 for PSE would be an amount due to
PSE of $61.9 million, and the refund PSE would owe to the CAISO
would be $26.3 million—making a net receivable for PSE of 
$35.6 million. The appendix calculations did not include, however,
two stipulations and/or findings from the body of the opinion that
excluded certain PSE transactions from refund liability, primarily 
because they were not “spot market” transactions. Applying those
stipulations would reduce the refund PSE would owe by $6.4 mil-
lion, and make the net PSE receivable approximately $42.0 million. 
The certification also states that the amounts owing should be 

adjusted for interest, a calculation the Administrative Law Judge
did not make. FERC has expressed an intention to act on the
Administrative Law Judge’s certification—and any other submis-
sions in the docket, as discussed below—in the spring of 2003. The
projected schedule for resolution of the refund proceedings could
change significantly, however, if FERC were to adopt changes in the
refund methodology employed during the hearings, as proposed in
the FERC’s Staff’s report discussed below.

The FERC Staff issued a report in August 2002 (Docket
No. PA02-2) that, among other things, recommends that FERC
modify the methodology for calculating refunds in the California
refund proceeding (Docket No. EL00-95) by adopting, as a proxy for
the cost of natural gas, producing basin spot prices plus trans-
portation costs, instead of reported spot prices for natural gas at
California delivery points. If adopted as proposed, this methodology
of calculating the cost of natural gas would reduce the amount
owed by the CAISO to PSE for sales made during 2000 and 2001.
PSE’s estimates indicate that the changes in methodology would
reduce PSE’s net receivable to approximately $18 million (as com-
pared to the $42.0 million, calculated by the Administrative Law
Judge). The current net receivable recorded by PSE, including the
effects of the CAISO refund, is $25.4 million.

On August 13, 2002, FERC issued a notice (Docket 
No. EL00-95) requesting comments on: (1) whether the method
used to determine the cost of natural gas for the refund calculation
in the California refund proceeding should be modified; (2) whether
the FERC Staff’s substitute method is appropriate and, if not, what
method should be used; and (3) what is the proper way to reflect
the effects of scarcity on price. PSE jointly sponsored testimony
and filed comments in opposition to the recommendations in the
FERC Staff’s report on October 15, 2002. The issue remains pend-
ing before FERC and no schedule for decision has been announced.

On November 20, 2002, FERC issued an Order on Motion
for Discovery Order in the EL00-95 docket that granted a motion to
allow parties to “adduce” additional evidence into the refund pro-
ceedings “that is either indicative or counter-indicative of market
manipulation.” The order also authorized an appointment of an
Administrative Law Judge as a discovery master, and permits the
parties to conduct discovery and file any such evidence “no later
than February 28, 2003.” On February 10, 2003 FERC issued an
order on “clarification” that provides for reply submissions by any
party on or before March 17, 2003. Like the November 20 discovery
order, the February 10 order expressly states that the Commission
intends to “finalize the issues in these dockets expeditiously” and
observes that the Commission sees “no need for additional discov-
ery procedures following the February 28, 2003 submission of evi-
dence.” On February 24, 2003, FERC extended the filing deadlines
to March 3, 2003 for the initial submissions and March 20, 2003 for
replies, due to the east coast blizzard. In the March 3 filing by the
California parties, they reiterated their allegations of market manip-
ulation against PSE and approximately 60 other companies. PSE and
the other parties are expected to respond on March 20, 2003.
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On May 31, 2002, FERC conditionally dismissed a com-
plaint filed on March 20, 2002 by the California Attorney General in
Docket EL02-71 that alleged violations of the Federal Power Act by
FERC and all sellers (including PSE) of electric power and energy
into California. The complaint asserted that FERC’s adoption and
implementation of market rate authority was flawed and, as a result,
that individual sellers such as PSE were liable for sales of energy at
rates that were “unjust and unreasonable.” The condition for dis-
missal was that all sellers re-file transaction summaries of sales to
(and, after a clarifying order issued on June 28, 2001, purchases
from) certain California entities during 2000 and 2001. PSE re-filed
such transaction summaries on July 1 and July 8, 2002. The order of
dismissal is now on appeal to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

On the same day as FERC’s order in Docket EL02-71 was
entered, the California Attorney General announced it had filed indi-
vidual complaints against a number of sellers, including PSE, in Cal-
ifornia Superior Court in San Francisco. That complaint alleges that
PSE’s sales to California violated the requirements of the Federal
Power Act and that, as such, the sales also violated certain sections
of the California Business Practices Act forbidding unlawful busi-
ness practices. The complaint asserts that each such “violation”
subjects PSE to a fine of up to $2,500 plus an award of attorneys’
fees and asserts that there were “thousands” of such violations.
PSE has removed that suit to federal court and has moved to dis-
miss it on the grounds that the issues are within the exclusive or
primary jurisdiction of FERC. That motion was argued on Septem-
ber 26, 2002 and the question is under submission to the judge. 

During May 2002, PSE was served with two cross-com-
plaints, by Reliant Energy Services and Duke Energy Trading & Mar-
keting, respectively, in six consolidated class actions pending in
Superior Court in San Diego, California. The original complaints in
the action, which were brought by or on behalf of electricity pur-
chasers in California, allege that the original (approximately 40)
defendants manipulated the wholesale electricity markets in viola-
tion of various California Business Practices Act or Cartwright Act
(antitrust) provisions. The plaintiffs in the lawsuit seek, among other
things, restitution of all funds acquired by means that violate the
law and payment of treble damages, interest and penalties. The
cross-complaints assert essentially that the cross-defendants,
including PSE, were also participants in the energy market in Cali-
fornia at the relevant times, and that any remedies ordered against
some market participants should be ordered against all. Reliant
Energy Services and Duke Energy Trading & Marketing also seek
indemnity and conditional relief as a buyer in transactions involving
cross-defendants should the plaintiffs prevail. Those cross-
complaints added over 30 new defendants, including PSE, to liti-
gation that had been pending since 2000 and had been set for trial
in state court. Some of the newly added defendants removed the
litigation to federal court. The federal court in San Diego remanded
the case to California State court in an order issued in December
2002. PSE and numerous other defendants added by the cross-
complaints have moved to dismiss these claims. Those motions 

were argued on September 19, 2002, but the federal judge did not
rule on those motions in his order remanding the case to state court.
The remand order is now being reconsidered. PSE and the other
defendants that moved to dismiss the claims intend to submit their
motion to the appropriate court at the earliest practical date. As a
result of the various motions, no trial date is set at this time.

Other Proceedings On May 8, 2002, FERC issued a data
request concerning specific trading strategies described in memos
prepared by Enron Corporation to all sellers, including PSE, of
wholesale electricity and/or ancillary services to the CAISO and/or
the California Power Exchange Corporation during the years 2000-
2001. On May 21 and May 22, 2002, FERC issued additional data
requests to all sellers of wholesale electricity or natural gas in the
western United States, including PSE, concerning “wash” or
“roundtrip” trading activities. Each of the three requests required
the sellers to respond with an affidavit concerning the seller’s use
or knowledge of various trading practices identified in the request.
In response to the data requests, PSE conducted a review of its
activities and informed FERC that it did not engage in the trading
activity described in the applicable request.

In October 2002, PSE provided information in response to
a request by the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(CFTC) for information about a limited number of specific transac-
tions with regional counterparties which have been the subject of
an investigation by the CFTC. PSE’s own review of these trades
concluded that all the transactions were lawful and served normal
business purposes. In January 2003, PSE was asked to provide
additional information to the CFTC, primarily concerning the results
of any PSE internal investigation as to its trading activities and
reports to indices. PSE responded to that request by providing
information in February 2003.

In December 2002, PSE was named as one of more than
30 defendants in two class actions, one filed in the federal district
court in Seattle and the other in Multnomah County Circuit Court in
Oregon. PSE was served with the complaint and summons in the
Washington federal court case on February 3, but as of March 7,
2003 had not been served in the Oregon case. Nonetheless, the
Oregon case was removed to Oregon federal court by Reliant
Energy Services on February 5, 2003. The complaints allege that
they are brought on behalf of all retail customers in Washington
and Oregon, respectively, and seek relief against the defendants
(each of which is a seller of electric energy at wholesale in certain
markets) for “unfair or deceptive acts,” “fraud by concealment,”
negligence and for an accounting. No specific amounts of damages
are pled in the complaints. 

PSE cannot predict the outcome of any of these ongoing
proceedings relating to the western power markets, or whether the
ultimate impact on PSE will be material.
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Other 
On October 2, 2002, the United Association of Plumbers

and Pipefitters ratified with PSE a new four-year collective bargain-
ing agreement. Effective dates for the new contract are October 1,
2002 to October 1, 2006. The contract covers approximately 300
PSE employees. In addition, on December 3, 2002, the International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers ratified an agreement to extend
their collective bargaining agreement with PSE through March 31,
2007. This contract covers approximately 800 PSE employees. 

On July 31, 2002, FERC issued its Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking on Remedying Undue Discrimination through Open
Access Transmission Service and Standard Electricity Market
Design (SMD NOPR). The SMD NOPR would have major implica-
tions for the delivery of electric energy throughout the U.S if
enacted in its proposed form. Major elements of FERC’s proposal
include: (a) the use of Network Access Service to replace the exist-
ing network and point-to-point services. All customers, including
load-serving entities on behalf of bundled retail load, would be
required to take network service under a new pro forma tariff; (b)
Vertically integrated utilities would be required to retain Indepen-
dent Transmission Providers to administer the new tariff and func-
tionally operate transmission systems; (c) The formation of Regional
State Advisory Committees and other regional entities to coordi-
nate the planning, certification and siting of new transmission facil-
ities in cooperation with states. State regulators and industry
representatives have pointed out that the Western North American
electricity market has unique characteristics that may not readily
lend itself to the Standard Market Design proposed by FERC. FERC
has expressed its willingness to offer regional flexibility in its order
on RTO West, Docket Nos. RT01-35-005 and RT01-35-007, Issued
September 18, 2002. On December 20, 2002, FERC issued a Notice
extending the deadline for comments addressing market design for
the Western Interconnection to February 18, 2003, but the notice
also indicates FERC “will accept late-filed comments through Feb-
ruary 28, 2003.” The Company has filed comments.

Critical Accounting Policies 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires that manage-
ment apply accounting policies and make estimates and assump-
tions that affect results of operations and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements. The following areas
represent those that management believes are particularly important
to the financial statements and that require the use of estimates and
assumptions to describe matters that are inherently uncertain:

Revenue Recognition Utility revenue is recognized when
the basis of service is rendered, including estimates used for
unbilled revenue. Non-utility revenue is recognized when services
are performed or upon the sale of assets. The recognition of rev-
enue is in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Princi-
ples, which requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenue.  

FERC Accounting Puget Energy’s regulated subsidiary,
PSE, prepares its financial statements in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles and in conformity with FERC’s uni-
form system of accounts. The Washington Commission also
requires PSE to use FERC’s uniform system of accounts.

Cost Based Regulation Puget Energy’s regulated subsidiary,
PSE, is subject to regulation by the Washington Commission and
FERC. The rates that are charged by PSE to its customers are based
upon cost base regulation reviewed and approved by these regula-
tory commissions. Under the authority of these commissions, PSE
has recorded certain regulatory assets and liabilities in the amount
of $483.7 million as of December 31, 2002. 

Derivatives Puget Energy uses derivative financial instru-
ments primarily to manage its commodity price risks. Derivative
financial instruments are accounted for under Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133—”Accounting for Deriv-
ative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended by SFAS
No. 138. Accounting for derivatives continues to evolve through
guidance issued by the Derivatives Implementation Group (DIG) of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board. To the extent that
changes by the DIG modify current guidance, including the normal
purchases and normal sales determination, the accounting treat-
ment for derivatives may change.

To manage its electric and gas portfolios, Puget Energy
enters into contracts to purchase or sell electricity and gas. These
contracts are considered derivatives under SFAS No. 133 unless a
determination is made that they qualify for normal purchases and
normal sales exclusion. If the exclusion applies, those contracts are
not marked-to-market and are not reflected in the financial state-
ments until delivery occurs.

The availability of the normal purchases and normal sales
exclusion to specific contracts is based on a determination that a
resource is available for a forward sale and similarly a determination
that at certain times existing resources will be insufficient to serve
load. This determination is based on internal models that forecast
customer demand and generation supply. The models include
assumptions regarding customer load growth rates, which are
influenced by the economy, weather and the impact of customer
choice, and resource availability. The critical assumptions used in
the determination of normal purchases and normal sales are con-
sistent with assumptions used in the general planning process.

Energy contracts that are considered derivatives may be
eligible for designation as cash flow hedges. If a contract is desig-
nated as a cash flow hedge, the change in its market value is gen-
erally deferred as a component of other comprehensive income
until the transaction it is hedging is completed. Conversely, the
change in the market value of derivatives not designated as cash
flow hedges is recorded in current period earnings.

When external quoted market prices are not available for
derivative contracts, Puget uses a valuation model which uses
volatility assumptions relating to future energy prices based on
specific energy markets and utilizes externally available forward 
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market price curves. The Company believes that the risk of non-
performance by its counterparties is remote.

Defined Pension Plan Puget Energy has a qualified defined
benefit plan covering substantially all employees of PSE. For 2002,
2001 and 2000 qualified pension income of $17.7 million, $20.0 mil-
lion and $16.6 million, respectively, has been recorded in the finan-
cial statements. Changes in market values of stocks or interest rates
will affect the amount of income that Puget Energy can record in its
financial statements in future years. Qualified pension income is
expected to decline to $9.6 million in 2003 as a result of lower actual
returns on pension assets during the last three years and declining
expected rates of return on pension fund assets. 

During 2002, PSE transitioned 462 service jobs that had
previously been held by PSE employees to outside service
providers. Under SFAS No. 88 “Employers’ Accounting for Settle-
ments and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for
Termination Benefits,” PSE recorded a curtailment loss of approxi-
mately $0.3 million.

California Independent System Operator Reserve PSE operates
within the western wholesale market and has made sales into the
California energy market. During the first quarter of 2001, PSE
received partial payments for sales made in the fourth quarter of
2000. At December 31, 2000, PSE’s receivables from the CAISO
and other counter-parties, net of reserves, were $41.8 million. At
December 31, 2002, such receivables, net of reserves, were
approximately $25.4 million. The Company calculated the reserve
based upon estimated credit quality and collection from the CAISO
at December 31, 2002. See “Proceedings Related to the Western
Power Market” under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation for further discussion.

New Accounting Pronouncements 
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board issued Interpretation No. 46—”Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” (FIN 46). FIN 46 clarifies the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51—”Consolidated Financial
Statements” to certain entities in which equity investors do not
have controlling interest or sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional financial support. This Inter-
pretation requires that if a business entity has a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity the financial statements must be
included in the consolidated financial statements of the business
entity. The adoption of this Interpretation for all interests in variable
interest entities created after January 31, 2003 is effective immedi-
ately. For variable interest entities created before February 1, 2003,
it is effective July 1, 2003. The Company is in the process of deter-
mining the impacts of this Interpretation.

On January 1, 2002, SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” became effective and as a result, Puget Energy
ceased amortization of goodwill associated with the InfrastruX busi-
ness. During 2001, Puget Energy had approximately $2.8 million of
goodwill amortization. Puget Energy performed an initial impair-
ment review of goodwill and will perform an annual impairment
review thereafter. The initial review was completed during the first

half of 2002, and did not result in an impairment charge. Puget Energy
then performed its annual impairment review as of October 31, 2002
and determined that its goodwill was not impaired.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. SFAS No. 143 requires legal obligations associated with the
retirement of long-lived assets to be recognized at their fair value at
the time that the obligations are incurred. Upon initial recognition
of a liability, that cost should be capitalized as part of the related
long-lived asset and allocated to expense over the useful life of the
asset. The Company will adopt the new rules on asset retirement
obligations on January 1, 2003. Application of the new rules is not
expected to result in a material increase in net property, plant and
equipment or expense. 

The Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (EITF or Task Force) at its June 2002 meeting
came to a consensus on one of three items included in EITF Issue
02-3 “Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities” (EITF 02-3). The Task Force has agreed that
all mark-to-market gains and losses on energy trading contracts
whether realized or unrealized will be shown net in the income
statement (costs offset against revenues), irrespective of whether
the contract is physically settled. The presentation will be applica-
ble to financial statements for periods ending after July 15, 2002.
The Company performs risk management activities to optimize the
value of energy supply and transmission assets and to ensure that
physical energy supply is available to meet the customer demand
loads. The Company also purchases energy when demand exceeds
available supplies in its portfolio; likewise the Company makes sales
to other utilities and marketers when surplus energy is available.
These transactions are part of the Company’s normal operations to
meet retail load. The Company has reclassified all settled transac-
tions that meet the definition of optimization (trading transactions
that optimize hydro resources, and purchases and sales between
trading points) net in the income statement to conform to the new
presentation required under EITF 02-3. The Company previously
reported these transactions when settled in a gross manner in the
income statement in electric operating revenue and purchased
electricity expense. Unrealized gains or losses on derivative instru-
ments that are required to be marked-to-market remain reflected in
unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments on Puget Energy’s
and PSE’s income statement as required by SFAS No. 133. The
adoption of EITF 02-3 does not have any impact on the previously
reported net income of the Company. The following optimization
transactions were recorded in electric operating revenue:

Dollars in thousands
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Optimization sales $66,992 $492,447 $133,361
Optimization purchases 64,448 487,431 139,376
Net margin on 

optimization transactions $ 2,544 $ 5,016 $ (6,015)
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Item 7A. 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risks, including
changes in commodity prices and interest rates.

Portfolio Management 
The nature of serving regulated customers with its whole-

sale portfolio of owned and contracted resources does expose the
Company to some volumetric and commodity price risks. The Com-
pany’s energy risk management function monitors and manages
these risks using analytical models and tools. The Company man-
ages its energy supply portfolio to achieve three primary objectives:
(i) Ensure that physical energy supplies are available to serve

retail customer requirements;
(ii) Manage portfolio risks to limit undesired impacts on the Com-

pany’s financial results and to stabilize earnings; and
(iii) Optimize the value of the Company’s energy supply assets.

The portfolio is subject to major sources of variability
(e.g., hydro generation, outage risk, regional economic factors,
temperature-sensitive retail sales, and market prices for gas and
power supplies). At certain times, these sources of variability can
mitigate portfolio imbalances; at other times they can exacerbate
portfolio imbalances. 

The Company’s energy risk management staff develops
hedging strategies for the Company’s energy supply portfolio. The
first priority is to protect against unwanted risk exposure. The sec-
ond priority is to fully optimize excess capacity or flexibility within
the wholesale portfolio. Most hedges can be implemented in ways
that retain the Company’s ability to use its energy supply optimiza-
tion opportunities. Still other hedges are structured similarly to
insurance instruments, where PSE pays an insurance premium to
protect against certain extreme conditions. 

The prices of energy commodities are subject to fluctua-
tions due to unpredictable factors including weather, generation
outages and other factors which impact supply and demand. The
volumetric and commodity price risk is a consequence of purchas-
ing energy at fixed and variable prices and providing deliveries at
different tariff and variable prices. Costs associated with ownership
and operation of production facilities are another component of this
risk. The Company may use forward delivery agreements, swaps 

and option contracts for the purpose of hedging commodity price
risk. Without jeopardizing the security of supply within its portfolio,
the Company will also engage in optimizing the portfolio. Opti-
mization may take the form of utilizing excess capacity, shaping
flexible resources to capture their highest value, utilizing transmis-
sion capacity or capitalizing on market price movement. As a result,
portions of the Company’s energy portfolio are monetized through
use of forward price instruments. 

Transactions that qualify as hedge transactions under
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedg-
ing Activities”, are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value.
Changes in fair value of the Company’s derivatives are recorded
each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income. 

At December 31, 2002, the Company had an after-tax net
liability of approximately $7.5 million of energy contracts desig-
nated as qualifying cash flow hedges and a corresponding unreal-
ized gain amount in other comprehensive income. The Company
also had energy contracts that were marked-to-market through cur-
rent earnings for 2002 of $7.5 million after-tax. A hypothetical 10%
increase in the market prices of natural gas and electricity would
increase the fair value of qualifying cash flow hedges by approxi-
mately $5.2 million after-tax and would reduce current earnings for
those contracts marked-to-market in earnings by an immaterial
amount. In addition, the Company believes its PCA and the PGA
mechanism mitigate a portion of this risk.

Market risk is managed subject to parameters established
by the Board of Directors. The Company has established a Risk
Management Committee composed of Company officers that mon-
itors compliance with the Company’s policies and procedures. In
addition, the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors
has oversight of the Risk Management Committee. 

The fair value of energy contracts that are recorded in the
balance sheet of the Company are comprised of the following (net
of tax):

Derivative contracts
Dollars in millions Amounts

Fair value of contracts 
outstanding December 31, 2001 $(35.4)

Contracts realized 
or otherwise settled during 2002 39.9

Changes in fair values of derivatives 6.7
Fair value of contracts 

outstanding at December 31, 2002 $ 11.2

Source of fair value Fair value of contracts with settlement during year
Dollars in millions 2003 2004–2005 2006–2007 2008 and thereafter Total fair value

Prices based on models 
and other valuation methods $1.3 $4.9 $4.1 $0.9 $11.2
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Short-term derivative contracts for the purchase and sale
of electricity are valued based upon daily quoted prices from an
independent energy brokerage service. Values for short-term and
medium-term natural gas swap contracts are derived from a com-
bination of quotes from several independent energy brokers and are
updated daily. Long-term gas swap contracts are valued based on
published pricing from a combination of independent brokerage
services and are updated monthly. Option contracts are valued
using a modified Black-Scholes model approach.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company believes its interest rate risk primarily

relates to the use of short-term debt instruments, variable rate leases
and long-term debt financing needed to fund capital requirements.
The Company manages its interest rate risk through the issuance of
mostly fixed-rate debt of various maturities. The Company does uti-
lize bank borrowings, commercial paper and line of credit facilities
to meet short-term cash requirements. These short-term obligations
are commonly refinanced with fixed-rate bonds or notes when
needed and when interest rates are considered favorable. The Com-
pany may enter into swap instruments to manage the interest rate
risk associated with these debts and did not have any swap instru-
ments outstanding as of December 31, 2002 or 2001. The carrying
amounts and fair values of Puget Energy’s fixed-rate debt instru-
ments are:

2002 2002 2001 2001
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Dollars in millions amount value amount value

Financial liabilities:
Short-term debt $ 47.3 $ 47.3 $ 348.6 $ 348.6
Long-term debt 2,223.0 2,381.8 2,246.7 2,131.2

Item 8. 
Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data

See index on page 68.

Item 9. 
Changes in and Disagreements 
with Accountants on Accounting 
and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Part III

The information required by Part III with respect to Puget
Energy is incorporated herein by reference to Puget Energy’s proxy
statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (Commis-
sion File No. 1-16305). Reference is also made to the information
regarding Puget Energy’s executive officers set forth in Part I of
this report.

Item 10. 
Directors and Executive Officers 
of the Registrants

The information required by this item with respect to PSE
is incorporated herein by reference to the material under “Election
of Directors” and “Security Ownership of Directors and Executive
Officers—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compli-
ance” in Puget Energy’s proxy statement for its 2003 Annual Meet-
ing of Shareholders (Commission File No. 1-16305), which is filed as
Exhibit 99.3 to this report. Reference is also made to the information
regarding PSE’s executive officers set forth in Part I of this report.

Item 11. 
Executive Compensation

The information required by this item with respect to PSE
is incorporated herein by reference to the material under “Structure
and Compensation of Board of Directors—Director Compensation,”
“Executive Compensation” and “Employment Contracts, Termina-
tion of Employment and Change-In-Control Arrangements” in
Puget Energy’s proxy statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders (Commission File No. 1-16305), which is filed as
Exhibit 99.3 to this report.

Item 12. 
Security Ownership of Certain 
Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
The following table sets forth information regarding our

common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options,
warrants and other rights granted to employees, consultants or
directors under all of the Puget Energy existing equity compensa-
tion plans, as of December 31, 2002.

(a) (b) (c)

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-average issuance under equity
be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plans

of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and rights (#) warrants and rights ($) reflected in column (a))(#)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 40,000 $22.51 1,322,0512,3

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 260,000 1 $22.511 56,9674,5

Total 300,000 $22.51 1,379,018

1 Does not include stock options that were assumed by PSE in connection with its acquisition of Washington Energy Company. The assumed options
are for the purchase of 17,960 shares of Puget Energy common stock and have a weighted-average exercise price of $19.26 per share. In the event that any
assumed option is not exercised, no further option to purchase shares of common stock will be issued in place of such unexercised option.

2 Includes 298,602 shares remaining available for purchase under Puget Energy’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
3 Includes 1,023,449 shares available under Puget Energy’s Amended and Restated 1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan, Puget Energy may also grant stock

awards, performance awards and other stock-based awards. Includes 571,719 share grants of performance awards at the target level.
4 Includes 56,967 shares available for issuance under Puget Energy’s Non-employee Director Stock Plan (Director Stock Plan). The Director Stock Plan

provides for automatic stock payments to each of Puget Energy’s non-employee directors. Each non-employee director who is a non-employee director at any time
during a calendar year receives a stock payment as a portion of the quarterly retainer paid to such director. Effective January 1, 2003, the number of shares that
will be issued to each non-employee director as a stock payment under the Director Stock Plan is determined by dividing between 50% and 100% (depending on
participant’s election) of the quarterly retainer payable to such director for a fiscal quarter by the fair market value of Puget Energy’s common stock on the last busi-
ness day of that fiscal quarter, except that 100% of the quarterly retainer will be paid to a director as a stock payment until the director owns that number of shares
determined by dividing an amount equal to the value of two years of quarterly retainers (based on the amount of the quarterly retainer that is being paid for that
fiscal quarter) by the fair market value of Puget Energy’s common stock on the last business day of that fiscal quarter. Prior to January 1, 2003, the number of shares
that were issued to each non-employee director as a stock payment under the Director Stock Plan was determined by dividing 40% of the quarterly retainer payable
to such director for a fiscal quarter by the fair market value of Puget Energy’s common stock on the last business day of that fiscal quarter.

5 Does not include shares of Puget Energy common stock which may be issued in connection with cash amounts deferred into a stock fund measure-
ment fund under PSE’s Deferred Compensation Plan for Key Employees or Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-employee Directors.
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Summary of Equity Compensation Plans
Not Approved by Shareholders 

Non-Plan Grants
On January 7, 2002, Puget Energy granted Stephen P.

Reynolds, President and Chief Executive Officer of Puget Energy
and PSE, two non-qualified stock option grants outside of any
equity incentive plan adopted by Puget Energy (the “Non-Plan
Grants”). These stock option grants were an inducement to Mr.
Reynolds’ employment and in lieu of participation in the Compa-
nies’ Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. One of the Non-Plan
Grants made to Mr. Reynolds is for 150,000 shares of Puget Energy
common stock and vests at a rate of 20% per year, for full vesting
after five years. The other Non-Plan Grant made to Mr. Reynolds is
for 110,000 shares of Puget Energy common stock and vests at a
rate of 25% per year, for full vesting after four years. The exercise
price of both Non-Plan Grants is $22.51 per share, equal to 100%
of the fair market value of Puget Energy common stock on the date
of grant. As of December 31, 2002, all of the 260,000 shares sub-
ject to the Non-Plan Grants remained outstanding. Except as
expressly provided in the option agreement relating to each of the
Non-Plan Grants, the Non-Plan Grants are subject to the terms and
conditions of the Company’s Amended and Restated 1995 Long-
Term Incentive Plan. 

Upon a change of control (as defined in the Employment
Agreement between Puget Energy and Mr. Reynolds, dated Janu-
ary 7, 2002), both Non-Plan Grants will become fully vested and
immediately exercisable. If Mr. Reynolds’ employment or service
relationship with Puget Energy is terminated by Puget Energy with-
out cause or by Mr. Reynolds with good reason, the vesting and
exercisability of the Non-Plan Grants will be accelerated as follows:
(1) the vesting and exercisability of the 150,000 share Non-Plan
Grant will be accelerated such that the total number of shares
vested and exercisable will be calculated as if the option had vested
on a daily basis over the four-year period through the date of termi-
nation and (2) the vesting and exercisability of the 110,000 share
Non-Plan Grant will be accelerated by two years. For purposes of
the Non-Plan Grants, the terms “cause” and “good reason” have
the meanings given to them in the Employment Agreement
between Puget Energy and Mr. Reynolds, dated January 1, 2002.

Subject to the provisions regarding a change of control
and termination of employment or service relationship by Puget
Energy without cause or by Mr. Reynolds for good reason, as
described above, upon termination of Mr. Reynolds’ employment
or service relationship with Puget Energy for any reason, the
unvested portion of the Non-Plan Grants will terminate automati-
cally and the vested portion may be exercised as follows: (1) gen-
erally, on or before the earlier of three months after termination and
the expiration date of the option, (2) if termination is due to retire-
ment, disability or death, on or before the earlier of one year after
termination and the expiration date of the option, or (3) if death
occurs after termination, but while the option is still exercisable, on
or before the earlier of one year after the date of death and the expi-
ration date of the option.

The Non-Plan Grants provide for the payment of the exer-
cise price of options by any of the following means: (1) cash, 
(2) check, (3) tendering shares of Puget Energy’s common stock,
either actually or by attestation, already owned for at least six
months (or any shorter period necessary to avoid a charge to Puget
Energy’s earnings for financial reporting purposes) that on the day
prior to the exercise date have a fair market value equal to the
aggregate exercise price of the shares being purchased, (4) deliv-
ery of a properly executed exercise notice, together with irrevoca-
ble instructions to a brokerage firm designated by Puget Energy to
deliver promptly to Puget Energy the aggregate amount of sale or
loan proceeds to pay the option exercise price and any withholding
tax obligations that may arise in connection with the exercise, or 
(5) any other method permitted by the plan administrator.

Beneficial Ownership of Puget Sound Energy
As of December 31, 2002, all of the issued and outstand-

ing shares of PSE’s common stock were held beneficially and of
record by Puget Energy.
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Item 13. 
Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions

None.

Item 14. 
Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls 
and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of Puget

Energy’s and PSE’s management, including the Companies’ Presi-
dent and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President Finance
and Chief Financial Officer, Puget Energy and PSE have evaluated
the effectiveness of the Companies’ disclosure controls and proce-
dures (as defined in Rule 13a-14(c) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934) within 90 days of the filing date of this annual report.
Based upon that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Offi-
cer and Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of
Puget Energy and PSE concluded that these disclosure controls
and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Controls
There have been no significant changes in Puget Energy’s

or PSE’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect internal controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation,
including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficien-
cies and material weaknesses.

Item 15. 
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
1) Financial statement schedules—see index on page 68.
2) Exhibits—see index on page 110.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

Puget Energy
1) Form 8-K filed by Puget Energy on October 17, 2002—

Item 5 Other Events, related to Puget Energy’s third-quarter
results of operation.

2) Form 8-K filed by Puget Energy on November 1, 2002—
Item 5 Other Events, related to Puget Energy filing of
exhibits to the Registration Statement relating to the pub-
lic offering of common stock.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Puget Energy, Inc. Puget Sound Energy, Inc.

/s/ Stephen P. Reynolds /s/ Stephen P. Reynolds

Stephen P. Reynolds Stephen P. Reynolds
President and Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 10, 2003 Date: March 10, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of each registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

Puget Energy and PSE unless otherwise noted

/s/ Douglas P. Beighle Chairman of the Board March 7, 2003
(Douglas P. Beighle)

/s/ Stephen P. Reynolds President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Stephen P. Reynolds)

/s/ Stephen A. McKeon Senior Vice President Finance and
(Stephen A. McKeon) Chief Financial Officer

/s/ James W. Eldredge Corporate Secretary and Chief Accounting Officer
(James W. Eldredge)

/s/ Charles W. Bingham Director
(Charles W. Bingham)

/s/ Phyllis J. Campbell Director
(Phyllis J. Campbell)

/s/ Craig W. Cole Director
(Craig W. Cole)

/s/ Robert L. Dryden Director
(Robert L. Dryden)

/s/ Tomio Moriguchi Director
(Tomio Moriguchi)

/s/ Dr. Kenneth P. Mortimer Director
(Dr. Kenneth P. Mortimer)

/s/ Sally G. Narodick Director
(Sally G. Narodick)
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Certifications of Puget Energy

I, Stephen P. Reynolds, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Puget Energy;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-

rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly pres-
ent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-
cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-

ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based
on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s

ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mate-
rial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our
most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 10, 2003

/s/ Stephen P. Reynolds

Stephen P. Reynolds
President and Chief Executive Officer
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I, Stephen A. McKeon, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Puget Energy;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-

rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly pres-
ent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-
cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-

ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based
on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s

ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mate-
rial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our
most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 10, 2003

/s/ Stephen A. McKeon

Stephen A. McKeon
Sr. Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
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Certifications of Puget Sound Energy

I, Stephen P. Reynolds, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Puget Sound Energy;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-

rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly pres-
ent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-
cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-

ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b)  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c)  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based
on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s

ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mate-
rial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our
most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 10, 2003

/s/ Stephen P. Reynolds

Stephen P. Reynolds
President and Chief Executive Officer
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I, Stephen A. McKeon, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Puget Sound Energy;
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a mate-

rial fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly pres-
ent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this annual report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and pro-
cedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-

ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c)  presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based
on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a)  all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s

ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any mate-
rial weaknesses in internal controls; and

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our
most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 10, 2003

/s/ Stephen A. McKeon

Stephen A. McKeon
Sr. Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Management

Puget Energy, Inc. and Puget Sound Energy, Inc.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Puget Energy, Inc. and Puget Sound Energy, Inc. have been prepared
under the direction of management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts based on judgments and estimates by management where nec-
essary. Management also prepared the other information in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and is responsible for its accuracy and
consistency with the financial statements. 

Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy maintain a system of internal control which, in management’s opinion, provides reason-
able assurance that assets are properly safeguarded and transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and
properly recorded to produce reliable financial records and reports. The system of internal control provides for appropriate division of
responsibility and is documented by written policy and updated as necessary. Puget Sound Energy’s internal audit staff assesses the effec-
tiveness and adequacy of the internal controls on a regular basis and recommends improvements when appropriate. Management con-
siders the internal auditor’s and independent auditor’s recommendations concerning Puget Energy’s and Puget Sound Energy’s internal
controls and takes steps to implement those that they believe are appropriate in the circumstances.

In addition, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent accountants, have performed audit procedures deemed appropriate
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

The Board of Directors pursues its oversight role for the financial statements through the audit committee, which is composed
solely of outside Directors. The audit committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors,
jointly and separately, to review management’s process of implementation and maintenance of internal accounting controls and auditing
and financial reporting matters. The internal and independent auditors have unrestricted access to the audit committee.

/s/ Stephen P. Reynolds /s/ Stephen A. McKeon /s/ James W. Eldredge

Stephen P. Reynolds Stephen A. McKeon James W. Eldredge
President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President Finance Corporate Secretary and 

and Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer
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Report of Independent Accountants 

To the Shareholders of Puget Energy, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed on page 68 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Puget Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed on page 109 of the
document presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management;
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We con-
ducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2001, the Company changed its method
of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
February 12, 2003

To the Shareholder of Puget Sound Energy, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed on page 68 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed on page 109
of the document presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related con-
solidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-
rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2001, the Company changed its method
of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
February 12, 2003
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Consolidated Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedule Covered by the Foregoing Report of Independent Accountants
and Exhibits

Consolidated Financial Statements: Page
Puget Energy:

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 69

Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2002 and 2001 70
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization, December 31, 2002 and 2001 72
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 73
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 73
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 74

Puget Sound Energy:
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 75
Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2002 and 2001 76
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization, December 31, 2002 and 2001 78
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 79
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 79
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 80

Notes:
Combined Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy Notes 

to Consolidated Financial Statements 81

Schedule:

II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 109

All other schedules have been omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required, or because the
information required is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

Financial statements of PSE’s subsidiaries are not filed herewith inasmuch as the assets, revenues, earnings and earnings 
reinvested in the business of the subsidiaries are not material in relation to those of PSE.

Exhibits:

Exhibit Index 110
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Income: Puget Energy 

Consolidated Statements of Income

Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Operating revenues:
Electric $1,365,885 $1,865,227 $2,632,319
Gas 697,155 815,071 612,311
Other 329,282 206,262 57,666

Total operating revenues 2,392,322 2,886,560 3,302,296
Operating expenses:
Energy costs:

Purchased electricity 645,371 918,676 1,627,249
Residential exchange (149,970) (75,864) (41,000)
Purchased gas 405,016 537,431 332,927
Fuel 113,538 281,405 182,978
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments (11,612) (11,182) —

Utility operations and maintenance 286,220 265,789 240,094
Other operations and maintenance 273,157 156,731 60,612
Depreciation and amortization 228,743 217,540 196,513
Conservation amortization 17,501 6,493 6,830
Taxes other than income taxes 215,429 212,582 202,398
Income taxes 59,260 79,838 129,823

Total operating expenses 2,082,653 2,589,439 2,938,424
Operating income 309,669 297,121 363,872
Other income 5,458 14,526 5,061
Income before interest charges 315,127 311,647 368,933
Interest charges:

AFUDC (1,969) (4,446) (9,303)
Interest expense 198,346 194,505 184,405

Total interest charges 196,377 190,059 175,102
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated subsidiary 867 — —
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change 117,883 121,588 193,831
Cumulative effect of implementation of accounting change (net of tax) — 14,749 —
Net income 117,883 106,839 193,831
Less preferred stock dividends accrual 7,831 8,413 8,994
Income for common stock $ 110,052 $ 98,426 $ 184,837
Common shares outstanding weighted average 88,372 86,445 85,411
Diluted shares outstanding weighted average 88,777 86,703 85,690
Basic and diluted earnings per common share before 

cumulative effect of accounting change $1.24 $ 1.31 $2.16
Basic and diluted for cumulative effect of accounting change — (0.17) —
Basic and diluted earnings per common share $1.24 $ 1.14 $2.16

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Assets: Puget Energy

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Assets

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Utility plant:
Electric plant $ 4,229,352 $ 4,167,920
Gas plant 1,645,865 1,551,439
Common plant 378,844 362,670
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,337,832) (2,194,048)

Net utility plant 3,916,229 3,887,981
Other property and investments:

Investment in Bonneville Exchange Power Contract 51,136 54,663
Goodwill, net 125,555 102,151
Intangibles, net 18,652 16,059
Non-utility property, net 80,855 48,369
Other 101,932 96,007

Total other property and investments 378,130 317,249
Current assets:

Cash 176,669 92,356
Restricted cash 18,871 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 279,623 279,321
Unbilled revenues 112,115 147,008
Purchased gas receivable — 37,228
Materials and supplies, at average cost 70,402 90,333
Current portion of unrealized gain on derivative instruments 3,741 3,315
Prepayments and other 11,323 11,277

Total current assets 672,744 660,838
Other long-term assets:

Regulatory asset for deferred income taxes 167,058 193,016
Regulatory asset for PURPA buyout costs 243,584 244,635
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 9,870 3,317
Other 269,876 239,941

Total other long-term assets 690,388 680,909
Total assets $ 5,657,491 $ 5,546,977

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Capitalization and Liabilities: Puget Energy

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Capitalization and Liabilities

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Capitalization: (See Consolidated Statements of Capitalization):
Common equity $1,523,787 $1,362,724
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary 

trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000
Long-term debt 2,149,733 2,127,054

Total capitalization 4,076,682 3,900,440
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiary 10,629 —
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 205,619 167,426
Short-term debt 47,295 348,577
Current maturities of long-term debt 73,206 119,523
Purchased gas liability 83,811 —
Accrued expenses:

Taxes 62,562 70,708
Salaries and wages 11,441 14,746
Interest 37,942 42,505

Current portion of unrealized loss on derivative instruments 2,410 35,145
Other 47,761 46,178

Total current liabilities 572,047 844,808
Long-term liabilities:

Deferred income taxes 730,675 605,315
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 75
Other deferred credits 267,458 196,339

Total long-term liabilities 998,133 801,729
Commitments and contingencies — —
Total capitalization and liabilities $5,657,491 $5,546,977 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Capitalization: Puget Energy

Consolidated Statements of Capitalization

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Common equity:
Common stock $0.01 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized, 

93,642,659 and 87,023,210 shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001 $ 936 $ 870
Additional paid-in capital 1,484,615 1,358,946
Earnings reinvested in the business 36,396 32,229
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)—net of tax 1,840 (29,321)

Total common equity 1,523,787 1,362,724
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption—cumulative—$25 par value: * 

7.45% series II 2,400,000 shares authorized and outstanding 60,000 60,000
Total preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000

Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption—cumulative—$100 par value: *
4.84% series—150,000 shares authorized, 14,808 shares outstanding 1,481 1,481
4.70% series—150,000 shares authorized, 4,311 shares outstanding 431 431
7.75% series—750,000 shares authorized, 412,500 and 487,500 shares outstanding 41,250 48,750

Total preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of subsidiary 

trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000
Long-term debt:

First mortgage bonds and senior notes 1,932,000 2,009,000
Pollution control revenue bonds:

Revenue refunding 1991 series, due 2021 50,900 50,900
Revenue refunding 1992 series, due 2022 87,500 87,500
Revenue refunding 1993 series, due 2020 23,460 23,460

Other notes 129,107 75,762
Unamortized discount—net of premium (28) (45)
Long-term debt due within one year (73,206) (119,523)

Total long-term debt excluding current maturities 2,149,733 2,127,054
Total capitalization $4,076,682 $3,900,440

* Puget Energy has 50,000,000 shares authorized for $0.01 par value preferred stock. PSE has 13,000,000 shares authorized for $25 par value preferred
stock and 3,000,000 shares authorized for $100 par value preferred stock.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated other
Dollars in thousands Common stock Additional Retained comprehensive
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 Shares Amount paid-in capital earnings income Total amount

Balance at December 31, 1999 84,922,405 $ 849,224 $ 454,982 $ 66,019 $ 8,848 $1,379,073
Net income — — — 193,831 — 193,831
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (9,067) — (9,067)
Loss on preferred stock redemptions — — 1,181 (1,181) — —
Common stock dividend declared — — — (156,929) — (156,929)
Common stock issued on dividend reinvestment plan 981,549 9,816 13,295 — — 23,111
Other (163) (2) 721 — — 719
Other comprehensive income — — — — (4,098) (4,098)
Balance at December 31, 2000 85,903,791 $ 859,038 $ 470,179 $ 92,673 $ 4,750 $1,426,640
Net income — — — 106,839 — 106,839
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (8,485) — (8,485)
Common stock dividend declared — — (158,798) — (158,798)
Reclassification of par value in connection 

with the formation of Puget Energy — (858,179) 858,179 — — —
Common stock issued on dividend reinvestment plan 1,119,568 11 25,551 — — 25,562
Other (149) — 5,037 — — 5,037
Other comprehensive income — — — — (34,071) (34,071)
Balance at December 31, 2001 87,023,210 $ 870 $1,358,946 $ 32,229 $(29,321) $1,362,724
Net income — — — 117,883 — 117,883
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (7,904) — (7,904)
Common stock dividend declared — — — (105,687) — (105,687)
Common stock issued:

New issuance 5,750,000 57 114,639 — — 114,696
Dividend reinvestment plan 801,205 8 16,900 — — 16,908
Employee plans 68,252 1 550 — — 551

Other (8) — (6,420) (125) — (6,545)
Other comprehensive income — — — — 31,161 31,161
Balance at December 31, 2002 93,642,659 $ 936 $1,484,615 $ 36,396 $ 1,840 $1,523,787

Common Shareholders’ Equity: Puget Energy

Comprehensive Income: Puget Energy

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Dollars in thousands
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Net income $117,883 $ 106,839 $193,831
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized holding losses on marketable securities during the period (1,359) (1,823) (938)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on marketable securities 

included in net income — (5) (3,160)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 63 — —
Minimum pension liability adjustment (2,098) (5,148) —
Transition adjustment for unrealized gain on derivative instruments 

as of January 1, 2001 — 286,928 —
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments during the period 2,853 (131,420) —
Reversal of unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments settled 

during the period 31,702 (182,603) —
Other comprehensive income (loss) 31,161 (34,071) (4,098)

Comprehensive income $149,044 $ 72,768 $189,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Cash Flows: Puget Energy

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dollars in thousands
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Operating activities:
Net income $ 117,883 $ 106,839 $ 193,831
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 228,743 217,540 196,513
Deferred income taxes and tax credits—net 151,318 11,464 (7,446)
Gain from sale of securities — — (6,476)
Net unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (11,612) 3,567 —

Other (including conservation amortization) 10,872 (4,465) (7,276)
Cash collateral received from energy supplier 21,425 — —
Change in certain current assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue 46,860 147,575 (220,568)
Materials and supplies 22,088 10,611 (29,760)
Prepayments and other 141 936 (1,742)
Purchased gas receivable/liability 121,039 58,822 (62,350)
Accounts payable 34,351 (254,944) 232,402
Taxes payable (18,260) (33,288) 31,308
Accrued expenses and other (971) 33,631 1,847

Net cash provided by operating activities 723,877 298,288 320,283
Investing activities:

Construction expenditures—excluding equity AFUDC (224,165) (247,435) (296,480)
Additions to other property, plant and equipment (11,621) (5,193) —
Energy conservation expenditures (11,356) (15,591) (6,931)
Restricted cash (18,871) — —
Proceeds from sale of investment in Cabot preferred stock — — 51,463
Proceeds from sale of Centralia plant — — 37,449
Proceeds from sale of securities — — 6,757
Investments by InfrastruX (41,602) (75,591) (85,506)
Repayment from/(loans to) Schlumberger — 51,948 (20,874)
Other (15,761) (16,446) (14,138)

Net cash used by investing activities (323,376) (308,308) (328,260)
Financing activities:

Increase (decrease) in short-term debt—net (301,281) (32,406) (226,395)
Dividends paid (97,321) (141,709) (142,886)
Issuance of common stock 120,214 — —
Issuance of trust preferred stock — 200,000 —
Redemption of preferred stock (7,500) (7,500) (7,503)
Issuance of bonds and long-term debt 40,000 70,250 510,000
Redemption of bonds and notes (65,937) (19,000) (150,980)
Other (4,363) (3,642) (3,583)

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities (316,188) 65,993 (21,347)
Increase (decrease) in cash from net income 84,313 55,973 (29,324)
Cash at beginning of year 92,356 36,383 65,707 
Cash at end of year $ 176,669 $ 92,356 $ 36,383
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash payments for:

Interest (net of capitalized interest) $ 200,392 $ 191,004 $ 176,895
Income taxes (net of refunds) (81,652) 87,470 114,100

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Income: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Statements of Income

Dollars in thousands
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Operating revenues: 
Electric $1,365,885 $1,865,227 $2,632,319 
Gas 697,155 815,071 612,311
Other 9,753 32,476 57,666

Total operating revenues 2,072,793 2,712,774 3,302,296
Operating expenses:
Energy costs:

Purchased electricity 645,371 918,676 1,627,249
Residential exchange (149,970) (75,864) (41,000)
Purchased gas 405,016 537,431 332,927
Fuel 113,538 281,405 182,978
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments (11,612) (11,182) —

Utility operations and maintenance 286,220 265,789 240,094
Other operations and maintenance 1,602 8,546 60,612
Depreciation and amortization 215,317 208,720 196,513
Conservation amortization 17,501 6,493 6,830
Taxes other than income taxes 202,381 207,365 202,398
Income taxes 52,836 76,915 129,823

Total operating expenses 1,778,200 2,424,294 2,938,424
Operating income 294,593 288,480 363,872
Other income 5,215 17,053 5,061
Income before interest charges 299,808 305,533 368,933
Interest charges:

AFUDC (1,969) (4,446) (9,303)
Interest expense 192,829 190,849 184,405

Total interest charges 190,860 186,403 175,102
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change 108,948 119,130 193,831
Cumulative effect of implementation of accounting change (net of tax) — 14,749 —
Net income 108,948 104,381 193,831
Less preferred stock dividends accrual 7,831 8,413 8,994
Income for common stock $ 101,117 $ 95,968 $ 184,837

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Assets: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Assets

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Utility plant:
Electric plant $ 4,229,352 $ 4,167,920
Gas plant 1,645,865 1,551,439
Common plant 378,844 362,670
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,337,832) (2,194,048)

Net utility plant 3,916,229 3,887,981
Other property and investments:

Investment in Bonneville Exchange Power Contract 51,136 54,663
Non-utility property, net 1,699 1,105
Other 101,922 94,762

Total other property and investments 154,757 150,530
Current assets:

Cash 161,475 82,708
Restricted cash 18,871 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 208,702 235,348
Unbilled revenues 112,115 147,008
Purchased gas receivable — 37,228
Materials and supplies, at average cost 63,563 85,318
Current portion of unrealized gain on derivative instruments 3,741 3,315
Prepayments and other 8,907 7,405

Total current assets 577,374 598,330
Other long-term assets:

Regulatory asset for deferred income taxes 167,058 193,016
Regulatory asset for PURPA buyout costs 243,584 244,635
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments 9,870 3,317
Other 269,876 239,941

Total other long-term assets 690,388 680,909
Total assets $ 5,338,748 $ 5,317,750

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Capitalization and Liabilities: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Capitalization and Liabilities

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Capitalization: (See Consolidated Statements of Capitalization):
Common equity $1,426,121 $1,267,654
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities 

of subsidiary trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000
Long-term debt 2,021,832 2,053,815

Total capitalization 3,851,115 3,732,131
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 193,602 154,600
Short-term debt 30,340 338,168
Current maturities of long-term debt 72,000 117,000
Purchased gas liability 83,811 —
Accrued expenses:

Taxes 64,433 70,210
Salaries and wages 11,441 14,746
Interest 37,942 42,505

Current portion of unrealized loss on derivative instruments 2,410 35,145
Other 25,456 25,178

Total current liabilities 521,435 797,552
Long-term liabilities:

Deferred income taxes 715,579 601,001
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 75
Other deferred credits 250,619 186,991

Total long-term liabilities 966,198 788,067
Commitments and contingencies — —
Total capitalization and liabilities $5,338,748 $5,317,750 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Capitalization: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Statements of Capitalization

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Common equity:
Common stock ($10 stated value)—15,000,000 shares authorized, 85,903,791 shares outstanding $ 859,038 $ 859,038
Additional paid-in capital 498,335 382,592
Earnings reinvested in the business 66,971 55,345
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)—net 1,777 (29,321)

Total common equity 1,426,121 1,267,654
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption—cumulative—$25 par value:*

7.45% series II—2,400,000 shares authorized and outstanding 60,000 60,000
Total preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption 60,000 60,000

Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption—cumulative—$100 par value:*
4.84% series—150,000 shares authorized, 14,808 shares outstanding 1,481 1,481
4.70% series—150,000 shares authorized, 4,311 shares outstanding 431 431
7.75% series—750,000 shares authorized, 412,500 and 487,500 shares outstanding 41,250 48,750

Total preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43,162 50,662
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities 

of subsidiary trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation 300,000 300,000
Long-term debt:

First mortgage bonds and senior notes 1,932,000 2,009,000
Pollution control revenue bonds:

Revenue refunding 1991 series, due 2021 50,900 50,900
Revenue refunding 1992 series, due 2022 87,500 87,500
Revenue refunding 1993 series, due 2020 23,460 23,460

Unamortized discount—net of premium (28) (45)
Long-term debt due within one year (72,000) (117,000)

Total long-term debt excluding current maturities 2,021,832 2,053,815
Total capitalization $3,851,115 $3,732,131

* 13,000,000 shares authorized for $25 par value preferred stock and 3,000,000 shares authorized for $100 par value preferred stock.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



79

Common Shareholders’ Equity: Puget Sound Energy 

Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated other
Dollars in thousands Common stock Additional Retained comprehensive
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 Shares Amount paid-in capital earnings income Total amount

Balance at December 31, 1999 84,922,405 $849,224 $454,982 $ 66,019 $ 8,848 $1,379,073
Net income — — — 193,831 — 193,831
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (9,067) — (9,067)
Loss on preferred stock redemptions — — 1,181 (1,181) — —
Common stock dividend declared — — — (156,929) — (156,929)
Common stock issued on dividend reinvestment plan 981,549 9,816 13,295 — — 23,111
Other (163) (2) 721 — — 719
Other comprehensive income — — — — (4,098) (4,098)
Balance at December 31, 2000 85,903,791 $859,038 $470,179 $ 92,673 $ 4,750 $1,426,640
Net income — — — 104,381 — 104,381
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (8,485) — (8,485)
Common stock dividend declared — — (133,224) — (133,224)
Return of capital to Puget Energy — — (86,556) — — (86,556)
Other — — (1,031) — — (1,031)
Other comprehensive income — — — — (34,071) (34,071)
Balance at December 31, 2001 85,903,791 $859,038 $382,592 $ 55,345 $(29,321) $1,267,654
Net income — — — 108,948 — 108,948
Preferred stock dividend declared — — — (7,904) — (7,904)
Common stock dividend declared — — — (89,418) — (89,418)
Investment received from Puget Energy — — 115,736 — — 115,736
Other — — 7 — — 7
Other comprehensive income — — — — 31,098 31,098
Balance at December 31, 2002 85,903,791 $859,038 $498,335 $ 66,971 $ 1,777 $1,426,121

Comprehensive Income: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Dollars in thousands
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Net income $108,948 $ 104,381 $193,831 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Unrealized holding losses on marketable securities during the period (1,359) (1,823) (938)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on marketable securities 

included in net income — (5) (3,160)
Minimum pension liability adjustment (2,098) (5,148) —
Transition adjustment for unrealized gain on derivative instruments 

at January 1, 2001 — 286,928 —
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments during the period 2,853 (131,420) —
Reversal of unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments settled during the period 31,702 (182,603) —
Other comprehensive income (loss) 31,098 (34,071) (4,098)

Comprehensive income $140,046 $ 70,310 $189,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Cash Flows: Puget Sound Energy

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Dollars in thousands
For years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Operating activities:
Net income $ 108,948 $ 104,381 $ 193,831
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 215,317 208,720 196,513
Deferred federal income taxes and tax credits—net 140,536 7,151 (7,446)
Gain from sale of securities — — (6,476)
Net unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (11,612) 3,567 —

Other (including conservation amortization) 18,711 2,375 (7,276)
Cash collateral received from energy supplier 21,425 — —
Change in certain current assets and current liabilities:

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue 61,539 148,393 (220,568)
Materials and supplies 21,755 8,460 (29,760)
Prepayments and other (1,501) 2,507 (1,742)
Purchased gas receivable/liability 121,039 58,822 (62,350)
Accounts payable 38,893 (247,931) 232,402
Taxes payable (13,646) (33,785) 31,308
Accrued expenses and other 277 21,952 1,847

Net cash provided by operating activities 721,681 284,612 320,283
Investing activities:

Construction expenditures—excluding equity AFUDC (224,165) (247,435) (296,480)
Energy conservation expenditures (11,356) (15,591) (6,931)
Restricted cash (18,871) — —
Proceeds from sale of investment in Cabot preferred stock — — 51,463
Proceeds from sale of Centralia plant — — 37,449
Proceeds from sale of securities — — 6,757
Investments by InfrastruX — — (85,506)
Repayment from/(loans to) Schlumberger — 51,948 (20,874)
Other (14,472) (16,446) (14,138)

Net cash used by investing activities (268,864) (227,524) (328,260)
Financing activities:

Increase (decrease) in short-term debt—net (307,828) (38,845) (226,395)
Dividends paid (97,321) (141,709) (142,886)
Issuance of bonds 40,000 — 510,000
Issuance of trust preferred stock — 200,000 —
Redemption of preferred stock (7,500) (7,500) (7,503)
Redemption of bonds and notes (117,000) (19,000) (150,980)
Investment from Puget Energy 115,736 — —
Other (137) (3,709) (3,583)

Net cash used by financing activities (374,050) (10,763) (21,347)
Increase (decrease) in cash from net income 78,767 46,325 (29,324)
Cash at beginning of year 82,708 36,383 65,707
Cash at end of year $ 161,475 $ 82,708 $ 36,383
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash payments for:

Interest (net of capitalized interest) $ 194,876 $ 187,347 $ 176,895
Income taxes (net of refunds) (81,973) 87,020 114,100 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Of Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy

Note 1.
Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
Puget Energy is an exempt public utility holding company

under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. Puget
Energy owns Puget Sound Energy (PSE) and is a majority owner of
InfrastruX Group, Inc. (InfrastruX), a Washington corporation. 

The consolidated financial statements of Puget Energy
include the accounts of Puget Energy and its subsidiaries, PSE and
InfrastruX. Puget Energy holds all the common shares of PSE and
holds a majority interest in InfrastruX. The results of PSE and 
InfrastruX are presented on a consolidated basis. PSE’s consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of PSE and its subsidiaries.
Puget Energy and PSE are collectively referred to herein as “the Com-
pany”. The consolidated financial statements are presented after
elimination of all significant intercompany items and transactions.
Minority interests of InfrastruX’s operating results are reflected in
Puget Energy’s consolidated financial statements. Certain amounts
previously reported have been reclassified to conform with current
year presentations with no effect on total equity or net income.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and lia-
bilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Annual
Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q are
available at the Securities and Exchange Commission website at
www.sec.gov or at Puget Energy’s website at www.pse.com.

Utility Plant
The costs of additions to utility plant, including renewals

and betterments, are capitalized at original cost. Costs include indi-
rect costs such as engineering, supervision, certain taxes and pen-
sion and other employee benefits, and an allowance for funds used
during construction. Replacements of minor items of property are
included in maintenance expense. The original cost of operating
property together with removal cost, less salvage, is charged to
accumulated depreciation when the property is retired and
removed from service.

Non-Utility Property, 
Plant and Equipment
The costs of other property, plant and equipment are

stated at cost. Expenditures for refurbishment and improvements
that significantly add to productive capacity or extend useful life of
an asset are capitalized. Replacement of minor items is expensed,
on a current basis. Gains and losses on assets sold or retired are
reflected in earnings.

Accounting For The Impairment 
of Long-lived Assets
The Company evaluates impairment of long-lived assets

in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 144 establishes
accounting standards for determining if long-lived assets are
impaired and how losses, if any, should be recognized. The Com-
pany believes that the net cash flows are sufficient to cover the car-
rying value of the assets.

Depreciation and Amortization
For financial statement purposes, the Company provides

for depreciation and amortization on a straight-line basis. Amorti-
zation is comprised of software, small tools and office equipment.
The depreciation of automobiles, trucks, power-operated equip-
ment and tools is allocated to asset and expense accounts based
on usage. The annual depreciation provision stated as a percent of
average original cost of depreciable electric utility plant was 2.9%
in 2002, 3.0% in 2001 and 2.9% in 2000; depreciable gas utility
plant was 3.3% in 2002, 3.5% in 2001 and 3.3% in 2000; and
depreciable common utility plant was 4.3% in 2002, 3.1% in 2001
and 1.9% in 2000. Depreciation on other property, plant and equip-
ment is calculated primarily on a straight-line basis over the useful
lives of the assets ranging from 3 to 50 years.

Cash 
All liquid investments with maturities of three months or

less at the date of purchase are considered cash.

Material and Supplies 
Material and supplies consists primarily of materials and

supplies used in the operation and maintenance of the electric and
gas systems, coal, diesel and natural gas held for generation, and
natural gas and liquefied natural gas held in storage for future sales.
These items are recorded at the lower of cost or market value, pri-
marily using the weighted average cost method. 

Regulatory Assets and Agreements
The Company accounts for its regulated operations in

accordance with SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Cer-
tain Types of Regulation”. SFAS No. 71 requires the Company to
defer certain costs that would otherwise be charged to expense, if
it is probable that future rates will permit recovery of such costs.
Accounting under SFAS No. 71 is appropriate as long as: rates are
established by or subject to approval by independent, third-party
regulators; rates are designed to recover the specific enterprise’s
cost-of-service; and in view of demand for service, it is reasonable
to assume that rates set at levels that will recover costs can be
charged to and collected from customers. In applying SFAS No. 71,
the Company must give consideration to changes in the level of 
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demand or competition during the cost recovery period. In accor-
dance with SFAS No. 71, the Company capitalizes certain costs in
accordance with regulatory authority whereby those costs will be
expensed and recovered in future periods. 

The Company is allowed a return on the net regulatory
assets and liabilities of 8.76% for both electric rates beginning July 1,
2002 and gas rates beginning September 1, 2002. The 2001 allowed
rate of return was 8.94% for electric rates and 9.15% for gas rates.
The net regulatory assets and liabilities at December 31, 2002 and
2001, included the following:

Remaining
Dollars in millions amortization period 2002 2001

Deferred income taxes $167.1 $193.0
PURPA electric energy 

supply contract 
buyout costs 6 to 9 years 243.6 244.6

Investment in BEP 
exchange contract 14 years 51.1 54.7

Unamortized energy
conservation charges 1 to 3 years 8.2 15.2

Storm damage costs—
electric 4 years 21.9 26.6

Purchased gas 
receivable/(payable) 1 year (83.8) 37.2

Deferred AFUDC 30 years 29.9 28.5
Environmental remediation 41.6 14.4
Various other 

regulatory assets 1 to 21 years 24.4 47.7
Deferred gains on 

property sales 3 years (14.4) (17.3)
Various other 

regulatory liabilities 1 to 17 years (5.9) (6.7)
Net regulatory 

assets and liabilities $483.7 $637.9

If the Company, at some point in the future, determines
that all or a portion of the utility operations no longer meet the cri-
teria for continued application of SFAS No. 71, the Company would
be required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 101, “Regulated
Enterprises—Accounting for the Discontinuation of Application of
FASB Statement No. 71”. Adoption of SFAS No. 101 would require
the Company to write off the regulatory assets and liabilities related
to those operations not meeting SFAS No. 71 requirements. Dis-
continuation of SFAS No. 71 could have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.

The Company, in prior years, incurred costs associated
with its 5% interest in a now-terminated nuclear generating project
(identified herein as Investment in Bonneville Exchange Power
(BEP)). Under terms of a settlement agreement with the Bonneville
Power Administration (BPA), which settled claims of the Company 

relating to construction delays associated with that project, the
Company is receiving power from the federal power system
resources marketed by BPA. The Company’s remaining investment
in BEP is included in rate base and amortized on a straight-line basis
over the life of the settlement agreement (amortization is included in
purchased electricity expense). The Company has regulatory assets
of approximately $243.6 million related to the buyout of purchased
power and gas sales contracts of two non-utility generation projects.
Washington Commission accounting orders have approved pay-
ments pursuant to these contracts for deferral and collection in rates
over the remaining life of the energy supply contracts.

Allowance for Funds Used 
During Construction
The Allowance for Funds Used During Construction

(AFUDC) represents the cost of both the debt and equity funds
used to finance utility plant additions during the construction
period. The amount of AFUDC recorded in each accounting period
varies depending principally upon the level of construction work in
progress and the AFUDC rate used. AFUDC is capitalized as a part
of the cost of utility plant and is credited as a non-cash item to
other income and interest charges currently. Cash inflow related to
AFUDC does not occur until these charges are reflected in rates.

The AFUDC rate allowed by the Washington Commission
for gas utility plant additions was 8.76% beginning September 1,
2002 and 9.15% in 2001 and 2000. The allowed AFUDC rate on
electric utility plant was 8.76% beginning July 1, 2002 and 8.94%
in 2001 and 2000. To the extent amounts calculated using this rate
exceed the AFUDC calculated rate using the Federal Energy Regu-
latory Commission (FERC) formula, the Company capitalizes the
excess as a deferred asset, crediting miscellaneous income. The
amounts included in income were $2.6 million for 2002, $2.7 million
for 2001 and $2.8 million for 2000. The deferred asset is being 
amortized over the average useful life of the Company’s non-project
utility plant.

Revenue Recognition
Operating utility revenues are recorded on the basis of

service rendered, which includes estimated unbilled revenue. Non-
utility subsidiaries recognize revenue when services are performed,
upon the sale of assets or on a percent of completion basis for fixed
priced contracts.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated based

upon historical write-offs as compared to operating revenues. The
Company has also provided for a reserve for fiscal 2000 sales
transactions related to the California Independent System Opera-
tor and counterparties based upon probability of collection. Puget
Energy’s allowance for doubtful accounts for 2002 and 2001 was
$45.4 million and $47.0 million, respectively. PSE’s allowance 
for doubtful accounts for 2002 and 2001 was $43.5 million and
$45.2 million, respectively.
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Restricted Cash
Restricted cash represents cash to be used for specific

purposes. Approximately $17.8 million in restricted cash was
received from BPA under the amended Residential Purchase and
Sale Agreement for residential and small farm customers who
receive a credit on their bills for the Residential and Farm Energy
Exchange credit tariff. The restricted amount is the excess paid by
the BPA over the credit provided to these customers. All funds
received will be credited to these customers in the future. Approx-
imately $1.1 million in restricted cash was held by Puget Western,
a PSE subsidiary, for a real estate development project that a city
requires to ensure work is completed either by the Company or by
the city. 

Self-Insurance
The Company currently has no insurance coverage for

storm damage and is self-insured for a portion of the risk associated
with comprehensive liability, industrial accidents and catastrophic
property losses. With approval of the Washington Commission,
PSE is able to defer for collection in future rates certain uninsured
storm damage costs associated with major storms.

Federal Income Taxes
The Company normalizes, with the approval of the Wash-

ington Commission, certain income tax items. Deferred taxes have
been determined under SFAS No. 109. Investment tax credits are
deferred and amortized based on the average useful life of the
related property in accordance with regulatory and income tax
requirements. (See Note 11.)

Energy Conservation
The Company offers programs designed to help new and

existing customers use energy efficiently. The primary emphasis is
to provide information and technical services to enable customers
to make energy efficient choices with respect to building design,
equipment and building systems, appliance purchases and operat-
ing practices.

Since May 1997, the Company has recovered electric
energy conservation expenditures through a tariff rider mechanism.
The rider mechanism allows the Company to defer the conservation
expenditures and amortize them to expense as PSE concurrently col-
lects the conservation expenditures in rates over a one-year period.
As a result of the rider, there is no effect on earnings per share.

Since 1995, the Company has been authorized by the
Washington Commission to defer gas energy conservation expen-
ditures and recover them through a tariff tracker mechanism. The
tracker mechanism allows the Company to defer conservation
expenditures and recover them in rates over the subsequent year.
The tracker mechanism also allows the Company to recover an
Allowance for Funds Used to Conserve Energy (AFUCE) on any out-
standing balance that is not being recovered in rates.

Rate Adjustment Mechanism
The Company has a Power Cost Adjustment (PCA) mech-

anism that provides for an automatic rate adjustment if PSE’s costs
to provide customers’ electricity falls outside certain bands from a
normalized level of power costs established in the electric general
rate case. The Company’s cumulative maximum pre-tax earnings
exposure due to power cost variations over the four year period
ending June 30, 2006 is limited to $40 million plus 1% of the
excess. All significant variable power supply cost drivers are
included in the power cost adjustment mechanism (hydroelectric
generation variability, market price variability for purchased power
and surplus power sales, natural gas and coal fuel price variability,
generation unit forced outage risk and wheeling cost variability).
The mechanism apportions increases or decreases in power costs,
on a graduated scale, between PSE and its customers.

The differences between the actual cost of the Com-
pany’s gas supplies and gas transportation contracts and that
currently allowed by the Washington Commission are deferred
and recovered or repaid through the purchased gas adjustment
(PGA) mechanism.

Natural Gas Off-System Sales 
and Capacity Release
The Company contracts for firm gas supplies and holds

firm transportation and storage capacity sufficient to meet the
expected peak winter demand for gas for space heating by its firm
customers. Due to the variability in weather and other factors, how-
ever, the Company holds contractual rights to gas supplies and
transportation and storage capacity in excess of its immediate
requirements to serve firm customers on its distribution system for
much of the year which, therefore, are available for third-party gas
sales, exchanges and capacity releases. The Company sells excess
gas supplies, enters into gas supply exchanges with third parties
outside of its distribution area and releases to third parties excess
interstate gas pipeline capacity and gas storage rights on a short-
term basis to mitigate the costs of firm transportation and storage
capacity for its core gas customers. The proceeds, net of transac-
tional costs, from such activities are accounted for as reductions in
the cost of purchased gas and passed on to customers through the
PGA mechanism, with no direct impact on net income. As a result,
the Company does not reflect sales revenue or associated cost of
sales for these transactions in its income statement. 
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Energy Risk Management
The Company’s energy related businesses are exposed to

risks related to changes in commodity prices and volumetric
changes in its loads and resources. The Company’s energy risk
management function manages the Company’s core electric and
gas supply portfolios to achieve three primary objectives: 
(i) Ensure that physical energy supplies are available to serve

retail customer requirements;
(ii) Manage portfolio risks to limit undesired impacts on financial

results; and
(iii) Optimize the value of energy supply assets.

The Company enters into physical and financial instru-
ments for the purpose of hedging commodity price risk. Gains 
or losses on these derivatives are accounted for pursuant to SFAS
No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activ-
ities” as amended by SFAS No. 138. (See Note 17 for further dis-
cussion.) The Company has established policies and procedures to
manage these risks. A Risk Management Committee separate from
the business units that create these risks monitors compliance with
policies and procedures. In addition, the Audit Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors has oversight of the Risk Manage-
ment Committee.

Accounting for Derivatives
On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as
amended by SFAS No. 138. SFAS No. 133 requires that all con-
tracts considered to be derivative instruments be recorded on the
balance sheet at their fair value. Certain contracts that would oth-
erwise be considered derivatives are exempt from this SFAS if they
qualify for a normal purchase and normal sale exception. The Com-
pany enters into both physical and financial contracts to manage its
energy resource portfolio. The majority of these contracts qualify
for the normal purchase and normal sale exception. However, 
certain of these contracts are derivatives and pursuant to SFAS 
No. 133 are reported at their fair value in the balance sheet.
Changes in their fair value are reported in earnings unless they
meet specific hedge accounting criteria, in which case changes in
their fair market value are recorded in comprehensive income until
the time when the transaction that they are hedging is recorded as
income. The Company designates derivative instruments as a qual-
ifying cash flow hedge if the change in the fair value of the deriva-
tive is highly effective at offsetting the changes in the fair value of
an asset, liability or a forecasted transaction. To the extent that a
portion of a derivative designated as a hedge is ineffective, changes
in the fair value of the ineffective portion of that derivative are rec-
ognized currently in earnings. Finally, changes in the market value
of derivative transactions related to obtaining gas for the Com-
pany’s retail gas business are deferred as regulatory assets or lia-
bilities as a result of the Company’s PGA mechanism and recorded
in earnings as the transactions are executed.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has various stock compensation plans,

which are described more fully in Note 14. As allowed by SFAS 
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, the Com-
pany accounts for the plans according to APB No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. The
exercise price of stock options granted was the market value of the
stock on the date of grant, so no compensation expense was
recorded in the income statement for the options. There was, how-
ever, compensation expense related to other stock compensation
plans. Had the Company used the fair value method of accounting
specified by SFAS No. 123, net income and earnings per share
would have been as follows:

Dollars in thousands, except per share
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Income for common stock, 
as reported $110,052 $98,426 $184,837

Add: Total stock-based 
employee compensation 
expense included in 
net income, net of tax 4,103 1,352 2,553

Less: Total stock-based
employee compensation
expense per the fair 
value method of SFAS 123, 
net of tax (3,495) (2,429) (1,941)

Pro forma income 
for common stock $110,660 $97,349 $185,449

Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted 

as reported $1.24 $1.14 $2.16
Basic pro forma $1.25 $1.13 $2.17
Diluted pro forma $1.25 $1.12 $2.16

Debt Related Costs
Debt premium, discount and expenses are amortized over

the life of the related debt. The premiums and costs associated with
reacquired debt are deferred and amortized over the life of the
related new issuance, in accordance with ratemaking treatment.

Goodwill and Intangibles 
(Puget Energy Only) 
Goodwill is reviewed annually to determine if any impair-

ment exists. If goodwill is determined to have an impairment, Puget
Energy would record in the period of determination an impairment
charge to earnings. Intangibles are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the expected periods to be benefited. For those acquisi-
tions occurring subsequent to June 30, 2001, there was no amorti-
zation of goodwill. For acquisitions made prior to June 30, 2001,
goodwill and intangibles were amortized on a straight-line basis
over the expected periods to be benefited, up to 30 years through
December 31, 2001. The goodwill and intangibles recorded on the
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balance sheet are the result of InfrastruX acquiring companies dur-
ing 2000 through 2002. 

Earnings Per Common Share 
(Puget Energy Only) 
Basic earnings per common share has been computed

based on weighted average common shares outstanding of
88,372,000, 86,445,000, and 85,411,000 for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Diluted earnings per common share has been com-
puted based on weighted average common shares outstanding of
88,777,000, 86,703,000, and 85,690,000 for 2002, 2001 and 2000
respectively, which includes the dilutive effect of securities related
to employee stock-based compensation plans.

Accounts Receivable Securitization Program
Rainier Receivables, Inc., is a wholly owned, bankruptcy-

remote subsidiary of PSE formed in December 2002 for the pur-
pose of purchasing customers’ accounts receivable, both billed and
unbilled, of PSE. Rainier Receivables and PSE have an agreement
whereby Rainier Receivables can sell on a revolving basis, up to
$150.0 million of those receivables. The current agreement expires
in December 2005. Rainier Receivables is obligated to pay fees that
approximate the third party purchaser’s cost of issuing commercial
paper equal in value to the interests in receivables sold. At Decem-
ber 31, 2002, there were no borrowings outstanding under the
receivable securitization program.

New Accounting Pronouncements 
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board issued Interpretation No. 46—”Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” (FIN 46). FIN 46 clarifies the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51—”Consolidated Financial
Statements” to certain entities in which equity investors do not
have controlling interest or sufficient equity at risk for the entity to
finance its activities without additional financial support. This Inter-
pretation requires that if a business entity has a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity the financial statements must be
included in the consolidated financial statements of the business
entity. The adoption of this Interpretation for all interests in variable
interest entities created after January 31, 2003 is effective immedi-
ately. For variable interest entities created before February 1, 2003,
it is effective July 1, 2003. The Company is in the process of deter-
mining the impacts of this Interpretation.

On January 1, 2002, SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” became effective and as a result, Puget Energy
ceased amortization of goodwill. During 2001, Puget Energy
recorded approximately $2.8 million of goodwill amortization.
Puget Energy performed an initial impairment review of goodwill
and an annual impairment review thereafter. The initial review was
completed during the first half of 2002, which did not result in an
impairment charge. Puget Energy then performed its annual impair-
ment review as of October 31, 2002 and determined that its good-
will was not impaired.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. SFAS No. 143 requires legal obligations associated with the
retirement of long-lived assets to be recognized at their fair value at
the time that the obligations are incurred. Upon initial recognition
of a liability, that cost should be capitalized as part of the related
long-lived asset and allocated to expense over the useful life of the
asset. The Company will adopt the new rules on asset retirement
obligations on January 1, 2003. Application of the new rules is not
expected to result in a material increase in net property, plant and
equipment or expense.

The Emerging Issues Task Force of the Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (EITF or Task Force) at its June 2002 meeting
came to a consensus on one of three items included in EITF Issue
02-3 “Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities” (EITF 02-3). The Task Force has agreed that
all mark-to-market gains and losses on energy trading contracts
whether realized or unrealized will be shown net in the income
statement (costs offset against revenues), irrespective of whether
the contract is physically settled. The presentation is applicable to
financial statements for periods ending after July 15, 2002. The
Company performs risk management activities to optimize the
value of energy supply and transmission assets and to ensure that
physical energy supply is available to meet the customer demand
loads. The Company also purchases energy when demand exceeds
available supplies in its portfolio; likewise the Company makes sales
to other utilities and marketers when surplus energy is available.
These transactions are part of the Company’s normal operations to
meet retail load. The Company has reclassified all settled transac-
tions that meet the definition of optimization (trading transactions
that optimize hydro resources, and purchases and sales between
trading points) net in the income statement to conform to the new
presentation required under EITF 02-3. The Company previously
reported these transactions when settled in a gross manner in the
income statement in electric operating revenue and purchased
electricity expense. Unrealized gains or losses on derivative instru-
ments that are required to be marked-to-market remain reflected in
unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments on Puget Energy’s
and PSE’s income statement as required by SFAS No. 133. The
adoption of EITF 02-3 does not have any impact on the previously
reported net income of the Company. The following optimization
transactions were recorded in electric operating revenue: 

Dollars in thousands
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000

Optimization sales $66,992 $492,447 $133,361
Optimization purchases 64,448 487,431 139,376
Net margin on 

optimization transactions $ 2,544 $ 5,016 $ (6,015)
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Note 2.
Utility and Non-Utility Plant 

Utility plant at December 31, 2002 and 2001 included 
the following:

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Electric, gas and common utility 
plant classified by prescribed 
accounts at original cost:

Distribution plant $ 3,911,725 $ 3,736,590
Production plant 1,126,173 1,117,099
Transmission plant 368,959 361,662
General plant 365,409 376,119
Construction work in progress 108,658 123,307
Plant acquisition adjustment 76,623 76,623
Intangible plant 

(including capitalized software) 260,043 255,619
Underground storage 22,291 21,872
Liquefied natural gas 644 —
Plant held for future use 8,729 8,331
Other 4,807 4,807
Less accumulated provision 

for depreciation (2,337,832) (2,194,048)
Net utility plant $ 3,916,229 $ 3,887,981

Non-utility plant and intangibles at December 31, 2002
and 2001 included the following:

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Non-utility plant $100,481 $ 58,318
Intangibles 21,933 18,004
Less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization (22,907) (11,894)
Net non-utility plant and intangibles $ 99,507 $ 64,428

The non-utility plant is composed primarily of the prop-
erty, plant and equipment of InfrastruX. The intangibles are com-
posed of patents, contractual customer relationships and other
amortizable intangible assets of InfrastruX.

Note 3.
Preferred Stock

Preferred stock

Not subject to Subject to 
mandatory redemption mandatory redemption

$25 par value $100 par value

Shares outstanding 
December 31, 1999 2,400,000 656,619

Acquired for sinking fund:
2000 — (75,000)
2001 — (75,000)
2002 — (75,000)

Called for redemption or 
reacquired and canceled:

2000 — —
2001 — —
2002 — —

Shares outstanding
December 31, 2002 2,400,000 431,619

See “Consolidated Statements of Capitalization” for details on spe-
cific series.

The $25 par value 7.45% Series Preferred stock not sub-
ject to mandatory redemption may be redeemed at par on or after
November 1, 2003.
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Preferred Stock Subject 
to Mandatory Redemption
The Company is required to deposit funds annually in a

sinking fund sufficient to redeem the following number of shares of
each series of preferred stock at $100 per share plus accrued divi-
dends: 4.70% Series and 4.84% Series, 3,000 shares each and
7.75% Series, 37,500 shares. All previous sinking fund require-
ments have been satisfied. At December 31, 2002, there were
40,689 shares of the 4.70% Series and 24,192 shares of the 4.84%
Series acquired by the Company and available for future sinking
fund requirements. Upon involuntary liquidation, all preferred
shares are entitled to their par value plus accrued dividends. 

The preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption
may also be redeemed by the Company at the following redemp-
tion prices per share plus accrued dividends: 4.70% Series,
$101.00 and 4.84% Series, $102.00. The 7.75% Series may be
redeemed by the Company, subject to certain restrictions, at
$102.58 per share plus accrued dividends through February 15,
2003, and at per share amounts which decline annually to a price
of $100 after February 15, 2007.

Company-Obligated, Mandatorily
Redeemable Preferred Securities
In 1997 and 2001, the Company formed Puget Sound

Energy Capital Trust I and Puget Sound Energy Capital Trust II,
respectively, for the sole purpose of issuing and selling common
and preferred securities (Trust Securities). The proceeds from the
sale of Trust Securities were used to purchase Junior Subordinated
Debentures (Debentures) from the Company. The Debentures are
the sole assets of the Trusts and the Company owns all common
securities of the Trusts.

The Debentures of Trust I and Trust II have an interest rate
of 8.231% and 8.40%, respectively, and a stated maturity date of
June 1, 2027 and June 30, 2041, respectively. The Trust Securities
are subject to mandatory redemption at par on the stated maturity
date of the Debentures. The Trust Securities in the Capital Trust I
may be redeemed earlier, under certain conditions, at the option of
the Company. The Capital Trust II Securities may be redeemed at
any time on or after June 30, 2006 at par, under certain conditions,
at the option of the Company. Dividends relating to preferred secu-
rities are included in interest expense. On February 26, 2003, the
Company repurchased 19,750 shares of the 8.231% Trust Securities.

Note 4.
Preferred Share Purchase Right

On October 23, 2000, the Board of Directors declared a
dividend of one preferred share purchase right (a Right) for each
outstanding common share of Puget Energy. The dividend was paid
on December 29, 2000 to shareholders of record on that date. The
Rights will become exercisable only if a person or group acquires
10% or more of Puget Energy’s outstanding common stock or
announces a tender offer which, if consummated, would result in
ownership by a person or group of 10% or more of the outstanding
common stock. Each right will entitle the holder to purchase from
Puget Energy one one-hundredth of a share of preferred stock with
economic terms similar to that of one share of Puget Energy’s com-
mon stock at a purchase price of $65, subject to adjustments. The
Rights expire on December 21, 2010, unless earlier redeemed or
exchanged by Puget Energy. 

Note 5.
Dividend Restrictions

The payment of dividends on common stock is restricted
by provisions of certain covenants applicable to preferred stock
and long-term debt contained in the Company’s Articles of Incor-
poration and Mortgage Indentures. Under the most restrictive
covenants of PSE, earnings reinvested in the business unrestricted
as to payment of cash dividends were approximately $202.7 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002. 

Under the general rate settlement, PSE must rebuild its
common equity ratio to at least 39%, with milestones of 34%, 35%
and 39% at the end of 2003, 2004 and 2005 respectively. If PSE
should fail to meet the schedule, it would be subject to a 2% rate
reduction penalty. The common equity ratio for PSE at December 31,
2002 was 36.1%.
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Note 6. 
Long-Term Debt

First Mortgage Bonds and Senior Notes

At December 31
Dollars in thousands

Series Due 2002 2001 Series Due 2002 2001

7.07% 2002 $        — $ 27,000 6.51% 2008 $ 1,000 $ 1,000
7.15% 2002 — 5,000 6.53% 2008 3,500 3,500
7.53% 2002 — 10,000 7.61% 2008 25,000 25,000
7.625% 2002 — 25,000 6.46% 2009 150,000 150,000
7.85% 2002 — 30,000 6.61% 2009 3,000 3,000
7.91% 2002 — 20,000 6.62% 2009 5,000 5,000
6.20% 2003 3,000 3,000 7.12% 2010 7,000 7,000
6.23% 2003 1,500 1,500 7.96% 2010 225,000 225,000
6.24% 2003 1,500 1,500 7.69% 2011 260,000 260,000
6.30% 2003 20,000 20,000 8.20% 2012 30,000 30,000
6.31% 2003 5,000 5,000 8.59% 2012 5,000 5,000
6.40% 2003 11,000 11,000 6.83% 2013 3,000 3,000
7.02% 2003 30,000 30,000 6.90% 2013 10,000 10,000
6.25% 2004 40,000 — 7.35% 2015 10,000 10,000
6.07% 2004 10,000 10,000 7.36% 2015 2,000 2,000
6.10% 2004 8,500 8,500 6.74% 2018 200,000 200,000
7.70% 2004 50,000 50,000 9.57% 2020 25,000 25,000
7.80% 2004 30,000 30,000 8.25% 2022 25,000 25,000
6.92% 2005 11,000 11,000 8.39% 2022 7,000 7,000
6.93% 2005 20,000 20,000 8.40% 2022 3,000 3,000
6.58% 2006 10,000 10,000 7.19% 2023 3,000 3,000
8.06% 2006 46,000 46,000 7.35% 2024 55,000 55,000
8.14% 2006 25,000 25,000 7.15% 2025 15,000 15,000
7.02% 2007 20,000 20,000 7.20% 2025 2,000 2,000
7.75% 2007 100,000 100,000 7.02% 2027 300,000 300,000
7.04% 2007 5,000 5,000 7.00% 2029 100,000 100,000
8.40% 2007 10,000 10,000 Total $1,932,000 $2,009,000
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Long-Term Debt Maturities 
The principal amounts of long-term debt maturities for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Puget Energy
Dollars in thousands 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter

Maturities of:
Long-term debt $73,206 $265,848 $31,525 $81,000 $135,000 $1,636,360 

Puget Sound Energy
Dollars in thousands 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 Thereafter

Maturities of:
Long-term debt $72,000 $138,473 $31,000 $81,000 $135,000 $1,636,360 

In January 2002, the Company issued $40.0 million of
First Mortgage Bonds which are due January 2004. In February
2002, the Company filed a shelf-registration statement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission for the offering on a delayed
or continuous basis, of up to $500 million of any combination of
common stock of Puget Energy, principal amount of Senior Notes
secured by a pledge of First Mortgage Bonds, Unsecured Deben-
tures or Trust Preferred Securities. In February 2003, the Company
notified investors of its intent to call three series of first mortgage
bonds totaling $20 million. The Company will repay the bonds using
cash on hand. 

Substantially all utility properties owned by the Company
are subject to the lien of the Company’s electric and gas mortgage
indentures. To issue additional first mortgage bonds under these
indentures, PSE’s earnings available for interest must be at least
twice the annual interest charges on outstanding first mortgage
bonds. At December 31, 2002, the earnings available for interest
were 2.4 times the annual interest charges.

Pollution Control Bonds 
The Company has outstanding three series of Pollution

Control Bonds. Amounts outstanding were borrowed from the City 
of Forsyth, Montana (the City). The City obtained the funds from the
sale of Customized Pollution Control Refunding Bonds issued to
finance pollution control facilities at Colstrip Units 3 and 4.

Each series of bonds is collateralized by a pledge of PSE’s
First Mortgage Bonds, the terms of which match those of the Pol-
lution Control Bonds. No payment is due with respect to the related
series of First Mortgage Bonds so long as payment is made on the
Pollution Control Bonds. 

Dollars in thousands
At December 31
Series Due 2002 2001

1993 Series—5.875% 2020 $ 23,460 $ 23,460
1991 Series—7.05% 2021 27,500 27,500
1991 Series—7.25% 2021 23,400 23,400
1992 Series—6.80% 2022 87,500 87,500

Total $161,860 $161,860

On February 19, 2003 the Board of Directors approved
the refinancing of all Pollution Control Bonds series. It is anticipated
that the refinancing of the Pollution Control Bonds will be com-
pleted in March or April 2003.

Long-Term Revolving Credit Facility 
(Puget Energy Only) 
InfrastruX and its subsidiaries have signed credit agree-

ments with several banks for up to $179.8 million which expire in
2003 and 2004. Under the InfrastruX credit agreement, Puget
Energy is the guarantor of $150.0 million of the line of credit.
InfrastruX has borrowed $144.0 million at a weighted average
interest rate of 3.27%, leaving a balance of $35.8 million available
under the lines of credit at December 31, 2002. 
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Note 8.
Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at
December 31, 2002 and 2001:

2002 2002 2001 2001
Dollars in millions Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets:
Cash $ 176.7 $ 176.7 $ 92.3 $ 92.3
Restricted cash 18.9 18.9 — —
Equity securities1 10.4 10.4 12.8 12.8
Notes receivable and other 41.5 41.5 40.0 40.0
Energy derivatives 13.6 13.6 6.6 6.6

Financial liabilities:
Short-term debt 47.3 47.3 348.6 348.6
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption 43.2 42.4 50.7 49.3
Corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred 

securities of subsidiary trust holding solely junior 
subordinated debentures of the corporation 300.0 303.1 300.0 301.8

Long-term debt2 2,223.0 2,381.8 2,246.7 2,131.2
Energy derivatives 2.4 2.4 35.2 35.2

1 The 2002 and 2001 carrying amount includes an adjustment of $2.4 million and $4.5 million, respectively, to report the available-for-sale securities at
market value. This amount (or unrealized gain) has been included as a component of other comprehensive income net of deferred taxes of $0.8 million and 
$1.6 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively.

2 PSE’s carrying and fair value of long-term debt for 2002 was $2,093.9 million and $2,252.7 million, respectively.

Note 7.
Liquidity Facilities and Other Financing
Arrangements

At December 31, 2002, PSE had short-term borrowing
arrangements that included a $250 million unsecured 364-day line
of credit with various banks and a $150 million 3-year receivables
securitization program. These agreements replaced a $375 million
line of credit, which would have expired on February 13, 2003. The
new agreements provide PSE with the ability to borrow at different
interest rate options and include variable fee levels. The line of credit
allows the Company to make floating rate advances at prime plus a
spread and Eurodollar advances at LIBOR plus a spread. The agree-
ment contains “credit sensitive” pricing with various spreads asso-
ciated with various credit rating levels. The agreement also allows
for drawing letters of credit up to $50 million. The receivables secu-
ritization program allows the Company to draw against eligible
receivables at a rate equal to that of high grade commercial paper.

In addition, PSE has agreements with several banks to
borrow on an uncommitted, as available, basis at money-market
rates quoted by the banks. There are no costs, other than interest,
for these arrangements. PSE also uses commercial paper to fund
its short-term borrowing requirements. The following table presents
the liquidity facilities and other financing arrangements at Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and 2001.

Dollars in thousands
At December 31 2002 2001

Short-term 
borrowings outstanding:

Commercial paper notes $ 30,340 $123,168
Bank line of 

credit borrowings — 215,000
Puget Energy bank line 

of credit borrowings 16,955 10,409
Weighted average 

interest rate 3.21% 2.72%
InfrastruX revolving 

credit facility1 179,750 170,500
PSE credit availability2 250,000 375,000
PSE receivable securitization program 150,000 —

1 The revolving credit facility requires InfrastruX and its subsidiaries
to maintain certain financial covenants, including requirements to maintain cer-
tain levels of net worth and debt coverage. The agreement also places certain
restrictions on expenditures, other indebtedness and executive compensation.

2 Provides liquidity support for PSE’s outstanding commercial
paper in the amount of $30.3 million and $338.2 million for 2002 and 2001,
respectively, effectively reducing the available borrowing capacity under these
credit lines to $219.7 million and $36.8 million, respectively.

The Company has, on occasion, entered into interest rate
swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates
on portions of its floating-rate debt. There were no such agree-
ments outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001.
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Note 10.
Leases

All of PSE’s leases are operating leases. Certain leases
contain purchase options, renewal and escalation provisions. 

Operating and capital lease payments net of sublease
receipts were:  

Dollars in thousands Puget Energy PSE
At December 31 Operating Capital Operating

2002 $26,368 $2,486 $20,176
2001 25,373 1,966 20,135
2000 18,239 653 18,239

Payments received for the sublease of properties were
approximately $2.6 million, $2.5 million, and $2.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable
leases net of sublease receipts are:  

Dollars in thousands Puget Energy PSE
At December 31 Operating Capital Operating

2003 $18,208 $2,040 $12,644
2004 14,694 1,774 10,404
2005 9,065 1,441 6,446
2006 7,604 1,335 6,502
2007 6,998 821 6,468
Thereafter 9,497 925 9,350
Total minimum 

lease payments $66,066 $8,336 $51,814

Future minimum sublease receipts for non-cancelable
subleases are $1 million for 2003.

The fair value of outstanding bonds including current maturities is estimated based on quoted market prices.
The preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption and corporation obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of

subsidiary trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation is estimated based on dealer quotes.
The carrying value of short-term debt and notes receivable are considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value. The carrying

amount of cash, which includes temporary investments with original maturities of three months or less, is also considered to be a reasonable
estimate of fair value.

Derivative instruments have been used by the Company on a limited basis and are recorded at fair value. The Company has a policy
that financial derivatives are to be used only to mitigate business risk.

Note 9.
Supplementary Income Statement Information 

Puget Energy
Puget Energy PSE Puget Energy PSE and PSE

Dollars in thousands 2002 2002 2001 2001 2000

Taxes other than income taxes:
Real estate and personal property $ 48,890 $ 48,408 $ 41,858 $ 41,588 $ 47,357
State business 77,527 77,527 85,335 84,735 83,485
Municipal and occupational 67,770 67,770 71,819 71,819 65,155
Other 37,029 24,463 33,431 29,084 30,073

Total taxes other than income taxes $231,216 $218,168 $232,443 $227,226 $226,070
Charged to:

Operating expense $215,429 $202,381 $212,582 $207,365 $202,398
Other accounts, including construction work in progress 15,787 15,787 19,861 19,861 23,672

Total taxes other than income taxes $231,216 $218,168 $232,443 $227,226 $226,070
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Note 11.
Income Taxes

The details of income taxes are as follows:

Puget Energy
Puget Energy PSE Puget Energy PSE and PSE

Dollars in thousands 2002 2002 2001 2001 2000

Charged to operating expense:
Current—federal $ (84,149) $ (81,839) $58,749 $58,331 $128,138
Current—state (774) (548) 1,347 1,232 832
Deferred—net federal 144,230 135,884 19,945 18,040 1,557
Deferred—net state 614 — 485 — —
Deferred investment tax credits (661) (661) (688) (688) (704)
Total charged to operations 59,260 52,836 79,838 76,915 129,823
Charged to miscellaneous income:
Current (3,276) (3,406) 6,272 6,272 7,843
Deferred—net 1,228 1,228 (2,259) (2,259) (10,150)
Total charged to miscellaneous income (2,048) (2,178) 4,013 4,013 (2,307)
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — (7,942) (7,942) —
Total income taxes $ 57,212 $ 50,658 $75,909 $72,986 $127,516

The following is a reconciliation of the difference between the amount of income taxes computed by multiplying pre-tax book
income by the statutory tax rate and the amount of income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the Company:

Puget Energy
Puget Energy PSE Puget Energy PSE and PSE

Dollars in thousands 2002 2002 2001 2001 2000

Income taxes at the statutory rate $ 61,587 $ 55,862 $63,962 $62,079 $112,471
Increase (decrease):

Depreciation expense deducted in the financial statements 
in excess of tax depreciation, net of depreciation treated 
as a temporary difference 10,041 10,041 11,726 11,726 10,807

AFUDC included in income in the financial
statements but excluded from taxable income (1,387) (1,387) (2,126) (2,126) (3,274)

Accelerated benefit on early retirement of depreciable assets (1,469) (1,469) (319) (319) (834)
Investment tax credit amortization (661) (661) (689) (689) (704)
Energy conservation expenditures—net 6,259 6,259 6,859 6,859 10,634
Tax benefit of reduced salvage values (10,193) (10,193) — — —
State income taxes net of the federal income tax benefit (104) (356) 1,191 801 541
Other—net (6,861) (7,438) (4,695) (5,345) (2,125)

Total income taxes $ 57,212 $ 50,658 $75,909 $72,986 $127,516
Effective tax rate 32.5% 31.7% 41.5% 41.1% 39.7%
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The following are the principal components of income taxes as reported:

Puget Energy
Puget Energy PSE Puget Energy PSE and PSE

Dollars in thousands 2002 2002 2001 2001 2000

Current income taxes—federal $ (87,425) $ (85,245) $65,021 $64,603 $135,981
Current income taxes—state (774) (548) 1,347 1,232 832
Deferred income taxes:

Conservation tax settlement — — 963 963 1,776
Deferred FAS-133 4,064 4,064 (4,028) (4,028) —
Cabot preferred stock sale — — — — (10,635)
Deferred taxes related to insurance reserves (1,662) (1,662) (1,225) (1,225) (384)
Residential Purchase and Sale Agreement—net — — 3,390 3,390 2,226
Normalized tax benefits of the accelerated cost recovery system 29,197 29,197 11,423 11,423 10,931
Energy conservation program (96) (96) (1,337) (1,337) (1,666)
Environmental remediation 1,392 1,392 1,326 1,326 721
WNP 3 tax settlement (1,126) (1,126) (1,126) (1,126) (1,126)
Demand charges (8) (8) (98) (98) (79)
Deferred revenue 612 612 (5,904) (5,904) —
Software amortization 35,373 35,373 — — —
Capitalized overhead costs deducted for tax purposes 72,220 72,220 — — —
Allowance for doubtful accounts — — — — (13,821)
Other 6,106 (2,854) 6,845 4,455 3,464

Total deferred income taxes 146,072 137,112 10,229 7,839 (8,593)
Deferred investment tax credits—net of amortization (661) (661) (688) (688) (704)
Total income taxes $ 57,212 $ 50,658 $75,909 $72,986 $127,516

The Company’s deferred tax liability at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is comprised of amounts related to the following types of
temporary differences:

Puget Energy PSE Puget Energy PSE
Dollars in thousands 2002 2002 2001 2001

Utility plant $578,137 $578,137 $570,982 $570,982
Energy conservation charges 16,473 16,473 23,782 23,782
Contributions in aid of construction (44,770) (44,770) (36,044) (36,044)
Bonneville Exchange Power 15,537 15,537 17,897 17,897
Cabot gas contract purchase 4,157 4,157 4,477 4,477
Deferred revenue (5,292) (5,292) (5,904) (5,904)
Software amortization 41,408 41,408 — —
Capitalized overhead costs 72,220 72,220 — —
Other 52,805 37,709 30,125 25,811
Total $730,675 $715,579 $605,315 $601,001

Puget Energy’s totals of $730.7 million and $605.3 million
for 2002 and 2001 consist of deferred tax liabilities of $841.7 mil-
lion and $713.8 million net of deferred tax assets of $111.0 million
and $108.5 million, respectively.

PSE’s totals of $715.6 million and $601.0 million for 2002
and 2001 consist of deferred tax liabilities of $824.2 million and
$707.4 million net of deferred tax assets of $108.6 million and
$106.4 million, respectively.

Deferred tax amounts shown above result from tempo-
rary differences for tax and financial statement purposes. Deferred
tax provisions are not recorded in the income statement for certain
temporary differences between tax and financial statement pur-
poses because they are not allowed for ratemaking purposes.

The Company calculates its deferred tax assets and liabil-
ities under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” SFAS
No. 109 requires recording deferred tax balances, at the currently
enacted tax rate, for all temporary differences between the book
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, including temporary differ-
ences for which no deferred taxes had been previously provided
because of use of flow-through tax accounting for ratemaking pur-
poses. Because of prior and expected future ratemaking treatment
for temporary differences for which flow-through tax accounting
has been utilized, a regulatory asset for income taxes recoverable
through future rates related to those differences has also been
established by PSE. At December 31, 2002, the balance of this
asset was $167.1 million. 
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Note 12. 
Retirement Benefits 

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of its utility employees. Benefits are a function of both age
and salary. Additionally, Puget Energy maintains a non-qualified supplemental retirement plan for officers and certain director-level employees.

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees.
These benefits are provided principally through an insurance company whose premiums are based on the benefits paid during the year.  

Pension benefits Other benefits
Dollars in thousands 2002 2001 2002 2001

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $400,461 $366,482 $ 29,115 $ 27,568
Service cost 8,474 9,862 168 243
Interest cost 25,858 26,734 1,930 2,022
Amendments 1 3,073 3,984 3,493 —
Actuarial loss 2,055 15,417 (419) 1,101
Plan curtailment2 (9,518) — (553) —
Special adjustments2 10,872 — — —
Benefits paid (71,583) (22,018) (2,041) (1,819)
Benefit obligation at end of year $369,692 $400,461 $ 31,693 $ 29,115
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $443,512 $496,468 $ 15,978 $ 15,661
Actual return on plan assets (40,849) (32,025) 650 595
Employer contribution 12,880 1,087 1,573 1,541
Benefits paid (71,583) (22,018) (2,041) (1,819)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $343,960 $443,512 $ 16,160 $ 15,978
Funded status $ (25,732) $ 43,051 $(15,533) $(13,137)
Unrecognized actuarial gain 66,784 (27,035) (1,878) (1,944)
Unrecognized prior service cost 18,228 20,250 3,021 (361)
Unrecognized net initial (asset)/obligation (2,371) (3,873) 4,201 6,894
Net amount recognized $ 56,909 $ 32,393 $(10,189) $ (8,548)
Amounts recognized on statement of financial position consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost $ 73,361 $ 54,335 $(10,189) $ (8,548)
Accrued benefit liability (34,253) (37,002) — —
Intangible asset 10,555 9,912 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7,246 5,148 — —
Net amount recognized $ 56,909 $ 32,393 $(10,189) $ (8,548)

1 In 2002, the Company had $3.1 million in pension benefits plan amendments due to changes in employment contracts, the addition of new entrants
to the plan and the vesting of certain non-vested participants who were affected by the transition of service jobs to service providers. The Company had $3.5 million
in other benefits plan amendments due to an increase in the Company’s contribution to the retiree medical plan.

2 In 2002, the Company had a $9.5 million curtailment credit and $9.2 million in special adjustments to the pension benefit plan related to the transition
of service jobs to service providers. The Company also had a $1.7 million special adjustment to the pension benefit plan related to the non-qualified pension benefit
plan required to reflect the special benefit agreement given upon termination of a plan participant.
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Note 13. 
Employee Investment Plans and
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has qualified Employee Investment Plans
under which employee salary deferrals and after-tax contributions
are used to purchase several different investment fund options. 

Puget Energy’s contributions to the Employee Investment
Plans were $6.9 million, $8.0 million, and $7.2 million for the years
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

PSE’s contributions to the Employee Investment Plan
were $6.1 million, $6.8 million, and $7.2 million for the years 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The Employee Investment Plan eligi-
bility requirements are set forth in the plan documents.

The Company also has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan
which was approved by shareholders on May 19, 1997, and com-
menced July 1, 1997, under which options are granted to eligible
employees who elect to participate in the plan on January 1st and
July 1st of each year. Participants are allowed to exercise those
options six months later to the extent of payroll deductions or cash
payments accumulated during that six-month period. The option
price under the plan during 2002 was 85% of either the fair market
value of the common stock at the grant date or the fair market value
at the exercise date, whichever was less. Prior to 2002 the Company
purchased stock for the plan on the open market. Starting with the
purchase rights accumulated under the July 1, 2002 grant the Com-
pany began issuing rather than purchasing stock. The Company’s
contributions to the plan were $0.1 million, $0.1 million and 
$0.3 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. 

In accounting for pension and other benefits costs under the plans, the following weighted average actuarial assumptions were used:

Pension benefits Other benefits
2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Discount rate 6.75% 7.25% 7.5% 6.75% 7.25% 7.5%
Return on plan assets 8.25% 9.50% 9.75% 6–7.00% 6–8.25% 6–8.5%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 5.0% 5.0% — — —
Medical trend rate — — — 10.00% 6.5% 7.0%

Pension benefits Other benefits
Dollars in thousands 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 8,474 $ 9,862 $ 9,005 $ 168 $ 243 $ 224
Interest cost 25,858 26,734 25,500 1,930 2,022 1,965
Expected return on plan assets (43,032) (46,222) (42,280) (906) (947) (892)
Amortization of prior service cost 2,990 2,960 2,884 90 (34) (34)
Recognized net actuarial gain (5,120) (7,570) (6,851) (229) (109) (195)
Amortization of transition (asset)/obligation (1,136) (1,230) (1,230) 470 627 627
Plan curtailment (1,353) — — 1,691 — —
Special recognition of prior service costs 1,683 108 77 — — —
Net pension benefit cost (income) $(11,636) $(15,358) $(12,895) $3,214 $1,802 $1,695

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the non-qualified pension 
plan, which has accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, were $39.4 million, $34.2 million, and $0, respectively, as of
December 31, 2002. For the qualified pension plan the projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan
assets were $330.3 million, $310.1 million, and $344.0 million, respectively as of December 31, 2002. 

The assumed medical inflation rate is 10.0% in 2003 decreasing 1.0% per year to 6.0%. A 1% change in the assumed medical
inflation rate would have the following effects:

2002 2001
Dollars in thousands 1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1% Decrease

Effect on service and interest cost components $580 $(515) $625 $(558)
Effect on post retirement benefit obligation 36 (32) 47 (42)
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Note 14.
Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has various stock compensation plans
accounted for according to APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Total compen-
sation expense related to the plans was $6.3 million, $2.1 million
and $3.9 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively. 

The Company’s shareholder approved Long-Term Incen-
tive Plan (LTI Plan) encompasses many of the awards granted to
employees. Established in 1995 and amended and restated in
1997, the LTI Plan applies to officers and key employees of the
Company. Awards granted under this plan include stock awards,
performance awards, or other stock-based awards as defined by
the plan. Any shares awarded are purchased on the open market.
The maximum number of shares that may be purchased for the LTI
Plan is 1,200,000.

Performance Share Grants 
Each year the Company awards performance share

grants under the LTI Plan. These are granted to key employees and
vest at the end of four years with the final number of shares
awarded depending on a performance measure. The Company
records compensation expense related to the shares based on the
performance measure and changes in the market price of the stock.
Compensation expense related to performance share grants was
$5.5 million, $2.3 million and $3.2 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The fair value of the performance awards granted in
2002, 2001 and 2000 is $14.82, $17.86 and $14.19 respectively.
247,184 performance awards were granted in 2002, 183,881 in
2001 and 204,044 in 2000. As of December 31, 2002, there are four
grant cycles active for a total of 571,719 share grants outstanding
although they may not all be awarded. 

Stock Options 
In 2002, Puget Energy’s Board of Directors granted

40,000 stock options under the LTI Plan and an additional 260,000
options outside of the LTI Plan for a total of 300,000 non-qualified
stock options to the new president and chief executive officer.
These options were awarded at the grant date market price of
$22.51 and vest yearly over four and five years although vesting is
accelerated under certain conditions. The options expire 10 years
from the grant date. As of December 31, 2002, no options were
exercisable. The grant date fair value of the options is $3.37. Fol-
lowing the intrinsic value method of APB 25, no compensation
expense was recorded for these options.

Restricted Stock 
In 2002, the Company granted 30,000 shares of restricted

stock under the LTI Plan to be purchased on the open market. The
shares vest monthly with all of the shares vested by December
2003. The Company also issued 50,000 shares of restricted stock
outside of the LTI Plan as approved by the Puget Energy Board of
Directors. These shares were recorded as a separate component of
stockholders equity and vest at the rate of 20% per year. Compen-
sation expense related to the restricted shares was $0.5 million in
2002. No restricted shares were issued in 2001 and 2000. Dividends
are paid on all outstanding restricted stock and are accounted for as
a Puget Energy stock dividend, not as compensation expense. At
December 31, 2002 the weighted average grant date fair value for
all outstanding shares of restricted stock was $21.94. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
The Company has a shareholder-approved Employee

Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) open to all employees. Offerings occur
at six month intervals at the end of which the participating employ-
ees receive shares for 85% of the lower of the stock’s fair market
price at the beginning or the end of the six month period. A maxi-
mum of 500,000 shares may be sold to employees under the plan.
The Company purchased shares for the plan on the open market
up until the most recent offering at which time common stock was
issued rather than purchased. The Company currently plans to
issue common stock for the ESPP. In 2002, 19,407 shares were
purchased for the plan and 18,252 shares were issued. 45,659
shares and 48,513 shares were purchased in 2001 and 2000
respectively. At December 31, 2002 298,602 shares may still be
sold to employees under the plan. Dividends are paid on pur-
chased shares and are accounted for as a Puget Energy stock div-
idend, not as compensation expense. The weighted average fair
value of the purchase rights granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000 was
$4.19, $4.35 and $3.90 respectively.
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Stock options awarded under the InfrastruX plan were
generally granted at the market price on the date of grant although
some options have been granted at a discount requiring InfrastruX
to record compensation expense. A total of $0.1 million in com-
pensation expense related to stock options was recorded in 2002. 

Non-Employee Director Stock Plan 
The Company has a director stock plan created in 1998

for all non-employee directors of Puget Energy/PSE. Under the plan
non-employee directors receive part of their quarterly retainer in
Company stock and may receive their entire retainer in Company
stock if they choose. The compensation expense related to the
director stock plan was $0.2 million, $0.1 million and $0.3 million in
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The Company purchases stock
for this plan on the open market up to a maximum of 100,000
shares. As of December 31, 2002, 6,916 shares have been pur-
chased for the director stock plan and 36,117 deferred, for a total
of 43,033 shares.

Other Plans 
In addition to current stock compensation plans, the

Company also has outstanding shares related to two plans that
were in effect prior to the 1997 merger between Puget Sound
Power and Light (PSP&L) and Washington Energy Company
(WECO). There are 30,800 vested, unexercised stock appreciation
rights from the PSP&L Incentive Plan Awards granted to executives
of PSP&L. These were granted in 1993 and 1994 for $27.63 and
$20.75, respectively, and expire 10 years after the grant date. There
are also 17,960 vested, unexercised options from the WECO Incen-
tive Stock Option Plan granted to key employees of WECO. The
options were granted between 1993 and 1996 for prices ranging
from $15.55 to $23.11 and expire 10 years from the date of grant.
These are generally paid out as stock appreciation rights at the dis-
cretion of the grantees. The Company records compensation
expense each quarter related to the PSP&L and WECO shares as
the difference between the exercise price and the current market
price. Compensation expense related to the WECO plan was near
$0 in 2002, $(0.2) million in 2001 and $0.2 million in 2000. Com-
pensation expense related to the PSP&L plan was near $0 in 2002,
$(0.1) million in 2001, and $0.2 million in 2000.

InfrastruX Stock Option Plan 
The InfrastruX stock option plan, established in 2000, has 3,862,500 shares authorized to be granted to officers, key employees

and non-employee directors of InfrastruX. The options generally vest within four years and expire 10 years from the grant date. No options
were granted under the InfrastruX plan in 2000. The following summarizes InfrastruX option information for 2002 and 2001:

2002 2001

Shares Weighted-average Shares Weighted-average
(in thousands) exercise price (in thousands) exercise price

Outstanding at beginning of year 1,995 $4.05 — — 
Granted 725 5.00 2,043 $4.05 
Exercised — — — — 
Canceled (77) 4.09 (48) 4.00 
Outstanding at end of year 2,643 $4.31 1,995 $4.05 
Options exercisable at year end 802 $4.02 791 $4.00
Weighted-average fair value of 

options granted during the year $2.23 $1.60

The following summarizes InfrastruX outstanding option information at December 31, 2002:

Shares Weighted-average 
outstanding contractual life Weighted-average

Exercise prices (in thousands) (in years) exercise price

$4.00 1,828 9.12 $4.00 
$5.00 815 9.31 5.00 

2,643 9.18 $4.31 
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The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the fair value of certain stock based awards to
employees. The following assumptions were used for awards
granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

Stock Options
Risk-free interest rate 4.32% — —
Expected lives—years 4.50 — —
Expected stock volatility 23.62% — —
Dividend yield 5.00% — —

InfrastruX Stock Option Plan
Risk-free interest rate 4.05% 4.87% —
Expected lives—years 4.00 4.00 —
Expected stock volatility 60.00% 50.00% —

Performance Awards
Risk-free interest rate 4.00% 4.99% 6.66%
Expected lives—years 4.00 4.00 4.00
Expected stock volatility 23.71% 20.76% 18.59%
Dividend yield 8.85% 7.67% 9.14%

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Risk-free interest rate 1.65% 4.26% 5.59%
Expected lives—years 0.50 0.50 0.50 
Expected stock volatility 26.97% 19.04% 22.73%
Dividend yield 5.81% 7.72% 8.98%

Note 15.
Other Investments

In March 1998, the Company entered into an agreement
with Schlumberger North America (Schlumberger) (formerly known
as CellNet Data Services Inc.), under which the Company would
lend Schlumberger up to $35 million in the form of multiple draws
so that Schlumberger could finance an Automated Meter Reading
(AMR) network system to be deployed in the Company’s service
territory. In September 1999, the Company announced it was
expanding its AMR network system from 800,000 meters to
1,325,000 meters and as a result increased the authorized loan
amount to $72 million. As of December 31, 2000, the outstanding
loan balance was $51.9 million. In August 2001, Schlumberger paid
off its outstanding loan balance of $64.1 million. 

Note 16.
Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments—Electric
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2002,

approximately 22.5% of the Company’s energy output was
obtained at an average cost of approximately 13.96 mills per kWh
through long-term contracts with several of the Washington Public
Utility Districts (PUDs) owning hydroelectric projects on the Colum-
bia River.

The purchase of power from the Columbia River projects
is on a “cost-of-service” basis under which the Company pays a
proportionate share of the annual cost of each project in direct pro-
portion to the amount of power annually purchased by the Com-
pany from such project. Such payments are not contingent upon
the projects being operable. These projects are financed through
substantially level debt service payments, and their annual costs
should not vary significantly over the term of the contracts unless
additional financing is required to meet the costs of major mainte-
nance, repairs or replacements or license requirements. The Com-
pany’s share of the costs and the output of the projects is subject
to reduction due to various withdrawal rights of the PUDs and oth-
ers over the lives of the contracts.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Company was entitled to purchase portions of the power output of the PUDs’ projects as set forth
in the following tabulation:

Company’s annual amount
purchasable (approximate)

Contract 1 License 2 Bonds outstanding % of Megawatt Costs 4

Project exp. date exp. date 12/31/02 3 (in millions) output capacity (in millions)

Rock Island
Original units 2012 2029 $ 102.4 50.0

 455 $43.3
Additional units 2012 2029 333.7 85.0

Rocky Reach 2011 2006 408.9 38.9 505 26.2
Wells 2018 2012 165.5 31.3 261 9.8
Priest Rapids 2005 2005 150.4 8.0 72 2.3
Wanapum 2009 2005 136.2 10.8 98 4.1

Total $1,297.1 1,391 $85.7
1 On December 28, 2001, PSE signed a contract offer for new contracts for the Priest Rapids and Wanapum Developments. On April 12, 2002, PSE

signed amendments to those agreements which are technical clarifications of certain sections of the agreements. Under the terms of these contracts, PSE will con-
tinue to obtain capacity and energy for the term of any new FERC license to be obtained by Grant County PUD. The new contracts begin in November of 2005 for
the Priest Rapids Development and in November of 2009 for the Wanapum Development. Unlike the current contracts, in the new contracts PSE’s share of power
from developments declines over time as Grant County PUD’s load increases. 

On March 8, 2002, the Yakama Nation filed a complaint with FERC which alleged that Grant County’s new contracts unreasonably restrain trade and
violate various sections of the Federal Power Act and Public Law 83-544. On November 21, 2002, FERC dismissed the complaint while agreeing that certain aspects
of the complaint had merit. As a result, they have ordered Grant County PUD to remove specific Sections of the contract which constrain the parties to the Grant
County PUD contracts from competing with Grant County PUD for a new license. A rehearing has been requested.

2 The Company is unable to predict whether the licenses under the Federal Power Act will be renewed to the current licensees. FERC has issued orders
for the Rocky Reach, Wells and Priest Rapids/Wanapum projects under Section 22 of the Federal Power Act, which affirm the Company’s contractual rights to
receive power under existing terms and conditions even if a new licensee is granted a license prior to expiration of the contract term.

3 The contracts for purchases initially were generally coextensive with the term of the PUD bonds associated with the project. Under the terms of some
financings and refinancings, however, long-term bonds were sold to finance certain assets whose estimated useful lives extend beyond the expiration date of the
power sales contracts. Of the total outstanding bonds sold for each project, the percentage of principal amount of bonds which mature beyond the contract expi-
ration date are: 41.7% at Rock Island; 55.1% at Rocky Reach; 89.7% at Priest Rapids; 67.9% at Wanapum; and 5.7% at Wells.

4 The components of 2002 costs associated with the interest portion of debt service are: Rock Island, $21.1 million for all units; Rocky Reach, $8.0 million;
Wells, $2.6 million; Priest Rapids, $0.7 million; and Wanapum, $0.8 million.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s estimated obligations for future power purchases:

2008 and
Dollars in millions 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 thereafter Total

Columbia River Projects $ 92.7 $ 82.6 $ 78.9 $ 76.5 $ 79.3 $ 377.9 $ 787.9
Other utilities 124.0 75.5 76.3 77.9 80.6 500.3 934.6
Non-utility generators 202.7 215.0 220.3 227.6 210.4 946.5 2,022.5

Total $419.4 $373.1 $375.5 $382.0 $370.3 $1,824.7 $3,745.0

Total purchased power contracts provided the Company with approximately 12.1 million, 11.9 million and 15.1 million MWh of
firm energy at a cost of approximately $466.1 million, $496.3 million, and $506.5 million for the years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

As part of its electric operations and in connection with the 1997 restructuring of the Tenaska Power Purchase Agreement, PSE
is obligated to deliver to Tenaska up to 48,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas for operation of Tenaska’s cogeneration facility. This obligation
continues for the remaining term of the agreement, provided that no deliveries are required during the month of May. The price paid by
Tenaska for this gas is reflective of the daily price of gas at the United States/Canada border near Sumas, Washington.

The following table indicates the Company’s percentage ownership and the extent of the Company’s investment in jointly-owned
generating plants in service at December 31, 2002:

Company’s share

Energy Company’s Plant in Accumulated
Dollars in millions source (fuel) ownership share service at cost depreciation

Colstrip 1 and 2 Coal 50% $201 $128
Colstrip 3 and 4 Coal 25% 458 226

The Company’s estimated payments for power purchases
from the Columbia River are $92.7 million for 2003, $82.6 million
for 2004, $78.9 million for 2005, $76.5 million for 2006, $79.3 mil-
lion for 2007 and in the aggregate, $377.9 million thereafter
through 2018.

The Company also has numerous long-term firm pur-
chased power contracts with other utilities in the region. The Com-
pany is generally not obligated to make payments under these
contracts unless power is delivered. The Company’s estimated pay-
ments for firm power purchases from other utilities, excluding the
Columbia River projects, are $124.0 million for 2003, $75.5 million 

for 2004, $76.3 million for 2005, $77.9 million for 2006, $80.6 mil-
lion for 2007 and in the aggregate, $500.3 million thereafter
through 2037. These contracts have varying terms and may include
escalation and termination provisions.

As required by the federal Public Utility Regulatory Poli-
cies Act (PURPA), PSE entered into long-term firm purchased
power contracts with non-utility generators. The Company pur-
chases the net electrical output of four significant projects at fixed
and annually escalating prices, which were intended to approxi-
mate the Company’s avoided cost of new generation projected at
the time these agreements were made. The Company’s estimated
payments under these contracts are $202.7 million for 2003,
$215.0 million for 2004, $220.3 million for 2005, $227.6 million for
2006, $210.4 million for 2007 and in the aggregate, $946.5 million
thereafter through 2012.
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Financing for a participant’s ownership share in the proj-
ects is provided for by such participant. The Company’s share of
related operating and maintenance expenses is included in corre-
sponding accounts in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

As part of its electric operations and in connection with
the 1999 buy-out of the Cabot gas supply contract, PSE is obligated
to deliver to Encogen up to 21,800 MMBtu per day of natural gas
for operation of the Encogen cogeneration facility. This obligation
continues for the remaining term of the original Cabot agreement.
The Company entered into a financial arrangement to hedge a por-
tion of future gas supply costs associated with this obligation,
10,000 MMBtu per day, for the remaining term of the agreement.
The Company has a maximum financial obligation under this hedge
agreement of $8.1 million in 2002, $8.2 million in 2003, $8.5 million
in 2004, $8.7 million in 2005, $8.9 million in 2006 and $13.9 million
thereafter. Depending on actual market prices, these costs will be
partially, or perhaps entirely, offset by floating price payments
received under the hedge arrangement. Encogen has two gas sup-
ply agreements that comprise 40% of the plant’s requirements with
remaining terms of 6.5 years. The obligations under these contracts
are $12.8 million in 2002, $13.5 million in 2003, $14.2 million in
2004, $14.9 million in 2005, $15.6 million in 2006 and $25.0 million
in the aggregate thereafter.

PSE enters into short-term energy supply contracts to
meet its core customer needs. These contracts are classified as
normal purchases and sales in accordance with SFAS No. 133.
Commitments under these contracts for 2003 and 2004 total
$47.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively. 

Gas Supply
The Company has also entered into various firm supply,

transportation and storage service contracts in order to assure ade-
quate availability of gas supply for its firm customers. Many of
these contracts, which have remaining terms from less than 1 year
to 21 years, provide that the Company must pay a fixed demand
charge each month, regardless of actual usage. Certain of PSE’s
firm gas supply agreements also obligate the Company to purchase
a minimum annual quantity at market-based contract prices. Gen-
erally, if the minimum volumes are not purchased and taken during
the year, the Company is obligated to either: 1) pay a monthly or
annual gas inventory charge calculated as a percentage of the then-
current contract commodity price times the minimum quantity not
taken; or 2) pay for gas not taken. Alternatively, under some of the
contracts, the supplier may exercise a right to reduce its subse-
quent obligation to provide firm gas to the Company. The Company
incurred demand charges in 2002 for firm gas supply, firm trans-
portation service and firm storage and peaking service of $27.4 mil-
lion, $49.0 million and $6.4 million, respectively. WNG Cap I
incurred demand charges in 2002 for firm transportation service of
$9.4 million.

The following tables summarize the Company’s obliga-
tions for future demand charges through the primary terms of its
existing contracts and the minimum annual take requirements
under the gas supply agreements. The quantified obligations are
based on current contract prices and FERC authorized rates, which
are subject to change. 
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Demand charge obligations
2008 and

Dollars in millions 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 thereafter Total

Firm gas supply $20.6 $12.5 $ 1.1 $ 1.1 $ 1.2 $ 2.8 $ 39.3
Firm transportation service 54.6 44.7 11.6 11.6 11.6 82.1 216.2
Firm storage service 7.2 8.6 7.7 7.7 7.7 55.9 94.8

Total $82.4 $65.8 $20.4 $20.4 $20.5 $140.8 $350.3

Minimum annual take obligations
2008 and

Therms in thousands 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 thereafter Total 

Firm gas supply 671,675 228,820 1,013 — — — 901,508

The Company believes that all demand charges will be recoverable in rates charged to its customers. Further, pursuant to imple-
mentation of FERC Order No. 636, the Company has the right to resell or release to others any of its unutilized gas supply or transporta-
tion and storage capacity.

The Company does not anticipate any difficulty in achieving the minimum annual take obligations shown, as such volumes
represent approximately 64% of expected annual sales for 2003 and less than 11% of expected sales in subsequent years.

The Company’s current firm gas supply contracts obligate the suppliers to provide, in the aggregate, annual volumes up to those
shown below:

Maximum supply available under current firm supply contracts
2008 and

Therms in thousands 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 thereafter Total

Firm gas supply 719,821 264,035 7,013 6,000 6,000 24,000 1,026,869
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Service Contract
On August 30, 2001, PSE and Alliance Data Systems Corp.

announced a contract under which Alliance Data will provide data
processing and billing services for PSE. In providing services to PSE
under the 10-year agreement, Alliance Data will use ConsumerLinX
software, PSE’s customer-information software developed by its
ConneXt subsidiary. Alliance Data acquired the assets of ConneXt,
including the exclusive use of the ConsumerLinX software for 
five years with an option for renewal. Alliance Data will offer 
ConsumerLinX as part of its integrated, single-source customer 
relationship management solution for large-scale, regulated utility
clients. The obligations under the contract are $19.4 million in 2003,
$20.0 million in 2004, $22.5 million in 2005, $23.2 million in 2006,
$23.9 million in 2007 and $86.7 million in the aggregate thereafter.

Surety Bond
The Company has a self-insurance surety bond in the

amount of $5.2 million guaranteeing compliance with the Industrial
Insurance Act (workers’ compensation) and nine self-insurer’s pen-
sion bonds totaling $1.4 million.

Environmental
The Company is subject to environmental regulation by

federal, state and local authorities. The Company has been named
by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and/or the Wash-
ington State Department of Ecology as potentially responsible at
several contaminated sites and manufactured gas plant sites. PSE
has implemented an ongoing program to test, replace and remedi-
ate certain underground storage tanks as required by federal and
state laws and this process is nearing completion. Remediation and
testing of Company vehicle service facilities and storage yards is
also continuing.

During 1992, the Washington Commission issued orders
regarding the treatment of costs incurred by the Company for cer-
tain sites under its environmental remediation program. The orders
authorize the Company to accumulate and defer prudently incurred
cleanup costs paid to third parties for recovery in rates established
in future rate proceedings. The Company believes a significant por-
tion of its past and future environmental remediation costs are
recoverable from either insurance companies, third parties or under
the Washington Commission’s order.

The information presented here as it relates to estimates
of future liability is as of December 31, 2002.

Electric Sites
The Company has expended approximately $17.7 million

related to the remediation activities covered by the Washington
Commission’s order and has accrued approximately $1.7 million as
a liability for future remediation costs for these and other remedia-
tion activities. To date, the Company has recovered approximately
$17.2 million from insurance carriers. 

Based on all known facts and analyses, the Company
believes it is not likely that the identified environmental liabilities will
result in a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial posi-
tion, operating results or cash flow trends.

Gas Sites
The Company has expended approximately $62.5 million

related to the remediation activities covered by a Washington Com-
mission’s order and has accrued approximately $33.3 million for
future remediation costs for these and other remediation sites. To
date, the Company has recovered approximately $58.7 million from
insurance carriers and other third parties. The Company expects to
recover legal and remediation activities from either insurance com-
panies or customers per Washington Commission orders.

Based on all known facts and analyses, the Company
believes it is not likely that the identified environmental liabilities will
result in a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial posi-
tion, operating results or cash flow trends.

Litigation
Other contingencies, arising out of the normal course of

the Company’s business, exist at December 31, 2002. The ultimate
resolution of these issues is not expected to have a material adverse
impact on the financial condition, results of operations or liquidity
of the Company.
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Note 17.
Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS 
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” as amended by SFAS No. 138. SFAS No. 133 requires
that all contracts considered to be derivative instruments be
recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. The Company
enters into both physical and financial contracts to manage its
energy resource portfolio including forward physical and financial
contracts, option contracts and swaps. The majority of these con-
tracts qualify for the normal purchase and normal sale exception
provided by SFAS No. 133.

On January 1, 2001, the Company recognized the cumu-
lative effect of adopting SFAS No. 133 by recording a liability and
an offsetting after-tax decrease to current earnings of approxi-
mately $14.7 million for the fair value of electric derivatives that did
not meet hedge criteria. The Company also recorded an asset and 
an offsetting increase to other comprehensive income of approxi-
mately $286.9 million for the fair value of derivative instruments
that did meet hedge criteria on the implementation date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
recorded an increase to current earnings of approximately $11.2 mil-
lion pre-tax ($7.2 million after-tax) to record the change in market
value of outstanding derivative instruments not meeting cash flow
hedge criteria. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the
remainder of the contracts which had given rise to the income state-
ment losses were settled and resulted in an additional increase to
earnings of $11.6 million pre-tax ($7.5 million after-tax). As of
December 31, 2002, the Company had a long-term unrealized gain
recorded in Other Comprehensive Income of $9.9 million after-tax
and a short term unrealized loss of $2.4 million after-tax related to
contracts which meet the criteria for designation as cash flow
hedges under SFAS No. 133. The amount of cash flow hedges that
will reverse and be settled into the income statement during 2003
will be $4.1 million. In addition, on December 31, 2002 the Company
had a short term unrealized gain on derivative contracts for the pur-
chase of natural gas for core gas business of $3.7 million pre-tax. 

The Company has two contracts outstanding with a coun-
terparty whose senior unsecured debt ratings were downgraded in
September 2002 to Ba2 by Moody’s and in November 2002 to BB
by Standard & Poor’s. The first contract is a fixed for floating price
natural gas swap contract for which the Company has collected a
collateral deposit in the amount of $21.4 million from the counter-
party to guarantee performance. The contract will expire in June
2008 and is accounted for as a cash flow hedge under SFAS 
No. 133. The second is a physical gas supply contract expiring in
July 2008 which has been designated as a normal purchase under
SFAS No. 133. In February 2003, the counterparty’s credit was fur-
ther downgraded although the counterparty continues to perform
as required under the terms of the two contracts. The Company
believes the risk of non-performance by the counterparty is remote.

At October 15, 2001, the Company had recorded a
deferred liability of approximately $26.9 million after-tax for finan-
cial gas contracts to be used for electric production that until Octo-
ber 15, 2001 were designated as qualifying cash flow hedges.
Changes in the market values of these de-designated contracts
resulted in the recording of a loss of $7.8 million pre-tax ($5.1 mil-
lion after-tax) to earnings in the fourth quarter of 2001. In the first
quarter of 2002, the loss was reversed in its entirety when all of
these contracts were settled or terminated. 

During 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
Derivative Implementation Group for SFAS No. 133 issued guid-
ance under Issue C16—”Applying the Normal Purchases and Nor-
mal Sales Exception to Contracts that Combine a Forward Contract
and Purchased Option Contract” which became effective in the
second quarter of 2002 for the Company. Issue C16 establishes that
fuel supply contracts that combine a forward contract with a pur-
chased option cannot qualify for the normal purchase and normal
sales exception because of the optionality of the quantity of fuel to
be delivered under the contract. 

A review of the fuel supply contracts by the Company
determined that two long-term fuel supply contracts that deliver
natural gas to the Company’s Encogen combustion turbine plant
contained provisions for the purchase of optional quantities of fuel,
and as originally written, would no longer qualify as normal pur-
chase contracts upon implementation of Issue C16. In the second
quarter of 2002, the Company signed amendments to those con-
tracts that remove the optional provisions, requiring that the Com-
pany purchase 100% of the contractual fuel quantities for the
remaining terms of the contracts. As a result, the contracts con-
tinue to qualify for the normal purchase-normal sale exception to
SFAS 133.
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Note 18.
Supplemental Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following unaudited amounts, in the opinion of the Company, include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjust-
ments) necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for the interim periods. Quarterly amounts vary during the year due to
the seasonal nature of the utility business. 

Puget Energy
Unaudited; dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts
2002 quarter First Second Third Fourth

Operating revenues $739,060 $540,819 $458,476 $653,967
Operating income 76,571 76,833 57,098 99,168
Other income 384 3,441 230 1,403
Net income 26,478 31,369 8,512 51,525
Basic and diluted earnings per common share $ 0.28 $ 0.34 $ 0.07 $ 0.55

Unaudited; dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts
2001 quarter First Second Third Fourth

Operating revenues $1,024,234 $710,295 $478,966 $673,064
Operating income 130,541 66,071 45,756 54,754
Other income 1,941 1,568 7,892 3,123
Net income 72,298 19,465 6,809 8,266
Basic earnings per common share $ 0.815 $ 0.201 $ 0.055 $ 0.071
Diluted earnings per common share $ 0.812 $ 0.201 $ 0.054 $ 0.071

Puget Sound Energy
Unaudited; dollars in thousands
2002 quarter First Second Third Fourth

Operating revenues $678,299 $464,697 $366,103 $563,694
Operating income 74,732 72,724 51,367 95,769
Other income 309 3,455 210 1,241
Net income 25,698 28,839 4,701 49,709

Unaudited; dollars in thousands
2001 quarter First Second Third Fourth

Operating revenues $995,694 $664,827 $426,195 $628,058
Operating income 130,111 61,629 42,360 54,383
Other income 2,843 2,485 8,885 2,839
Net income 72,879 17,275 5,474 8,754

Operating revenues for the Company include optimization transactions reported net in the income statement as required by EITF
02-03 effective after June 30, 2002. The operating revenues for all quarters of 2001 and the first and second quarters of 2002 have been
reclassified to conform with the current presentation.
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Note 19. 
Acquisitions 

During 2001, InfrastruX acquired 100% of six companies
based in the eastern United States, mid-west and Texas for a total
price of $83.6 million. During 2002, InfrastruX acquired 100% 
of three additional companies based in Texas for a total price of
$49.7 million. All purchases have been funded in the form of cash
and preferred and common stock.

These companies provide utility infrastructure services
such as: installing, replacing and restoring underground cables
and pipes for utilities and telecommunication providers; pipeline
construction, maintenance and rehabilitation services for the nat-
ural gas and petroleum industries, including directional drilling
and vacuum excavation; and distribution and transmission ori-
ented overhead electric construction services to electric utilities
and cooperatives. 

The acquisitions have been accounted for using the pur-
chase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating
results of these companies have been included in Puget Energy’s
consolidated financial statements since their acquisition dates.
Goodwill representing the excess of cost over the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets of the business at the time of pur-
chase was approximately $130.0 million before amortization. Dur-
ing 2002, InfrastruX added $23.5 million of goodwill for a balance
of $125.6 million net of accumulated amortization. During 2001,
goodwill was being amortized on a straight-line basis using a 
30-year life except for goodwill on two acquisitions made after
June 30, 2001, which was not amortized per SFAS No. 142—
”Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. With the implementation
of SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002, Puget Energy discontinued
amortizing goodwill and reclassified $5.2 million of intangible
assets that no longer met the criteria of identifiable intangible
assets to goodwill. As required by SFAS No. 142, Puget Energy
performed an initial impairment review of goodwill in the first quar-
ter of 2002 and determined that no impairment had taken place.
Puget Energy then performed the annual impairment review as of
October 31, 2002 and determined that goodwill was not impaired.
Puget Energy will perform an annual impairment review hereafter.
In addition, Puget Energy will perform an impairment review at the
time an event or circumstance arises that would indicate the fair
value would be below its carrying value. Goodwill amortization for 
2001 and 2000, including amortization on the intangible assets
that were reclassified to goodwill in 2002, was approximately

$3.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The income statement 
effects of discontinuing amortization of goodwill for the compara-
tive periods are as follows for Puget Energy:

Dollars in thousands 2002 2001 2000

Reported income 
for common stock $110,052 $98,426 $184,837

Add back goodwill 
amortization, net of tax — 2,826 907

Adjusted income 
for common stock $110,052 $101,252 $185,744

Basic and diluted 
earnings per share 

Reported income 
for common stock $1.24 $1.14 $2.16

Add back goodwill 
amortization — 0.03 0.01

Adjusted income 
for common stock $1.24 $1.17 $2.17

Identifiable intangible assets acquired as a result of acqui-
sitions of companies are amortized over the expected useful lives
of the assets, which range from five to 20 years. In 2002, a total of
$4.5 million was added to intangible assets, assigned $0.3 million
to patents with an amortization period of 16.0 years, $3.1 million to
contractual customer relationships with an amortization period of
8.3 years and $1.1 million to covenant not to compete with an
amortization period of 5.0 years. The total weighted average amor-
tization period for the 2002 additions is 8.0 years. In 2001, $2.8 mil-
lion was added to intangible assets, assigned entirely to covenant
not to compete with an amortization period of 5.0 years. Total iden-
tifiable intangible assets are as follows:

At December 31, 2002 Gross Accumulated Net
Dollars in thousands intangibles amortization intangibles

Covenant not to compete $ 3,908 $1,105 $ 2,803
Developed technology 14,190 1,744 12,446
Contractual customer 

relationships 3,042 383 2,659

Patents 793 49 744
Total $21,933 $3,281 $18,652

At December 31, 2001 Gross Accumulated Net
Dollars in thousands intangibles amortization intangibles

Covenant not to compete $ 2,768 $ 364 $ 2,404 
Developed technology 14,190 1,006 13,184
Patents 1,046 575 471 

Total $18,004 $1,945 $16,059 
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As InfrastruX acquires more companies the total amorti-
zation amount in future periods may change.

The pro forma combined revenues, net income, and earn-
ings per common share of Puget Energy presented below give
effect to the acquisitions as if they had occurred on January 1,
2000. These results are not necessarily indicative of the results of
operations that would have occurred had the acquisitions of these
companies been consummated for the period for which they are
being given effect. 

Dollars in thousands, 
except per share amounts
Unaudited
For the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

Operating revenues $2,413,122 $3,000,824 $3,577,354
Net income for 

common 111,058 102,649 198,637
Basic earnings 

per common share $ 1.26 $ 1.19 $ 2.33
Diluted earnings 

per common share $ 1.25 $ 1.18 $ 2.32

Note 20. 
Segment Information

Puget Energy operates in primarily two business seg-
ments: the Regulated Utility Operations, or PSE, and Utility Sup-
port, or InfrastruX, which was incorporated in the year 2000. Puget
Energy’s regulated utility operation generates, purchases and sells
electricity and purchases, transports and sells natural gas. The serv-
ice territory of PSE covers approximately 6,000 square miles in
Washington State. InfrastruX specializes in contracting services to
other gas and electric utilities primarily in the mid-west, Texas and
the eastern United States. 

The other principal non-utility line of business, which is a
PSE subsidiary, is a real estate investment and development com-
pany. Reconciling items between segments are not material. 

The assets of ConneXt, the development and marketing of
customer information and billing system software segment, were
sold during the third quarter of 2001. The third quarter results of 2001
include an $8.0 million after-tax gain related to the ConneXt sale.

The identifiable intangible amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $1.9 million compared to $1.1 million
and $0.3 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The identifiable intangible assets amortization for future periods based on the current 
acquisitions will be:

Dollars in thousands 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Future intangible amortization $1,879 $1,879 $1,863 $1,534 $1,151 
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Financial data for business segments are as follows:

Regulated Puget Energy
Dollars in thousands utility InfrastruX Other total

2002
Revenues $2,063,040 $319,529 $ 9,753 $2,392,322
Depreciation and amortization 215,097 13,426 220 228,743
Income tax 50,600 6,703 1,957 59,260
Operating income 289,511 15,595 4,563 309,669
Interest charges, net of AFUDC 190,860 5,517 — 196,377
Net income 104,044 9,455 4,384 117,883
Goodwill, net — 125,555 — 125,555
Total assets 5,208,487 319,248 129,756 5,657,491
Construction expenditures—excluding equity AFUDC 224,165 — — 224,165
Additions to other property, plant and equipment — 11,621 — 11,621

2001
Revenues $ 2,680,298 $ 173,786 $32,476 $ 2,886,560
Depreciation and amortization 208,705 8,820 15 217,540
Income tax 68,005 2,956 8,877 79,838
Operating income 273,751 8,702 14,668 297,121
Interest charges, net of AFUDC 186,403 3,656 — 190,059
Net income 80,137 2,518 24,184 106,839
Goodwill, net — 102,151 — 102,151
Total assets 5,178,601 229,125 139,251 5,546,977
Construction expenditures—excluding equity AFUDC 247,435 — — 247,435
Additions to other property, plant and equipment — 5,193 — 5,193

2000
Revenues $ 3,244,630 $ 44,999 $12,667 $ 3,302,296
Depreciation and amortization 194,228 2,268 17 196,513
Income tax 131,262 415 (1,854) 129,823
Operating income 363,559 865 (552) 363,872
Interest charges, net of AFUDC 174,914 188 — 175,102
Net income 204,720 (543) (10,346) 193,831
Goodwill, net — 57,887 — 57,887
Total assets 5,339,669 106,520 110,480 5,556,669
Construction expenditures—excluding equity AFUDC 296,480 — — 296,480

Note 21.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In the fourth quarter of 2000, Hydro Energy Development Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PSE, recorded an after-tax loss of
approximately $11.8 million in Other Income of the non-regulated business segment. The loss provision represents the difference between
the carrying value of 13 small hydroelectric generating projects Hydro Energy Development Corp. was seeking approval to develop in west-
ern Washington State and management’s estimate of their net realizable value. Federal and state regulatory agencies that have jurisdiction
over the construction and operation of the proposed projects have made it increasingly difficult to complete and operate the projects in an
economic manner. Hydro Energy Development Corp. owns and operates a 3.7 MW hydroelectric project located in western Washington State.
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Schedule II.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Balance at Additions charged to Balance at
Dollars in thousands beginning of period costs and expenses Deductions end of period

Puget Energy
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Accounts deducted from assets on balance sheet:

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable $ 5,488 $11,191 $12,816 $ 3,863
Reserve on wholesale sales 41,488 — — 41,488
Industrial accident reserve — 4,000 2,000 2,000
Gas transportation contracts reserve 139 — — 139

Puget Sound Energy
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Accounts deducted from assets on balance sheet:

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable $ 3,666 $11,140 $12,816 $ 1,980
Reserve on wholesale sales 41,488 — — 41,488
Industrial accident reserve — 4,000 2,000 2,000

Gas transportation contracts reserve 139 — — 139
Puget Energy
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Accounts deducted from assets on balance sheet:

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable $ 1,538 $ 13,458 $ 9,508 $ 5,488
Reserve on wholesale sales 41,488 — — 41,488
Gas transportation contracts reserve 1,657 32 1,550 139

Puget Sound Energy
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Accounts deducted from assets on balance sheet:

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable $ 1,538 $ 11,636 $ 9,508 $ 3,666
Reserve on wholesale sales 41,488 — — 41,488
Gas transportation contracts reserve 1,657 32 1,550 139

Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy
Year Ended December 31, 2000

Accounts deducted from assets on balance sheet:
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable $ 1,503 $ 7,552 $ 7,517 $ 1,538
Reserve on wholesale sales — 41,488 — 41,488
Gas transportation contracts reserve 1,780 660 783 1,657
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Exhibit Index

Certain of the following exhibits are filed herewith. Certain other of

the following exhibits have heretofore been filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission and are incorporated herein by reference.

3(i).1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Puget Energy (Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.2, Puget Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K

filed January 2, 2001, Commission File No. 333-77491).

3(i).2 Restated Articles of Incorporation of PSE (included as Annex F to

the Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus filed February 1, 1996, Reg-

istration No. 333-617).

*3(ii).1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Puget Energy dated March 7, 2003.

*3(ii).2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of PSE dated March 7, 2003.

4.1 Fortieth through Seventy-eighth Supplemental Indentures defining

the rights of the holders of PSE’s First Mortgage Bonds (Exhibit 2-d

to Registration No. 2-60200; Exhibit 4-c to Registration No. 2-13347;

Exhibits 2-e through and including 2-k to Registration No. 2-60200;

Exhibit 4-h to Registration No. 2-17465; Exhibits 2-l, 2-m and 2-n to

Registration No. 2-60200; Exhibits 2-m to Registration No. 2-37645;

Exhibit 2-o through and including 2-s to Registration No. 2-60200;

Exhibit 5-b to Registration No. 2-62883; Exhibit 2-h to Registration

No. 2-65831; Exhibit (4)-j-1 to Registration No. 2-72061; Exhibit (4)-a

to Registration No. 2-91516; Exhibit (4)-b to Annual Report on Form

10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1985, Commission File

No. 1-4393; Exhibits (4)-b and (4)-c to Registration No. 33-45916;

Exhibit (4)-c to Registration No. 33-50788; Exhibit (4)-a to Registra-

tion No. 33-53056; Exhibit 4.3 to Registration No. 33-63278; Exhibit

4.25 to Registration No. 333-41181; Exhibit 4.27 to Current Report

on Form 8-K dated March 5, 1999; and Exhibit 4.2 to Current Report

on form 8-K dated November 2, 2000.

4.2 Indenture defining the rights of the holders of PSE’s senior notes

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4-a to PSE’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998, Com-

mission File No. 1-4393).

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture defining the rights of the holders of

PSE’s Senior Notes, Series A (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4-b to PSE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended June 30, 1998, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture defining the rights of the holders

of PSE’s Senior Notes, Series B (incorporated herein be reference to

Exhibit 4.6 to PSE’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated March 5,

1999, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.5 Third Supplemental Indenture defining the rights of the holders of

PSE’s Senior Notes, Series C (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 to PSE’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 2,

2000, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.6 Rights Agreement dated as of December 21, 2000 between Puget

Energy and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent (incor-

porated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to PSE’s Registration

Statement on Form 8-A, dated January 2, 2001, Commission File

No. 1-16305).

4.7 Indenture between PSE and the First National Bank of Chicago dated

June 6, 1997 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of

PSE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,

1997, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.8 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust between Puget Sound

Energy Capital Trust and the First National Bank of Chicago dated

June 6, 1997 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of

PSE’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,

1997, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.9 Series A Capital Securities Guarantee Agreement between PSE and

the First National Bank of Chicago dated June 6, 1997 (incorpo-

rated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of PSE’s Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997, Commission

File No. 1-4393).

4.10 Pledge Agreement dated August 1, 1991 between PSE and The First

National Bank of Chicago, as Trustee (Exhibit (4)-j to Registration

No. 33-45916).

4.11 Loan Agreement dated August 1, 1991 between the City of Forsyth,

Rosebud County, Montana and PSE (Exhibit (4)-k to Registration 

No. 33-45916).

4.12 Pledge Agreement dated as of March 1, 1992 by and between PSE

and Chemical Bank relating to a series of first mortgage bonds

(Exhibit 4.15 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1993, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.13 Pledge Agreement dated as of April 1, 1993 by and between PSE

and The First National Bank of Chicago, relating to a series of first

mortgage bonds (Exhibit 4.16 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.14 Indenture of First Mortgage dated as of April 1, 1957 (Exhibit 4-B,

Registration No. 2-14307).

4.15 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of October 1, 1959 (Exhibit

4-D to Registration No. 2-17876).

4.16 Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 1, 1966 (Exhibit to

Form 8-K for month of August 1966, File No. 0-951).

4.17 Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1, 1967

(Exhibit 4-M, Registration No. 2-27038).

4.18 Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 1977 (Exhibit

6-05 to Registration No. 2-60352).

4.19 Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 9, 1978

(Exhibit 5-K.18 to Registration No. 2-64428).

4.20 Twenty-second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 15, 1986

(Exhibit 4-B.20 to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,

1986, File No. 0-951).

4.21 Twenty-seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 1,

1990 (Exhibit 4-B.20, Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,

1998, File No. 10-951).

4.22 Twenty-eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 31, 1991

(Exhibit 4-A, Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1993, File

No. 0-951).

4.23 Twenty-ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 1993

(Exhibit 4-A to Registration No. 33-49599).

4.24 Thirtieth Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 15, 1995 (incor-

porated herein by reference to Exhibit 4-A of Washington Natural Gas

Company’s S-3 Registration Statement, Registration No. 33-61859).

4.25 Statement of Relative Rights and Preferences for the 7 3/4% Series

Preferred Stock Cumulative, $100 Par Value. (Exhibit 1.6 to Regis-

tration Statement on Form 8-A filed February 14, 1994, Commission

File No. 1-4393).



111

4.26 Unsecured Debt Indenture between Puget Sound Energy and Bank

One Trust Company, N.A. dated as of May 18, 2001, defining the

rights of the holders of Puget Sound Energy’s unsecured deben-

tures (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Puget

Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 22, 2001,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.27 First Supplemental Indenture to the Unsecured Debt Indenture dated

as of May 18, 2001 defining the rights of 8.40% Subordinated

Deferrable Interest Debentures due June 30, 2041 (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on

Form 8-K, filed May 22, 2001, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.28 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of Puget Sound Energy

Trust II dated as of May 18, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 4.2 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K,

filed May 22, 2001, Commission File No. 1-4393).

4.29 Preferred Securities Guarantee Agreement, dated May 18, 2001

between Puget Sound Energy and Bank One Trust Company, N.A.

for the benefit of the holders of the trust preferred securities of the

Puget Sound Energy Trust II (incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4.5 to Puget Sound Energy’s Current Report on Form 8-K,

filed May 22, 2001, Commission File No. 1-4393).

*4.30 Thirty-first Supplement Indenture dated February 10, 1997.

10.1 Assignment and Agreement dated as of August 13, 1964 between

Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Rock Island Project (Exhibit 13-b to Registration

No. 2-24262).

10.2 First Amendment dated as of October 4, 1961 to Power Sales Con-

tract between Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, Wash-

ington and PSE, relating to the Rocky Reach Project (Exhibit 13-d to

Registration No. 2-24252).

10.3 Assignment and Agreement dated as of August 13, 1964 between

Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Rocky Reach Project (Exhibit 13-e to Registra-

tion No. 2-24252).

10.4 Assignment and Agreement dated as of August 13, 1964 between

Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE,

relating to the Priest Rapids Development (Exhibit 13-j to Registra-

tion No. 2-24252).

10.5 Assignment and Agreement dated as of August 13, 1964 between

Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE,

relating to the Wanapum Development (Exhibit 13-n to Registration

No. 2-24252).

10.6 First Amendment dated February 9, 1965 to Power Sales Contract

between Public Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Washington

and PSE, relating to the Wells Development (Exhibit 13-p to Regis-

tration No. 2-24252).

10.7 First Amendment executed as of February 9, 1965 to Reserved

Share Power Sales Contract between Public Utility District No. 1 of

Douglas County, Washington and PSE, relating to the Wells Devel-

opment (Exhibit 13-r to Registration No. 2-24252).

10.8 Assignment and Agreement dated as of August 13, 1964 between

Public Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Wells Development (Exhibit 13-u to Registration

No. 2-24252).

10.9 Pacific Northwest Coordination Agreement executed as of Septem-

ber 15, 1964 among the United States of America, PSE and most of

the other major electrical utilities in the Pacific Northwest (Exhibit

13-gg to Registration No. 2-24252).

10.10 Contract dated November 14, 1957 between Public Utility District

No. 1 of Chelan County, Washington and PSE, relating to the Rocky

Reach Project (Exhibit 4-1-a to Registration No. 2-13979).

10.11 Power Sales Contract dated as of November 14, 1957 between 

Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Rocky Reach Project (Exhibit 4-c-1 to Registra-

tion No. 2-13979).

10.12 Power Sales Contract dated May 21, 1956 between Public Utility

District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE, relating to the

Priest Rapids Project (Exhibit 4-d to Registration No. 2-13347).

10.13 First Amendment to Power Sales Contract dated as of August 5,

1958 between PSE and Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County,

Washington, relating to the Priest Rapids Development (Exhibit 13-h

to Registration No. 2-15618).

10.14 Power Sales Contract dated June 22, 1959 between Public Utility

District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE, relating to the

Wanapum Development (Exhibit 13-j to Registration No. 2-15618).

10.15 Reserve Share Power Sales Contract dated June 22, 1959 between

Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Priest Rapids Project (Exhibit 13-k to Registra-

tion No. 2-15618).

10.16 Agreement to Amend Power Sales Contracts dated July 30, 1963

between Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington

and PSE, relating to the Wanapum Development (Exhibit 13-1 to

Registration No. 2-21824).

10.17 Power Sales Contract executed as of September 18, 1963 between

Public Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Washington and 

PSE, relating to the Wells Development (Exhibit 13-r to Registration

No. 2-21824).

10.18 Reserved Share Power Sales Contract executed as of September 18,

1963 between Public Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Wash-

ington and PSE, relating to the Wells Development (Exhibit 13-s to

Registration No. 2-21824).

10.19 Construction and Ownership Agreement dated as of July 30, 1971

between The Montana Power Company and PSE (Exhibit 5-b to

Registration No. 2-45702).

10.20 Operation and Maintenance Agreement dated as of July 30, 1971

between The Montana Power Company and PSE (Exhibit 5-c to Reg-

istration No. 2-45702).

10.21 Coal Supply Agreement dated as of July 30, 1971 among North-

western Resources formerly The Montana Power Company, 

PSE and Western Energy Company (Exhibit 5-d to Registration No.

2-45702).

10.22 Contract dated June 19, 1974 between PSE and P.U.D No. 1 of

Chelan County (Exhibit D to Form 8-K dated July 5, 1974).

10.23 Exchange Agreement executed August 13, 1964 between the

United States of America, Columbia Storage Power Exchange and

PSE, relating to Canadian Entitlement (Exhibit 13-ff to Registration

No. 2-24252).
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10.24 Loan Agreement dated as of December 1, 1980 and related docu-

ments pertaining to Whitehorn turbine construction trust financing

(Exhibit 10.52 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1980, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.25 Coal Transportation Agreement dated as of July 10, 1981 (Exhibit

20-a to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Sep-

tember 30, 1981, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.26 Settlement Agreement and Covenant Not to Sue executed by the

United States Department of Energy acting by and through the Bon-

neville Power Administration and PSE dated September 17, 1985

(Exhibit (10)-49 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1985, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.27 Agreement to Dismiss Claims and Covenant Not to Sue dated Sep-

tember 17, 1985 between Washington Public Power Supply System

(Energy Northwest) and PSE (Exhibit (10)-50 to Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1985, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.28 Irrevocable Offer of Washington Public Power Supply System

(Energy Northwest) Nuclear Project No. 3 Capability for Acquisition

executed by PSE dated September 17, 1985 (Exhibit A of Exhibit

(10)-50 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 1985, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.29 Settlement Exchange Agreement (Bonneville Exchange Power Con-

tract) executed by the United States of America Department of

Energy acting by and through the Bonneville Power Administration

and PSE dated September 17, 1985 (Exhibit B of Exhibit (10)-50 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1985, Commission File No. 1-4393). 

10.30 Settlement Agreement and Covenant Not to Sue between PSE and

Northern Wasco County People’s Utility District dated October 16,

1985 (Exhibit (10)-53 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 1985, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.31 Settlement Agreement and Covenant Not to Sue between PSE and

Tillamook People’s Utility District dated October 16, 1985 (Exhibit

(10)-54 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 1985, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.32 Settlement Agreement and Covenant Not to Sue between PSE and

Clatskanie People’s Utility District dated September 30, 1985

(Exhibit (10)-55 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1985, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.33 Stipulation and Settlement Agreement between PSE and Muckleshoot

Tribe of the Muckleshoot Indian Reservation, dated October 31, 1986

(Exhibit (10)-55 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1986, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.34 Transmission Agreement dated April 17, 1981 between the Bonneville

Power Administration and PSE (Colstrip Project) (Exhibit (10)-55 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.35 Transmission Agreement dated April 17, 1981 between the Bon-

neville Power Administration and Montana Intertie Users (Colstrip

Project) (Exhibit (10)-56 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fis-

cal year ended December 31, 1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.36 Ownership and Operation Agreement dated as of May 6, 1981

between PSE and other Owners of the Colstrip Project (Colstrip 3

and 4) (Exhibit (10)-57 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.37 Colstrip Project Transmission Agreement dated as of May 6, 1981

between PSE and Owners of the Colstrip Project (Exhibit (10)-58 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.38 Common Facilities Agreement dated as of May 6, 1981 between

PSE and Owners of Colstrip 1 and 2, and 3 and 4 (Exhibit (10)-59 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.39 Agreement for the Purchase of Power dated as of October 29,

1984 between South Fork II, Inc. and PSE (Weeks Falls Hydro-

electric Project) (Exhibit (10)-60 to Annual Report on Form 10-K 

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, Commission File 

No. 1-4393).

10.40 Agreement for the Purchase of Power dated as of October 29, 1984,

between South Fork Resources, Inc. and PSE (Twin Falls Hydro-elec-

tric Project) (Exhibit (10)-61 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, Commission File No. 1-4393). 

10.41 Agreement for Firm Purchase Power dated as of January 4, 1988

between the City of Spokane, Washington and PSE (Spokane Waste

Combustion Project) (Exhibit (10)-62 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.42 Agreement for Evaluating, Planning and Licensing dated as of Feb-

ruary 21, 1985 and Agreement for Purchase of Power dated as of

February 21, 1985 between Pacific Hydropower Associates and PSE

(Koma Kulshan Hydro-electric Project) (Exhibit (10)-63 to Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1987,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.43 Amendment dated as of June 1, 1968, to Power Sales Contract

between Public Utility District No. 1 of Chelan County, Washington

and PSE (Rocky Reach Project) (Exhibit (10)-66 to Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.44 Transmission Agreement dated as of December 30, 1987 between

the Bonneville Power Administration and PSE (Rock Island Project)

(Exhibit (10)-74 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1988, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.45 Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Firm Capacity and Energy

between The Washington Water Power Company and PSE dated as

of January 1, 1988 (Exhibit (10)-1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

for the quarter ended March 31, 1988, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.46 Amendment dated as of August 10, 1988 to Agreement for Firm

Purchase Power dated as of January 4, 1988 between the City of

Spokane, Washington and PSE (Spokane Waste Combustion Proj-

ect) (Exhibit (10)-76 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 1988, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.47 Agreement for Firm Power Purchase dated October 24, 1988

between Northern Wasco People’s Utility District and PSE (The

Dalles Dam North Fishway) (Exhibit (10)-77 to Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.48 Agreement for the Purchase of Power dated as of October 27, 1988

between Pacific Power & Light Company (PacifiCorp) and PSE

(Exhibit (10)-78 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1988, Commission File No. 1-4393).
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10.49 Agreement for Sale and Exchange of Firm Power dated as of

November 23, 1988 between the Bonneville Power Administration

and PSE (Exhibit (10)-79 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fis-

cal year ended December 31, 1988, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.50 Agreement for Firm Power Purchase dated as of February 24, 1989

between Sumas Energy, Inc. and PSE (Exhibit (10)-1 to Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1989, Com-

mission File No. 1-4393).

10.51 Settlement Agreement dated as of April 27, 1989 between Public

Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Washington, Portland Gen-

eral Electric Company (Enron), PacifiCorp, The Washington Water

Power Company (Avista) and PSE (Exhibit (10)-1 to Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1989, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.52 Agreement for Firm Power Purchase (Thermal Project) dated as of

June 29, 1989 between San Juan Energy Company and PSE (Exhibit

(10)-2 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Sep-

tember 30, 1989, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.53 Agreement for Verification of Transfer, Assignment and Assumption

dated as of September 15, 1989 between San Juan Energy Com-

pany, March Point Cogeneration Company and PSE (Exhibit (10)-3 to

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,

1989, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.54 Power Sales Agreement between Northwestern Resources formerly

The Montana Power Company and PSE dated as of October 1, 1989

(Exhibit (10)-4 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended September 30, 1989, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.55 Conservation Power Sales Agreement dated as of December 11,

1989 between Public Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County and

PSE (Exhibit (10)-87 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 1989, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.56 Amendment No. 1 to the Colstrip Project Transmission Agreement

dated as of February 14, 1990 among the Montana Power Company,

The Washington Water Power Company (Avista), Portland General

Electric Company (Enron), PacifiCorp and PSE (Exhibit (10)-91 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1990, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.57 Amendment No. 1 to the Fifteen-Year Power Sales Agreement dated

as of April 18, 1990 between PacifiCorp and PSE (Exhibit (10)-93 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1990, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.58 Settlement Agreement dated as of October 1, 1990 among Public

Utility District No. 1 of Douglas County, Washington, PSE, Pacific

Power and Light Company (PacifiCorp), The Washington Water

Power Company (Avista), Portland General Electric Company

(Enron), the Washington Department of Fisheries, the Washington

Department of Wildlife, the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife,

the National Marine Fisheries Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service, the Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Indian

Nation, the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Reservation, and the

Confederated Tribes of the Colville Reservation (Exhibit (10)-95 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1990, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.59 Agreement for Firm Power Purchase (Thermal Project) dated

December 27, 1990 among March Point Cogeneration Company, a

California general partnership comprising San Juan Energy Com-

pany, a California corporation; Texas-Anacortes Cogeneration Com-

pany, a Delaware corporation; and PSE (Exhibit (10)-4 to Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1991, Com-

mission File No. 1-4393).

10.60 Agreement for Firm Power Purchase dated March 20, 1991 between

Tenaska Washington, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and PSE (Exhibit

(10)-1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,

1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.61 Letter Agreement dated April 25, 1991 between Sumas Energy, Inc.

and PSE, to amend the Agreement for Firm Power Purchase dated as

of February 24, 1989 (Exhibit (10)-2 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-

Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.62 Amendment dated June 7, 1991 to Letter Agreement dated April 25,

1991 between Sumas Energy, Inc. and PSE (Exhibit (10)-3 to Quar-

terly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1991,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.63 Amendatory Agreement No. 3 dated August 1, 1991 to the Pacific

Northwest Coordination Agreement executed September 15, 1964

among the United States of America, PSE and most of the other

major electrical utilities in the Pacific Northwest (Exhibit (10)-4 to

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1991,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.64 Agreement between the 40 parties to the Western Systems Power

Pool (PSE being one party) dated July 27, 1991 (Exhibit (10)-2 to

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,

1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.65 Memorandum of Understanding between PSE and the Bonneville

Power Administration dated September 18, 1991 (Exhibit (10)-3 to

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,

1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.66 Amendment of Seasonal Exchange Agreement, dated December 4,

1991 between Pacific Gas and Electric Company and PSE (Exhibit

(10)-107 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.67 Capacity and Energy Exchange Agreement, dated as of October 4,

1991 between Pacific Gas and Electric Company and PSE (Exhibit

(10)-108 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.68 Intertie and Network Transmission Agreement, dated as of October 4,

1991 between Bonneville Power Administration and PSE (Exhibit (10)-

109 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Decem-

ber 31, 1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.69 Amendment to Agreement for Firm Power Purchase dated as of

September 30, 1991 between Sumas Energy, Inc. and PSE (Exhibit

(10)-112 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 1991, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.70 Letter Agreement dated October 12, 1992 between Tenaska Wash-

ington Partners, L.P. and PSE regarding clarification of issues under

the Agreement for Firm Power Purchase (Exhibit (10)-121 to Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1992,

Commission File No. 1-4393).
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10.71 Consent and Agreement dated October 12, 1992 between PSE and

The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., as agent (Exhibit (10)-122 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

1992, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.72 General Transmission Agreement dated as of December 1, 1994

between the Bonneville Power Administration and PSE (BPA Con-

tract No. DE-MS79-94BP93947) (Exhibit 10.115 to Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1994, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.73 PNW AC Intertie Capacity Ownership Agreement dated as of Octo-

ber 11, 1994 between the Bonneville Power Administration and PSE

(BPA Contract No. DE-MS79-94BP94521) (Exhibit 10.116 to Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1994,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.74 Power Exchange Agreement dated as of September 27, 1995

between British Columbia Power Exchange Corporation and PSE

(Exhibit 10.117 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 1996, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.75 Contract with G. B. Swofford, Senior Vice President Customer Oper-

ations, dated October 18, 1996 (Exhibit 10.120 to Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, Commis-

sion File No. 1-4393).

10.76 Service Agreement dated April 14, 1993 between Questar Pipeline

Corporation and Washington Natural Gas Company for FSS-1 firm

storage service at Clay Basin (Exhibit 10-B Form 10-K for the year

ended September 30, 1994, File No. 11271).

10.77 Service Agreement dated November 1, 1989 with Northwest

Pipeline Corporation covering liquefaction storage gas service filed

under cover of Form SE dated December 27, 1989.

10.78 Firm Transportation Service Agreement dated October 1, 1990

between Northwest Pipeline Corporation and Washington Natural

Gas Company (Exhibit 10-D to Form 10-K for the year ended Sep-

tember 30, 1994, File No. 11271).

10.79 Gas Transportation Service Contract dated June 29, 1990 between

Washington Natural Gas Company and Northwest Pipeline Corpo-

ration (Exhibit 4-A to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

1993, File No. 0-951).

10.80 Gas Transportation Service Contract dated July 31, 1991 between

Washington Natural Gas Company and Northwest Pipeline Corpo-

ration (Exhibit 4-A to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

1993, File No. 0-951).

10.81 Amendment to Gas Transportation Service Contract dated July 31,

1991 between Washington Natural Gas Company and Northwest

Pipeline Corporation (Exhibit 10-E.2 to Form 10-K for the year ended

September 30, 1995, File No. 11271).

10.82 Gas Transportation Service Contract dated July 15, 1994 between

Washington Natural Gas Company and Northwest Pipeline Corpora-

tion (Exhibit 10-E.3 to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30,

1995, File No. 11271).

10.83 Amendment to Gas Transportation Service Contract dated August 15,

1994 between Washington Natural Gas Company and Northwest

Pipeline Corporation (Exhibit 10-E.4 to Form 10-K for the year ended

September 30, 1995, File No. 11271).

10.84 Firm Transportation Service Agreement dated March 1, 1992

between Northwest Pipeline Corporation and Washington Natural

Gas Company (Exhibit 10-O to Form 10-K for the year ended Sep-

tember 30, 1994, File No. 1-11271).

10.85 Firm Transportation Service Agreement dated January 12, 1994

between Northwest Pipeline Corporation and Washington Natural

Gas Company for firm transportation service from Jackson Prairie

(Exhibit 10-P to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994,

File No. 1-11271).

10.86 Firm Transportation Service Agreement dated January 12, 1994

between Northwest Pipeline Corporation and Washington Natural

Gas Company for firm transportation service from Jackson Prairie

(Exhibit 10-Q to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994,

File No. 1-11271).

10.87 Firm Transportation Service Agreement dated January 12, 1994

between Northwest Pipeline Corporation and Washington Natural

Gas Company for firm transportation service from Plymouth, LNG

(Exhibit 10-R to Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994,

File No. 1-11271).

10.88 Service Agreement dated July 9, 1991 with Northwest Pipeline Cor-

poration for SGS-2F Storage Service filed under cover of Form SE

dated December 23, 1991 (Exhibit 10-S to Form 10-K for the year

ended September 30, 1994, File No. 1-11271). 

10.89 Firm Transportation Agreement dated October 27, 1993 between

Pacific Gas Transmission Company and Washington Natural Gas Com-

pany for firm transportation service from Kingsgate (Exhibit 10-T, Form

10-K for the year ended September 30, 1994, File No. 1-11271). 

10.90 Firm Storage Service Agreement and Amendment dated April 30,

1991 between Questar Pipeline Company and Washington Natural

Gas Company for firm storage service at Clay Basin filed under

cover of Form SE dated December 23, 1991. 

10.91 Change in control agreement with T. J. Hogan dated August 17,

1995 (Exhibit 10.152 to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 1997, Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.92 Employment agreement with S. A. McKeon, Vice President and

General Counsel, dated May 27, 1997 (Exhibit 10.152 to Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998,

Commission File No. 1-4393).

10.93 Puget Energy, Inc. Non-employee Director Stock Plan. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Puget Energy’s Post Effective

Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement, dated Jan-

uary 2, 2001, Commission File No. 333-41157-99).

*10.94 Amendment No. 1 to the Puget Energy, Inc. Non-employee Director

Stock Plan, effective as of January 1, 2003.

10.95 Puget Energy, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Puget Energy’s Post Effective

Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement, dated Jan-

uary 2, 2001, Commission File No. 333-41113-99).

10.96 1995 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan. (Exhibit 10.108 to

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2000, Commission File No. 1-4393 and 1-16305).

10.97 1995 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Puget Energy’s Post Effective

Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement, dated Jan-

uary 2, 2001, Commission File No. 333-61851-99).
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10.98 Retention Agreement with S.A. McKeon, Vice President & General

Counsel, dated July 1, 2001.

10.99 Employment agreement with S.P. Reynolds, Chief Executive Officer

and President, dated January 7, 2002.

10.100 Credit Agreement dated June 29, 2001, among InfrastruX Group,

Inc. and various Banks named therein, BankOne, NA as Adminis-

trative Agent. (Exhibit 10-1, Form 10-Q for the quarterly period

ended June 30, 2001, Commission File No. 1-4393 and 1-16305).

10.101 Power Sales Contract dated April 15, 2002 between Public Utility

District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE, relating to the

Priest Rapids Project. (Exhibit 10-1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16305 and 1-4393).

10.102 Reasonable Portion Power Sales Contract dated April 15, 2002

between Public Utility District No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and

PSE, relating to the Priest Rapids Project. (Exhibit 10-2 to Form 10-Q

for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16305 and 1-4393).

10.103 Additional Power Sales Contract dated April 15, 2002 between Pub-

lic Utility district No. 2 of Grant County, Washington and PSE, relat-

ing to the Priest Rapids Project. (Exhibit 10-3 to Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16305 and 1-4393).

10.104 Change-in-control agreement with G.B. Swofford, Senior Vice Presi-

dent and Chief Operating Officer dated March 12, 1999. (Exhibit 10-4

to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16305

and 1-4393).

10.105 Change-in-control agreement with T.J. Hogan, Senior Vice President,

External Affairs dated March 12, 1999. (Exhibit 10-5 to Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16305 and 1-4393).

*10.106 Credit Agreement dated December 23, 2002 covering PSE and var-

ious banks named therein, Bank One, NA as administrative agent.

*10.107 Receivable Purchase Agreement dated December 23, 2002 among

PSE, Rainier Receivables, Inc., and Bank One, NA as agent.

*10.108 Receivable Sale Agreement dated December 23, 2002 among PSE

and Rainier Receivables, Inc.

*10.109 Employment agreement with J.M. Ryan, Vice President Energy Port-

folio Management, dated November 30, 2001.

*10.110 Change-in-Control Agreement with J.M. Ryan, Vice President,

Energy Portfolio Management, dated November 30, 2001.

*12-1 Statement setting forth computation of ratios of earnings to fixed

charges of Puget Energy (1998 through 2002).

*12-2 Statement setting forth computation of ratios of earnings to fixed

charges of Puget Sound Energy (1998 through 2002).

*21.1 Subsidiaries of Puget Energy.

*21.2 Subsidiaries of PSE.

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

*99.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pur-

suant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002—Stephen

P. Reynolds.

*99.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pur-

suant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002—Stephen

A. McKeon.

*99.3 Puget Energy proxy statement for 2003 Annual Meeting of Share-

holders (Commission File No. 1-16305).

*Filed herewith.
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Historical Financial Data: Puget Energy

Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts % change 
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 ’01 to ’02

Operating revenues
Electricity sales $1,365,885 $1,865,227 $2,632,319 $1,558,012 $1,475,208 -26.8%
Natural gas sales 697,155 815,071 612,311 485,488 416,551 -14.5%
Other 329,282 206,262 57,666 24,444 32,097 59.6%

Total operating revenues 2,392,322 2,886,560 3,302,296 2,067,944 1,923,856 -17.1%
Operating expenses

Purchased electricity 645,371 918,676 1,627,249 780,162 752,148 -29.7%
Unrealized gain on derivative instruments (11,612) (11,182) — —   — 3.8%
Purchased gas 405,016 537,431 332,927 220,009 175,805 -24.6%
Electric generation fuel 113,538 281,405 182,978 59,439 56,557 -59.7%
Residential/farm exchange credit (149,970) (75,864) (41,000) (39,000) (55,562) 97.7%
Utility operations and maintenance 286,220 265,789 240,094 240,645 231,636 7.7%
Other operations and maintenance 273,157 156,731 60,612 27,179 30,102 74.3%
Depreciation and amortization 228,743 217,540 196,513 175,710 165,587 5.1%

Conservation amortization 17,501 6,493 6,830 7,841 6,199 169.5%
Taxes other than income taxes 215,429 212,582 202,398 178,973 159,102 1.3%
Income taxes 59,260 79,838 129,823 109,170 107,184 -25.8%

Total operating expenses 2,082,653 2,589,439 2,938,424 1,760,128 1,628,758 -19.6%

Operating income 309,669 297,121 363,872 307,816 295,098 4.2%
Other income (net of taxes) 5,458 14,526 5,061 28,135 13,182 -62.4%
Income before interest charges 315,127 311,647 368,933 335,951 308,280 1.1%
Interest charges 196,377 190,059 175,102 150,384 138,668 3.3%
Minority interest 867 — — — — —
Income before cumulative effect 

of accounting change 117,883 121,588 193,831 185,567 169,612 -3.0%
Cumulative effect of accounting change — 14,749 — — — -100.0%
Net income 117,883 106,839 193,831 185,567 169,612 10.3%
Preferred stock dividend accruals 7,831 8,413 8,994 11,065 13,003 -6.9%
Income for common stock $ 110,052 $ 98,426 $ 184,837 $ 174,502 $ 156,609 11.8%
Common shares outstanding (average, basic) 88,372 86,445 85,411 84,613 84,561 2.2%
Common shares outstanding (average, diluted) 88,777 86,703 85,690 84,847 84,768 2.4%
Basic and diluted earnings per common share 

from continuing operations $ 1.24 $ 1.31 $ 2.16 $ 2.06 $ 1.85 -5.0%
Basic and diluted earnings per common share 

from cumulative effect of accounting change — (0.17) — — — -100.0%
Basic and diluted earnings per common share $ 1.24 $ 1.14 $ 2.16 $ 2.06 $ 1.85 9.2%
Dividends per share of common stock $ 1.21 $ 1.84 $ 1.84 $ 1.84 $ 1.84 -34.2%
Total assets (at year-end) $5,657,491 $5,546,977 $5,556,669 $5,145,606 $4,709,687 2.0%
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Dollars in thousands, except per-share amounts % change 
Years ended December 31 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 ’01 to ’02

Indicators and ratios
Capitalization (at year-end)

Debt (including short term 
and current maturities) 54.1% 59.4% 60.9% 60.3% 55.7% -8.9%

Preferred stock1 9.6% 9.4% 5.2% 5.6% 7.3% 2.1%
Common shareholders’ investment 36.3% 31.2% 33.9% 34.1% 37.0% 16.3%

Average cost of debt 7.4% 7.3% 7.3% 7.2% 7.2% 1.4%
Times interest earned (before income taxes) 1.9 2.1 2.8 2.9 2.9 -7.5%
Dividend yield 4.5% 8.4% 6.6% 9.5% 6.6% -46.4%
Dividend payout ratio 97.6% 161.4% 85.3% 89.2% 99.5% -39.5%
Book value per share $16.27 $15.66 $16.61 $16.24 $16.00 3.9%
Return on average common equity 7.6% 7.1% 13.2% 12.8% 11.6% 7.0%
Return on total assets 1.9% 1.8% 3.3% 3.4% 3.3% 5.6%
Effective tax rate 32.5% 40.9% 39.5% 37.7% 39.3% -20.5%

1 Includes $300 million in 2002 and 2001 and $100 million in 2000 through 1998 of corporation-obligated, mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
of subsidiary trust holding solely junior subordinated debentures of the corporation. 
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Historical Operating Data: Puget Energy

% change
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 ’01 to ’02

Energy sales revenues
Electricity (in thousands)1

Residential $ 616,522 $ 583,714 $ 587,780 $ 586,416 $ 540,549 5.6%
Commercial 536,021 509,134 476,052 457,339 431,752 5.3%
Industrial 90,121 281,161 292,975 169,508 180,959 -67.9%
Other2 19,382 (45,264) 165,588 26,378 44,635 -142.8%
Transportation3 15,551 2,537 6 1,643 2,341 513.0%
Sales to other utilities and marketers 4 88,288 533,945 1,109,918 316,728 274,972 -83.5%

Total 1,365,885 1,865,227 2,632,319 1,558,012 1,475,208 -26.8%
Natural gas (in thousands)2

Residential 428,569 486,761 372,900 296,032 253,169 -12.0%
Commercial 209,516 256,859 180,204 137,327 114,283 -18.4%
Industrial 35,119 49,453 36,159 27,859 22,580 -29.0%
Transportation 12,851 11,780 12,137 13,117 14,211 9.1%
Other 11,100 10,218 10,911 11,153 12,308 8.6%

Total 697,155 815,071 612,311 485,488 416,551 -14.5%
Total energy sales revenues $2,063,040 $2,680,298 $3,244,630 $2,043,500 $1,891,759 -23.0%

Energy and transportation sales volumes
Electricity (thousands of MWh)

Residential 9,846 9,555 9,811 9,862 9,314 3.0%
Commercial 8,012 7,953 7,677 7,482 7,191 0.7%
Industrial 1,416 2,541 4,026 3,980 4,073 -44.3%
Other2 (12) (124) 338 59 254 -90.3%
Transportation3 2,307 364 —   48 73 533.8%
Sales to other utilities and marketers4 3,467 4,982 14,349 11,734 9,940 -30.4%

Total MWh sales 25,036 25,271 36,201 33,165 30,845 -0.9%
Natural gas (millions of therms)2

Residential 500 495 518 508 445 1.0%
Commercial 288 298 305 299 254 -3.4%
Industrial 51 58 67 65 55 -12.1%
Transportation 208 188 204 237 254 10.6%

Total gas volumes 1,047 1,039 1,094 1,109 1,008 0.8%
Customers served (annual average)

Electricity
Residential 839,878 826,187 811,443 797,421 782,095 1.7%
Commercial 104,273 100,015 98,758 96,756 94,107 4.3%
Industrial 3,953 4,012 4,111 4,222 4,189 -1.5%
Other 1,932 1,758 1,548 1,497 1,437 9.9%
Transportation 16 5 —   15 15 220.0%

Total electricity customers5 950,052 931,977 915,860 899,911 881,843 1.9%
Natural gas

Residential 565,003 548,497 532,333 509,384 486,553 3.0%
Commercial 46,523 46,783 45,524 44,302 43,067 -0.6%
Industrial 2,770 2,837 2,991 3,017 2,996 -2.4%
Transportation 122 112 98 103 123 8.9%

Total natural gas customers5 614,418 598,229 580,946 556,806 532,739 2.7%
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% change
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 ’01 to ’02

Heating degree days
Actual (at Sea-Tac Airport) 4946 4993 4970 4956 4498 -0.9%
Normal (30-year average) 4908 4908 4928 4908 4909 0.0%
% colder (warmer) than average 1% 2% 1% 1% -8%

Average annual residential data
Electric usage per customer (kWh) 11,723 11,565 12,090 12,367 11,909 1.4%
Electric revenue per customer $ 741 $ 726 $ 745 $ 763 $ 721 2.1%
Price per kWh sold (average) $ 0.0632 $ 0.0628 $ 0.0617 $ 0.0617 $ 0.0606 0.6%
Natural gas usage per customer (therms) 886 902 972 997 914 -1.8%
Natural gas revenue per customer $ 759 $ 887 $ 701 $ 581 $ 520 -14.4%
Price per therm (average) $ 0.855 $ 0.983 $ 0.721 $ 0.583 $ 0.569 -13.1%

Total employees 4,660 3,972 3,754 2,869 2,996 17.3%
1 Operating revenues in 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998 were reduced by $12.7 million, $31.0 million, $35.4 million, $43.8 million, and $46.7 million,

respectively, as a result of PSE’s sale of $237.7 million of its investment in customer-owned conservation measures.
2 Includes change in unbilled revenue.
3 Includes customers that were on the retail transportation pilot program for the period 1998–1999.
4 Includes optimization transactions reported net in the income statement as required by EITF 02-03, effective after June 30, 2002. Prior periods have

been reclassified to conform with the current presentation.
5 In 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998 approximately 305,300, 298,600, 294,200, 290,000, and 275,000 customers, respectively, purchased both forms

of energy from PSE.
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Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters 
Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy
P.O. Box 97034
Bellevue, WA 98009-9734
Phone: (425) 454-6363
Internet: www.pse.com

Form 10-K
A copy of Puget Energy and Puget Sound Energy’s

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission may
be obtained electronically through the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s EDGAR internet site (www.sec.gov).

Annual Meeting 
Tuesday, May 13, 2003, 10:00 a.m.
Sheraton Tacoma Hotel
1320 Broadway Plaza
Tacoma, WA 

Transfer Agent for Common 
and Preferred Stock 
Mellon Investor Services, LLC maintains the Company’s

shareholder records, distributes dividend payments and adminis-
ters the Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan. They may
be contacted at the address and phone number provided below
(see “Shareholder Records and Services”).

Dividend Calendar 
Quarterly dividends on common stock, as declared by the

Board of Directors, normally are paid on the 15th day of February,
May, August and November each year.

Stock Purchase and 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
Puget Energy’s Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvest-

ment Plan provides a convenient way to reinvest dividends on Puget
Energy common stock into additional shares at market price. Share-
holders also may make optional cash investments of up to $10,000
per month for the purchase of Puget Energy common stock.

More than 32,000 shareholders, or approximately 71 per-
cent of the Company’s 45,200 registered common shareholders,
participated in the plan as of December 31, 2002.

In order to receive a plan prospectus, please contact 
Mellon Investor Services at the address and phone number pro-
vided below (see “Shareholder Records and Services”).

Stock Exchange Listing 
Puget Energy common stock is traded under the symbol

PSD on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and may be quoted
as PugetEngy in financial publications. Puget Sound Energy pre-
ferred stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol PSD_pc and
may be quoted as PugSdEngy pfC in financial publications. Puget
Sound Energy Capital Trust II preferred stock is traded on the NYSE
under the symbol PSD_p and may be quoted as Puget TOPrS in
financial publications.

Independent Accountants 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Seattle, Washington

Shareholder Records and 
Services Contacts 
Mellon Investor Services, LLC
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
(800) 997-8438
TDD for hearing impaired:
(800) 231-5469
From outside the U.S.: 
(201) 329-8660
TDD from outside the U.S.:
(201) 329-8354
Internet address:
www.melloninvestor.com

Puget Energy Investor Services 
P.O. Box 97034
Bellevue, WA 98009-9734
(425) 462-3898

Financial Analyst Contact 
Durga D. Waite
Director Investor Relations
(425) 462-3808

Banker Contact 
Donald E. Gaines
Vice President—Finance and Treasurer
(425) 462-3870

News Media Contact 
Puget Sound Energy 24-hour Media Line:
(888) 831-7250

Employment Policy 
Puget Energy is an equal opportunity employer.
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Puget Energy 
PO Box 97034 
Bellevue, WA 98009-9734 

www.pse.com
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